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CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GROWTH ENTERPRISE
MARKET (“GEM”) OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG
KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate
companies to which a higher investment risk may be attached than other
companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be
aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should
make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration. The
greater risk profile and other characteristics of GEM mean that it is a
market more suited to professional and other sophisticated investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility
than securities traded on the main board of the Stock Exchange and no
assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded
on GEM.
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North Asia Strategic Holdings Limited

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBRRE

The following is a summary of the audited consolidated financial
statements of North Asia Strategic Holdings Limited (the “Company” or
“NAS") and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group” or “NAS Group”) for

AT R EREERERAR (AR K
[EEREE]) REMBAR (SB[ AKE] K
[HEEREEEE ) R TIEFEZEERER

the respective years as hereunder stated.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENTS

EUBMREE -

HHGRESRER

For the year ended 31st March
BE-A=+-HLEE

2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
ZEEAF | ZETNF ZTZLF ZTERF CZITTHF
HK$000 HK$°000 HK$000 HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FET FET FET FET
Revenue WA 2,229,529 1,269,676 559,327 359,948 859,685
(Loss)/profit before W& PSR Al
income tax (B18) /&7 (159,499) (87,636) 69,736 (16,995) (4,497)
Income tax credit/(expenses)  Fr{SFi @ (H 1) 23,371 15,036 (2,989) 5,007 (5,946)
(Loss)/profit after income tax B 5 Fi 1 1B K&t
but before minority interests 7 8 % 3 12 25 Al
(BB &F (136,128) (72,600) 66,747 (11,988) (10,443)
Minority interests DR ERERS 35 10 — — —
(Loss)/profit attributable to 78 22 B 2%
the equity holders BFEAEMG
of the Company (E18) /&7 (136,093) (72,590) 66,747 (11,988) (10,443)

incorporation.

Note: No dividends have been paid or declared by the Company since its

B »
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

MBEEE
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS HHASEEESER
As at 31st March 2
W=A=+-8 g
2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 %
—EEAF | Z2TNEFE ZE2ELF ZZTRF ZTTRF
HKS'000 | HK$000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000 05
FHET FHET FHETL FHET FHIT 3
Property, plant and equipment ~ ¥1% « B E K& & 560,213 64,606 36,014 478 1,411 Z%{E
Investment properties BREME 2,257 2,288 2,206 — — @
Leasehold land and HELtH R 5;&
land use rights T b A 21,684 19,235 11,869 — — R
Intangible assets B EE 583,161 419,647 432,279 6 21
Subscription receivables REE R IE 13,000 940,429 282,211 765,545 —
Long-term investments RERE — — — — 780
Available-for-sale financial ARHE SR
assets BE 1,357 3,481 — — —
Deferred tax assets EERBEEE 18,810 12,444 — — —
Other non-current assets HiIEmEEE 20,972 3,307 — — —
Other current assets Hih s & E 1,593,267 1,185,218 929,641 339,161 163,536
Current liabilities mBaE (716,327) (490,462) (440,297) (40,953) (163,611)
Non-current liabilities FnBEE (167,879) (27,861) (22,583) (14,642) —
Net assets EEFE 1,930,515 2,132,332 1,231,340 1,049,595 2,137
Capital and reserves BEXREE
Share capital B AR 134,691 134,691 82,718 74,790 159,659
Other reserves H b & 1,947,614 2,023,492 1,103,559 996,489 13,818
(Accumulated losses)/ (2itEE) /
retained profits R E g F (155,228) (27,527) 45,063 (21,684) (171,340)
Shareholders’ equity e 1,927,077 2,130,656 1,231,340 1,049,595 2,137
Minority interests DB R 3,438 1,676 - — —
1,930,515 2,132,332 1,231,340 1,049,595 2,137
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North Asia Strategic Holdings Limited

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ETREHES

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”), | hereby present the
audited consolidated results of North Asia Strategic Holdings Limited (the
“Company” or “NAS"”) and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group” or
“NAS Group”) for the year ended 31st March 2009 (the “year”). This was
a challenging year for the Group’s portfolio companies with the global
economic downturn affecting many of our customers and markets we
serve. The Group recorded an increase in sales from approximately HK$1.3
billion last year to approximately HK$2.2 billion for the year but incurred a
loss of approximately HK$136.1 million on revenue. The key factors in
business performance and growth for the year are as follows:

o Increase in sales from our share of post-acquisition revenue of
approximately HK$1.2 billion from TK Chemical Corporation
("TKC", the 33.74% jointly-controlled entity in Korea acquired by
the Group on 30th June 2008).

o The economic downturn in the second half of the year which
impacted sales volume for our portfolio companies, especially in our
surface mount technology (“SMT") trading business.

o The significant volatility of the currency and commodity prices
affecting margins and exchange losses from short and long term
liabilities.

o Start-up costs associated with new store openings in our branded
food business in Hong Kong.

o Increase in amortisation expenses of intangible assets arising from
acquisitions.

Given the downturn and potential risks to the business, the Board has
been working closely with the management teams to take appropriate
measures to minimise the impact of the recession, minimise risks and
strengthen the position of the Group in the future recovery. For their part,
the management teams have actively taken actions to capture available
sales, reduce costs and closely monitor cash flow. We have also taken
advantage of the opportunities afforded by the current economy in lower
cost infrastructure (e.g. rents for stores) as evaluating potential pool of
investment opportunities which have increased during this time.

AABREEFZe((ESg)R2LDTRE
BEIZERBER AR (ARR)JK[ILERE )
MEMBAT (MBI AEE KRR
EEDEEZZTETNANF=A=F+—HLF
E(AFE]) ZEBEREAEE - BER
HKEERRHE TV AEERENTL LT
GEREE  AEBEETKERRRASF
EHBEREKS ASFEESHEEER
B % 4F 491,300,000,000 & JT 3% N = & F &
#92,200,000,0007% 7T © HEW A RIE EEELQ
136,100,000 7T c A N AAFEEBHRIR KL
BENTERE

e i E ¥ K X B FE {§TK Chemical
Corporation([TKC] + "EBRZ=ZFZTN
FRAZTHWREN3374%FE E KR
P E 42 ) B MR 18 4 A %91,200,000,000
PBIL °

e THEEMKEERTZEKERFNIH
B LHERRERRERM(TSMTDES
E/ A
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EITEHES

BRIEF SUMMARY OF THE FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
OF EACH BUSINESS DIVISION FOR THE YEAR

For our 40% jointly-controlled fishmeal and fish oil trading division
conducted through Coland Group Limited (“Coland”), its core fishmeal
trading business was adversely affected by the volatility of global
commodity prices and reduced demand of brown fishmeal in China since
September of last year, which resulted in our share of revenue of
approximately HK$430.9 million for the year with a loss of approximately
HK$4.1 million, versus revenue of approximately HK$418.5 million in last
year and profit of approximately HK$4.2 million. The division successfully
completed the building of a new seafood processing factory in Wuhan
which will add to revenue diversity and stability in the coming year.

During the year, our branded food division which is a start-up business
grew from 1 store to 5 stores in operation in Hong Kong by year end (with
8 by the date of this report). The division recorded a revenue of
approximately HK$31.5 million with loss associated with store start-up
costs of approximately HK$16.5 million. Our branded food business is
expected to have increased demand as consumers look to lower cost
alternatives for dining out and the downturn provides opportunity from
lower rents and increased availability of retail space. We will accelerate the
store openings in the coming year to take advantage of the lower rental
cost in the commercial real estate market.

Our SMT trading division conducted through American Tec Company
Limited (“Amtec”) and American Tec Electronic India Private Limited
(collectively the “Amtec Group”) recorded a revenue of approximately
HK$564.6 million and a loss of approximately HK$50.0 million for the
year, versus revenue of approximately HK$841.6 million and loss of
approximately HK$37.5 million in last year. Although the gross margin
improved by approximately 3.3%, the overall loss was attributable to the
significant reduction and delay of customers orders in the second half of
the year and non-recurring adjustments totaling approximately HK$15.7
million (consisting of trade receivables write-offs of approximately HK$1.3
million and write-down of inventory by approximately HK$14.4 million).

FEEZERBEIBUMBRABE

HAEEFEASEEEBRAR(T®IED
W% EREF BN EBRBESHBME -
HEZLAMEZEBZ I 2B RERKED
M B EFNARFPEEADRNE DT
FIge BHAEENRAFEBEBEBALY
430,900,000 # 7T #% 15 &5 18 494,100,000 % 7T -
2 & Al 8 & 14 42 A 49418,500,000 7 T £% 13
Y ) #94,200,00078 7T o 2N 3 2B 7R HOE EE A
EHKEMIIHATIER  SRRFLW
AEBZ L RIBE °

FRN AEBENRERAEDSBREENIE
HAAEN —MEEAFERMNAM[R B
AREAEIEENB - KD IEBSWRAL
31,500,000/ 7T, + Ji& &8 5 2 AKX AN FH B Y B 18 4Y
716,500,000 7T + P E B A& RN A RS
EAREEEBNRE RNEHRERRES
Hhke A mMEEFRUTRERERS
LugniAamEEnEs A5EEg
MRRRFRADERE  ERBFEHEHMA
EMENBREB SR APERS -

AEBFEREDTEFREAERRQA
([ 2238 & F J) & American Tec Electronic India
Private Limited (& T8 [ E 2 & @] |) £ & ZSMT
B 5o a0 RE RN A WA 4564,600,000 7 7T
£% 15 /5 48 £950,000,000 7 7T+ i & F B B UK
A 49841,600,000 7% T &% 15 &5 18 £937,500,000 7
Lo BMEEFME LFAL33% AR TEFE
REAIERERD RIEH - I EIFEH TR
4 #4915,700,00078 7T (B IE M B 5 FE Uk
X IE #91,300,000 % 7T K #flR 1F & £ 14,400,000
BIT) c AMERSREER -
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EIFRHEE

BRIEF SUMMARY OF THE FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
OF EACH BUSINESS DIVISION FOR THE YEAR (continued)

For our 33.74% jointly-controlled chemical division conducted through
TKC, although the Group shared profit before income tax and foreign
exchange difference of approximately HK$2.8 million on revenue of
approximately HK$1,202.5 million for the year, this profit was then offset
by exchange loss caused by the rapid and sizable depreciation of Korean
Won (“KRW") against other major foreign currencies from July 2008 to
March 2009, resulting in the Group sharing a loss of approximately
HK$29.3 million from this division for the year. In response to such volatile
market conditions, the Group is working with TKC management to take
several actions, including shortening the working capital cycle and limiting
US$ liabilities.

OUTLOOK

We expect the downturn in the global economy to continue during 2009.
For this reason, challenges will continue in our business in the coming
quarters from cautious customer demand, price volatility and tight
lending/credit policies of the banks.

But across our business, we have observed improvements in demand and
pricing in the recent months:

o Demand has improved in the fishmeal & fish oil business and market
prices have stabilised for our fishmeal trading business.

o Domestic manufacturing market in China has improved with orders
picking up for our SMT trading business, although orders from
multi-national corporations remain weak.

o Demand for man-made fibers has increased and pricing stabilised.

o Gross profit margin has improved in the branded food business and
domestic quick service restaurant market is strong in the current
economic climate.

We remain cautiously hopeful the improving trend will be sustained and
will turn to recovery of the economy.

Our focus will continue to be active management to capture available
sales, prudently manage cash flow, reduce and align costs and closely
monitor risks. Our companies are leaders in their respective markets and
we will build strength during this time by working with our management
teams to improve capability and efficiency.

FEEZERBEIBHBRABE (9)

LB BTKCE & 1933.74% FL 7 #25 #il (L 2 % 7%
DEWME BAXEENAFEAATEHK
A #71,202,500,000% 7T 8% 15 Bk BT 15 B K [E 5 =
8 A 3% A #92,800,00078 7T - ME 5% T8 i A A
FEMELBBEYE SRAEEREAFE
B N5 30 8% 15 85 18 4929,300,000/5 7T © & 7 &
BhEREE ((READHEMEENEF S
TENFLAZEZZETNF=AZRRKE
WEMR - BEREZERGTNH - AEER
HIKCEBEBAERDMATEE REER
BBEARAPRBIEETRE -

RE

AEEEBRREEORER - EEAFN
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EFREHES

OUR INVESTMENT STRATEGY

The current economic environment has opened up attractive new
opportunities for us, as valuations have come down and well-managed
companies are looking for capital. We are evaluating opportunities to
complement and augment our existing companies by investing in
acquisitions in new products, capabilities and/or markets. We will continue
to seek attractive investments to grow shareholder value during this time.

On behalf of the Board of Directors, | would like to express my sincere
gratitude to our worldwide suppliers and customers for their trust and
support in our products and services throughout the year. | also wish to
take this opportunity to offer my appreciation to our shareholders for their
confidence in our Group, as well as our staff for their hard works,
dedication and continuous commitment to excellence.

Goran Sture Malm
Chairman

Hong Kong, 3rd June 2009

REENRE XK
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FINANCIAL AND BUSINESS PERFORMANCE

The downturn in the global economy and its impact, on our customers
and the markets we serve, created a challenging environment for our
companies in the year. The management teams focused on insuring
continuity and strength of the business by actively capturing available
sales, reducing costs and closely managing the risks from the economy,
especially cash flow management. At the same time, we have been taking
advantage of the opportunities from the downturn such as lower costs of
facilities and increased availability of potential acquisitions to augment our
business. Our companies remain leaders in their sectors and we will
position to take advantage of the eventual recovery in the economy.

For the year, the Group recorded a consolidated revenue of approximately
HK$2,229,529,000, representing a 75.6% increase from the year before.
At the same time, the Group recorded a consolidated loss of
approximately HK$136,093,000 in the year versus a loss of approximately
HK$72,590,000 in last year. The increase in sales was mainly from our
share of post-acquisition revenue of approximately HK$1,202,512,000
from TKC, the 33.74% jointly-controlled entity in Korea acquired by the
Group on 30th June 2008 and the addition of new stores to our branded
food division. The increase of loss in the consolidated financials is detailed
below. The profit/loss figures of each major business division disclosed
below do not include any intra-group charges, as they are eliminated
upon consolidation.

FISHMEAL AND FISH OIL TRADING DIVISION

For our 40% jointly-controlled fishmeal and fish oil trading division
conducted through Coland, its core fishmeal trading business was
adversely affected by the volatility of global commodity prices and reduced
demand of brown fishmeal in China since September of last year, which
resulted in our share of revenue of approximately HK$430,887,000 for
the year with a loss of approximately HK$4,078,000, versus revenue of
approximately HK$418,499,000 and profit of approximately
HK$4,239,000 in last year. To improve the management of price volatility,
Coland has implemented smaller lot purchases (made possible by the
change in the fishing policies in South America) and improved inventory
management by analysis of near term supply & demand data. With the
expected opening of the fish fillet and crayfish processing factory in
Wuhan of China in late June 2009, the division will begin to diversify its
current trading business and position us to move into higher value-added
margin business in the future.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BB R oA

MBREBRE

REKAGARREHAEEHRENES LW
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FNERA B8 49136,093,00058 7T © M= FEH
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RI33.74% EE H A EH B ) WERKALD
1,202,512,000 7% 7T & & W8 B & 5 E6 & 5 /5 18
e TXEF B BERA B IS E 88 06 7 48
BR - TXBEBEZEETBEEDB2EF,
BREEFTITEEANEERNER 258
RAERGARHH -

RBRRAMES D

MAEEBBEEIO%ERZH ZEHEA
MESOHME  ERLANESEBRZD
PHEREREIRAEFNARTEY
ABEMNZERRLOOTFEE  BHALEE
AR FE B FEAE U A 49430,887,000 7 JT % 15
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWE DT

FISHMEAL AND FISH OIL TRADING DIVISION (continued)

Going forward, we are seeing positive trends in demand, price and
volatility in the recent months. We will continue to take a cautious
approach in monitoring our trading operation and recapture our sales
growth.

o The market price and demand for brown fishmeal and aquatic feeds
have been increasing since April 2009, which are driven by a
seasonal increase in demand from the aquaculture industry. We
expect these trends to continue and help stabilise the market for
brown fishmeal demand and price in the near term.

o The demand for higher-margin white fishmeal and its market price
are improving, which are driven by the demand from different
segments of the customer market (e.g. turtle feed farms).

o The fish oil market price and demand have been improving since
May 2009. We expect the demand and market price will be
stabilised in the coming months.

BRANDED FOOD DIVISION

Our start-up business, the branded food division, gained good momentum
with increase of stores from 1 to 5 in Hong Kong by the year end. The
division recorded a revenue of approximately HK$31,518,000 with loss of
approximately HK$16,489,000 for the year versus a revenue of
approximately HK$5,038,000 and loss of approximately HK$8,061,000 in
last year. The net loss was attributable to the start-up costs associated
with 4 new restaurants in Wanchai, Fortress Hill, Mongkok and Wong Tai
Sin opened in second half of the year.

In the current economic climate, the quick service restaurant business is
expected to have increased demand as consumers look to lower cost
alternatives for dining out. As of the date of this report, we have opened
eight restaurants in renowned tourist spots, commercial districts and
residential districts in Hong Kong, including Tsim Sha Tsui, Wanchai,
Mongkok, Fortress Hill, Wong Tai Sin, Hunghom, Shatin and Causeway
Bay. We will accelerate the store openings in the coming year to take
advantage of the lower rental prices in the Hong Kong retail space
market.

R RAMES D (E)

REARK AEERBRARBANTR B
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWR DT

SMT TRADING DIVISION

The SMT trading division had a difficult second half of the year as the
whole sector experienced dramatic decline of sales across the globe. The
management team focused on capturing available sales, aggressively
reducing costs and restructuring the organisation. The division remains
one of the top distributors in the globe for our suppliers and will continue
to actively manage the business with the eventual recovery of customer
demand.

This division recorded a revenue of approximately HK$564,612,000 and a
net loss of approximately HK$50,021,000 for the year, versus a revenue of
approximately HK$841,625,000 and a net loss of approximately
HK$37,483,000 in last year. The increase of net loss of approximately
HK$12,538,000 was mainly attributable to the delay, cancellation or slow
down of manufacturing customer orders resulting from the global
recession in the second half of the year. Additionally, the division incurred
a write-down of approximately HK$15,694,000, including trade
receivables of approximately HK$1,286,000 and old inventories of
approximately HK$14,408,000. Although the year's sales dropped by
about 32.9% compared to last year, the year’s gross profit margin
exceeded that of last year by approximately 3.3% as a result of the
division’s focus sales capture with local customers, aggressive cost cutting
and active financial/margin management.

Given the continuing global economic situation and uncertainty in the
currency movement, we are focusing a number of areas to minimise the
impact from the economic downturn and strengthen the division’s
position for the recovery:

o Sustain profit margin to protect our profitability by effectively
managing pricing and sales terms.

o Continue to reduce and align our cost structure (especially variable)
with expected sales volume.

o Strengthen our collaboration with suppliers to enhance our
competitiveness in the market.

o Continue to diversify our customer mix and sell more products to
the customers in those sectors which are benefited from stimulus
programs, especially in China.

o Strengthen our product portfolio to focus on line solution in
selected market segment of the electronics sector to gain more
steady business with stable margins.
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SMT TRADING DIVISION (continued)

o Revamp our service organisation to become a value-added and
proactive business.

o Continue to enter into hedging arrangements to minimise the risk
arising from the fluctuation of Japanese Yen (“Yen") against US$.

Our customer focus continues to be in the electronics manufacturing
industry in China, India and Vietnam, where both international and
domestic demand will continue although at a reduced rate in the medium
term. Although demand for our products from electronics manufacturers
in China has been increasing since early May 2009, they are expected to
continue to be cautious in their capital investment plan in the coming
months.

CHEMICAL OPERATION DIVISION

For our chemical operation division conducted through TKC, we shared
33.74% of its revenue of approximately HK$1,202,512,000 with net loss
of approximately HK$29,258,000 for the year. Although it recorded a
profit before income tax and foreign exchange difference of approximately
HK$2,776,000, this profit was offset by exchange loss of approximately
HK$46,914,000, resulting in the loss for the year. The exchange loss was
mainly due to the rapid and sizable depreciation of KRW against other
major foreign currencies by approximately 24.3% from July 2008 to
March 2009.

Given the uncertain global economic situation and uncertainty in the
currency movement between US$ and KRW, TKC's management focused
on the following actions to reduce the risk of foreign currency exposure:

o Continue to shorten TKC's working capital cycle to increase US$
cash balance.

o Continue to keep more cash balance in US$.

o Continue to explore with suppliers to change the billing currency to
KRW to the extent of minimising the net liabilities in foreign
currency.

o To work with suppliers and creditors to manage cash flow by
negotiating flexible and revised payment schedules and to obtain
new banking facilities, if necessary.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEWR DN

CHEMICAL OPERATION DIVISION (continued)

The downturn significantly impacted customer demand and exert
downward pressure on prices during the last five months of the year.
Recently, demand and pricing have improved across our product lines. We
remain cautiously optimistic this will stabilise and improve over time.

For spandex, we expect increasing demand and pricing especially with
seasonal increase. Competitive environment should also improve with the
exit of several marginal Chinese players from the market. Polyester
business should also see good seasonal demand for textile but will
continue to face strong competition and lower prices. For PET resin,
demand for bottles will continue to be reduced under the current global
economy.

As with many companies in the Korean economy, the near term market
will continue to be a challenging environment for TKC to manage the
working capital requirements and debt management. The key focus of the
business will be to continue to reduce cost structure, work with suppliers
and creditors to manage short term cash flow issues by negotiating
flexible payment schedules and obtain shareholders’ or other credit facility
providers’ support for working capital requirement. We have also been
exploring various options to enhance our position in TKC at the board and
shareholder level.

FINANCIAL RESOURCES, LIQUIDITY AND CHARGES ON
ASSETS

As at 31st March 2009, NAS Group had bank and cash balance of
approximately HK$1,109,669,000 (2008: HK$674,493,000), of which
approximately HK$46,086,000 (2008: HK$48,390,000) was pledged to
secure trade financing facilities of HK$924,365,000 (2008:
HK$593,024,000) granted by banks to its Group companies for trust
receipts loans, mortgage loans and bank borrowings. These banking
facilities were also secured by (a) bank deposits, (b) corporate guarantees
provided by NAS, (c) the Group’s inventories held under trust receipts bank
loan arrangement, (d) land and buildings, (e) investment properties, (f)
leasehold land and land use rights payments and (g) discounted bills
receivables with recourse.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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FINANCIAL RESOURCES, LIQUIDITY AND CHARGES ON
ASSETS (continued)

As at 31st March 2009, NAS Group had convertible bonds of
approximately HK$18,267,000 (2008: HK$16,990,000) and borrowings of
approximately HK$437,296,000 (2008: HK$193,174,000). The gearing
ratio (sum of borrowings and convertible bonds divided by equity
attributable to equity holders of the Company) of the Group was 0.24 as
at 31st March 2009, as compared to 0.10 as at 31st March 2008.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD AND MATERIAL
ACQUISITION AND DISPOSALS OF INVESTMENTS AND
SUBSIDIARIES

As at 31st March 2009, the Group had no significant investments. Apart
from the investments in TKC, there were no other material acquisitions or
disposals of investments and subsidiaries during the year.

FOREIGN CURRENCY EXPOSURE

The business of the Group was primarily transacted in HK$, US$, Euro,
Yen, KRW and Renminbi. The Group’s cash and bank deposits, including
pledged bank deposits, were mainly denominated in HK$. The foreign
currency exposure of the Group is mainly driven by its business divisions.

The Group attempts to minimise its foreign currency exposure through (i)
matching its payables for purchases against its receivables on sales and (ii)
maintain sufficient foreign currency cash balances to settle the foreign
currency payables. We will continue to monitor closely the exchange rate
between US$ and KRW and will make necessary hedging arrangements to
minimise its foreign currency exposure arising from foreign currency
fluctuation in the future.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31st March 2009, the Company had provided guarantees of
approximately HK$356,460,000 (2008: HK$265,363,000) with respect to
banking facilities made available to its subsidiaries and a jointly-controlled
entity.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEWR DN

NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

As at 31st March 2009, NAS Group employed 1,100 (2008: 528) staff.
Salaries and annual bonuses are determined according to positions and
performance of the employees. Remuneration policies are reviewed
annually by the management and remuneration packages are structured
to take into account the comparable level of the market. The Group
provides on-the-job training and training subsidies to its employees in
addition to pension schemes and medical insurance. Total staff costs
including contribution to retirement benefit schemes incurred during
the year amounted to approximately HK$148,700,000 (2008:
HK$60,161,000).

COMMITMENTS

Capital commitments

As at 31st March 2009, capital commitments relating to the Company
and its subsidiaries at the balance sheet date but not yet incurred is as
follows:
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Operating lease commitments

The Group leased certain of its office properties, warehouses and shops
under operating lease arrangements. The leases for these properties were
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COMMITMENTS (continued)

Other commitments

The Group entered into an agreement with an independent third party to
develop a certain number of Burger King restaurants in Hong Kong and
Macau within a period of 10 years ending on 31st March 2017. As at 31st
March 2009, four Burger King restaurants were opened and operating.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE UNDER RULE 17.24 OF THE
GEM LISTING RULES

The following is a condensed consolidated balance sheet as at 31st March
2009 of Coland Group Limited, a jointly-controlled entity, of which the
Group has an equity interest of 40%, as required therein under rule 17.24
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the GEM of the Stock
Exchange (“GEM Listing Rules”):
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Goran Sture Malm, Chairman

Mr. Goran Sture Malm, aged 62, joined the Company in August 2005. Mr.
Malm is the chairman of Boathouse Limited, an investment company, and
Children’s Medical Foundation, Hong Kong, a charity originated in the
United States. He also serves as a director of various companies in China,
Hong Kong, Japan, Korea, Singapore and Sweden, including Samsung
Electronics in Korea. Prior to joining Boathouse Limited in 2000, Mr. Malm
was the president of Dell Asia Pacific, senior vice president of Dell
Computer Corporation, senior vice president of General Electric (GE)
Company, president of General Electric Asia Pacific, president and chief
executive officer of GE Medical Systems Asia Ltd. and vice president of
General Electric (GE) Company. Mr. Malm holds a Bachelor degree in
Economics and Business Administration from the Gothenburg School of
Business, Economics and Law in Sweden. For 2005-2006, Mr. Malm was
assigned as visiting professor in Applied Management at the same
Business School. Mr. Malm is a member of the nomination committee of
the Company.

Savio Chow Sing Nam, Deputy Chairman

Mr. Savio Chow Sing Nam, aged 52, joined the Company in August 2005.
Mr. Chow is the lead partner for the special situations group of the Ajia
Partners Group. Prior to joining the Ajia Partners Group, Mr. Chow served
as a consultant at E.M. Warburg Pincus & Co. Asia Ltd. He has had about
20 years experience in the information technology industry both in the
United States and Asia Pacific. He was the managing director of Yahoo!
Inc. responsible for Asia. Prior to joining Yahoo! Inc., Mr. Chow held
various senior management positions at Netscape Communications
Corporation, Lotus Development Corporation and International Business
Machines Corporation. He holds a Master of Science degree in
Engineering and a Master of Business Administration degree from the
University of California at Berkeley.

PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR'MANAGEMENT
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

John Saliling, Chief Executive Officer

Mr. John Saliling, aged 45, joined the Company in August 2008 and leads
the team to drive operational performance, strategic growth and new
investment for the portfolio. Mr. Saliling has over 23 years of business
management, operations and execution experience in China, India, Korea,
Japan, Singapore, United States and Europe. Prior to NAS, Mr. Saliling was
the managing director of Cisco Systems (“Cisco”) consulting group for
Asia Pacific, working with government ministries and leading companies
across industries. Before Cisco, Mr. Saliling held senior operating positions
in enterprise software and consumer/B2B internet companies in Asia
Pacific as the chief executive officer of Similan.com Pte. Ltd. and chief
operating officer of Eutech Cybernetics Inc.. He also worked as a principal,
leading the hi-tech strategy practice in Asia for Booz Allen & Hamilton, a
global consulting firm. Mr. Saliling is a Knight scholar and holds a Master
of Business Administration degree in finance, a Master of Engineering and
a Bachelor of Science degree from Cornell University. Mr. Saliling is a
member of the remuneration committee and the compliance officer of the
Company.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Andrew Yao Cho Fai

Mr. Andrew Yao Cho Fai, J.P, aged 43, has been with the Company since
the formal establishment. He graduated from the University of California,
Berkeley and Harvard Graduate School of Business. Mr. Yao is the
chairman and chief executive officer of Van Shung Chong Holdings
Limited and also an independent non-executive director of Grand
Investment International Limited and Kader Holdings Company Limited
which are companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He
serves as a member of Standing Committee of the Shanghai Municipal
Committee of Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference, a
member of Central Policy Unit of HKSAR, the chairman of Hong Kong
United Youth Association, a member of Board of Shanghai Fudan
University, a member of the University Court of The University of Hong
Kong and a member of the Barristers Disciplinary Tribunal Panel. He was
also the winner of the Young Industrialist Award of Hongkong in 2004.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EERERERAEER

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

Takeshi Kadota

Mr. Takeshi Kadota, aged 62, joined the Company in September 2007.
Mr. Kadota has been engaged for more than 20 years in various capital
market activities, including private equity investments. Mr. Kadota is
currently retained to provide advisory services by Ajia Partners (Hong
Kong) Limited. Prior to his retirement from Mitsubishi Corporation, Mr.
Kadota acted as a senior vice president and division chief operating officer
of its Financial Services Division which included private equity, real estate,
M&A and venture capital. Mr. Kadota also served as president and chief
executive officer of Mitsubishi Corporation Capital Ltd. Prior to this post,
he served as a managing director of Mitsubishi Corporation Finance PLC,
a Euro-based financial subsidiary of Mitsubishi Corporation. Mr. Kadota is
a visiting professor and lecturer in the field of business administration in
the Interdisciplinary Graduate School of Science and Engineering, Tokyo
Institute of Technology. He received his Bachelor degree in Laws from
University of Tokyo and a Master degree in Business Administration from
Stanford Graduate School of Business. Mr. Kadota is a member of the
remuneration committee of the Company.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Philip Ma King Huen

Mr. Philip Ma King Huen, aged 52, joined the Company in March 2000.
Mr. Ma is the group managing director of The Sincere Company, Limited,
a listed company on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Ma was
the chairman of the Hong Kong Retail Management Association from
1996 to 2000 and is very active in the community service. He holds a
Master degree in Business Administration from McMaster University in
Canada. Mr. Ma is a member of the audit committee and nomination
committee of the Company.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

Kenny Tam King Ching

Mr. Kenny Tam King Ching, aged 60, joined the Company in September
2004. He is a practicing Certified Public Accountant in Hong Kong. He is a
fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Ontario,
Canada. Mr. Tam is serving as a member of the Ethics Committee and
Practice Review Committee in the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. He is also a past president of The Society of Chinese
Accountants and Auditors. Mr. Tam serves as an independent non-
executive director of five other companies listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, namely, CCT Telecom Holdings Limited, Kingmaker
Footwear Holdings Limited, Shougang Concord Grand (Group) Limited,
Starlite Holdings Limited and Van Shung Chong Holdings Limited. He was
also an independent non-executive director of Yun Sky Chemical
(International) Holdings Limited, a listed company on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange, from August 2005 to September 2008. Mr. Tam is a
member of the audit committee, remuneration committee and nomination
committee of the Company.

Edgar Kwan Chi Ping

Mr. Edgar Kwan Chi Ping, J.P, aged 59, joined the Company in August
2005. Mr. Kwan, a civil engineer, has over 30 years of local and
international experience in engineering, construction and project
management. He is a deputy managing director of SOCAM Asset
Management (HK) Limited (“SOCAM"). Prior to SOCAM, he was an
executive director and chief operating officer of Paul Y. Engineering Group
Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He
holds both Bachelor and Master degrees in Civil Engineering from the
University of Hong Kong and a Master degree in Business Administration
from the Chinese University of Hong Kong. His major public services
include a member of Fight Crime Committee, a member of Appeal Board
on Public Meetings and Processions, an adjudicator of the Registration of
Persons Tribunal, vice president of the Hong Kong Construction
Association, a member of the Construction Industry Council, a director of
Real Estate Developers’ Association, a member of the Engineers
Registration Board and the Appeal Tribunal (Building) of the Planning and
Lands Bureau. He had also served as the chairman of the Construction
Industry Training Authority and the member of a number of public bodies
including the Independent Police Complaints Council, the Broadcasting
Authority Complaints Committee and the Codes of Practice Committee.
Mr. Kwan is a member of the audit committee and remuneration
committee of the Company.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EERERERAEER

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

Yu Wang Tak

Mr. Yu Wang Tak, aged 53, joined the Company in November 2007. Mr.
Yu is the chairman of AsiaSoft Company Limited (“AsiaSoft”). Prior to
AsiaSoft, Mr. Yu worked for Sun Microsystems, Inc. (“Sun
with the last executive position as the president of Sun for Greater China.

") for 22 years,

Mr. Yu had also worked in various leadership positions of Sun, including
the head of finance of Worldwide Field Operations. Prior to joining Sun in
1985, Mr. Yu held a variety of management positions for various
companies, such as Apple Computer and Ford Motor Company. Since
2000 for six years, Mr. Yu served as the board of directors of the Hong
Kong Applied Science & Technology Research Institute Company Limited.
He was both the founder and driver of Sun’s Sunshine Education
Charitable Fund. He was a certified internal auditor and received his
Bachelor of Science and Master of Business Administration degrees from
University of California, Berkeley. Mr. Yu is a member of the audit
committee and remuneration committee of the Company.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Tsui Kin Kau, Chief Operating Officer

Mr. Tsui Kin Kau, aged 52, joined the Company in January 2008. He was
retained to provide consultancy services to the Company and its member
companies since April 2006. Mr. Tsui was the vice president of Medtronic,
Inc. and general manager of Greater China at Medtronic Asia Pacific. Prior
to this role, Mr. Tsui held numerous top executive positions at Medtronic
in the Asia Pacific region including Japan. Before joining Medtronic, Mr.
Tsui was the vice president of GE Medical Systems China responsible for
technology, manufacturing, quality and administration for the GE Medical
Systems China group. Concurrently, Mr. Tsui was the general manager of
GE Hangwei Medical Systems, a global manufacturing and engineering
hub for GE CT Scanners and GE’s first Joint Venture in China. During his
16 year tenure with GE Medical Systems, he helped the building of various
businesses in Asia. Mr. Tsui holds a Master degree in Business
Administration from University of Hull.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

Grace Luk Pui Yin, Chief Financial Officer

Ms. Grace Luk Pui Yin, aged 44, joined the Company in August 2005. Ms.
Luk was the director and financial controller of Kleinwort Benson China
Management Limited, the investment manager of the London-listed China
Investment & Development Fund. This Fund invested in 12 joint ventures
with substantial manufacturing operations in China and completed
divestment of its portfolio before 2003. She was also vice president of
Dresdner Kleinwort Capital, the private equity arm of Dresdner Bank. She
has over 10 years of private equity experience in the Greater China region.
Prior to Kleinwort Benson, Ms. Luk was department head of the category
financial management department at Colgate-Palmolive (H.K.) Limited
and was an auditor at Arthur Andersen & Co in Hong Kong. She received
her Bachelor degree in Business Administration from the Chinese
University of Hong Kong. She is a Fellow of the UK Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants, an Associate of both the UK Chartered
Institute of Management Accountants and the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants.
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North Asia Strategic Holdings Limited

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to ensuring high standards of corporate
governance in the interests of shareholders, and follows the principles set
out in the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the “Code")
contained in Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company has
complied with the code provisions set out in the Code throughout the
year ended 31st March 2009.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the required standard of dealing set out in
rules 5.48 to 5.68 of the GEM Listing Rules (the “Required Standard”) as
the code of conduct regarding securities transactions by the Directors of
the Company. Having made specific enquiry of all Directors of the
Company, all Directors confirmed that they had complied with the
Required Standard during the year ended 31st March 2009.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Roles and responsibilities

The Board has the responsibility for leadership and control of the
Company. They are collectively responsible for promoting the success of
the Group by directing and supervising the Group’s affairs. The Board is
accountable to shareholders for the strategic development of the Group
with the goal of maximising long-term shareholder value, while balancing
broader stakeholder interests.

The Board formulates overall Company strategy. Given the diversity and
volume of the Company’s business, responsibility for execution and daily
operations is delegated to management.

In furtherance of good corporate governance, the Board has established
three sub-committees: audit committee, remuneration committee and
nomination committee. All of these committees have terms of reference
which accord with the principles set out in the Code contained in
Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Composition

The Board currently comprises nine Directors: three Executive Directors,
two Non-executive Directors and four Independent Non-executive
Directors that are more than one-third of the Board. Biographical details
of the Directors are set out in the section of “Profiles of Directors and

Senior Management” on pages 18 to 23.

The Directors have distinguished themselves in their field of expertise, and
have exhibited high standards of personal and professional ethics and
integrity. All the Directors give sufficient time and attention to the
Company’s affairs. The Board believes that the ratio of Executive to Non-
executive Directors is reasonable and adequate to provide checks and
balances that safeguard the interests of the shareholders and the

Company as a whole.

The Executive Directors are responsible for the day-to-day management of
the Group's operations. These Directors conduct regular meetings with the
senior management of the Company and its subsidiaries, at which

operational issue and financial performance are evaluated.

The Non-executive Directors provide the Company with a wide range of
expertise and experience. They bring independent judgement on issues
relating to the Group's strategy, performance, risk and management

process through their contribution at Board and committee meetings.

According to the Bye-laws of the Company, newly appointed Directors
shall hold office until the next following general meeting and shall be
eligible for re-election at that meeting. Every Director, including those
appointed for a specific term, should be subject to retirement by rotation

at least once every three years.

Independence

The Company has four Independent Non-executive Directors, at least one
of whom has appropriate financial management expertise, in compliance
with the GEM Listing Rules. Each Independent Non-executive Director
gives the Company an annual confirmation of his independence, and the
Company considers these directors to be independent under the

guidelines set out in rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board meetings

The Board regularly meets in person or through other electronic means of
communication at least four times every year to determine overall strategic
direction and objectives and approve quarterly, interim and annual results,
budgets and other significant matters. At least 14 days’ notice of regular
Board meetings are given to all Directors, who are all given an opportunity
to attend and include matters in the agenda for discussion. Apart from
formal meetings, matters requiring board approval are arranged by means
of circulation of written resolutions. Senior management from time to
time provides to the Directors information on activities and development
of the business of the Group. The company secretary takes detailed
minutes of the meetings and keeps records of matters discussed and
decisions resolved at the meetings.

Frequency of meetings and attendance

Eight full Board meetings were held during the year with an average
attendance rate of 88%. The attendance of each Director at Board
meetings is set out below:

Board Members
EEEHRE

EEEeRERFIANEREMETAATRA
BFERETEIOREREE  UETERER
BATMEER YHAEFE FHRE2FE
B OUBEERAEMERER - 2RESH
BELUAZENMEESERBA BEY
BRTHRenFERIMBREAZIFE - KRLE
XEHI - HFEEESHEZFEEMU
Eﬁﬁ RO AGEFTENEEHBTER - B

EEARETHAESRHBARAEER
E&%%%FZ%M°AEMEE¢&%%
ZEFLE YREFERLAIBFEBELE
RZ GO e

EERBRHEERR

FACABTNREZREFTSSH FHH

FERB% - ZEFHREFTER BN
T
Number of Meetings
Notes Attended/Held

Mz PR BT 2EERE

Executive Directors HITES
Goran Sture Malm (Chairman)

Henry Kim Cho

Savio Chow Sing Nam (Deputy Chairman)

John Saliling (Chief Executive Officer)

Henry Kim Cho
Am (8EE)
John Saliling (77 B 42 %)

FHITES
ol &zR =
Takeshi Kadota

Non-executive Director
Andrew Yao Cho Fai
Takeshi Kadota

Independent Non-executive Directors BYFHTES
Philip Ma King Huen BRE

Kenny Tam King Ching s

Edgar Kwan Chi Ping Be

Yu Wang Tak REE

Notes:

(i) Former Deputy Chairman, retired on 31st July 2008

(i) Re-designated from Chief Executive Officer to Deputy Chairman on 29th
August 2008

(i) Appointed on 29th August 2009

(iv)  Re-designated from Executive Director to Non-executive Director on 19th
June 2008

Goran Sture Malm (3 /&)

8/8
(i) 2/2
(ii) 7/8
(iii) 5/5

(iv) 5/8
6/8

7/8
8/8
7/8
8/8

Htat

() BIBERE R-TEENFLA=1+—HER
iy MZZEZENFNAZTLABHITHLHS
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iy RZZTANFNA-ZTABEZE

vy R-FBZENFAATLAHRTEREL
RIERTES
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER TERITHEAR

The Chairman and the Deputy Chairman of the Board are Mr. Goran Sture FEELEENMEEE DB AGoran Sture Malm
Malm and Mr. Savio Chow Sing Nam respectively. Mr. John Saliling serves Jo 4 N JE B St A 0 ohn Saliling 78 A Rl 42
as the Company’s Chief Executive Officer. The roles of the Chairman and EARBZITHARER - TR RITHRATRZ A
the Chief Executive Officer are distinct and segregated with a clear division EBTBEERENEES Y c FEEEEE
of responsibility. The Chairman plays a leading role and is responsible for AR BEEFSCCANEE  MITHEHR
effective running of the Board while the Chief Executive Officer is BB FREODNMBE  (EEREEE - ¥K%R
delegated with the authority and responsibility of overall management, FPHRTEESAEAEEBET ZRE - LUERK
business development and implementation of the Group’s strategy EEEEIZ -

determined by the Board in achieving its overall commercial objectives.

F352008/09
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS EHITES

The term of office of each of the Non-executive Directors is for a period of BRI TES2THAYH=F  ETHR—
three years unless terminated by either party with one month’s written FTA—EAE®EmBAL LRI - Lo - &
notice, and they are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at EFTREARA ZARMEIRERKERSF
the annual general meeting in accordance with the provisions of the ReE L ERNRBIRET-

Company’s Bye-laws.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE REZEE®
The nomination committee comprises three members, a majority of whom REZEEH-RKNEEN  KHD BB

are Independent Non-executive Directors, and is chaired by Mr. Philip Ma FEPRTESE FTFEAESELE - REBZELE
King Huen. The terms of reference of the nomination committee are BB EETRIFTEH BT 5 - 2
aligned with the provisions set out in the Code. The nomination LEECEBENREHESE FHEFSENX
committee is responsible for making recommendations to the Board on FLERESEEAAE T AMES SRS
the appointment of directors, evaluation of board composition and the B AUERD2ESEEENERITE
management of board succession with reference to certain guidelines “ep EAARS - BiE BAAEKKEFR
including appropriate professional knowledge and industry experience, RABBEETHESImMiELE - FR ZE82
personal ethics, integrity and personal skills, and time commitments of R EEGCEN ZAEFUMESTSIR
members. During the year, the committee has reviewed the board HEZ BEZTZTNF=A=F+—HLHF
composition, the appointment of directors and made recommendation to B8] T7 KRRt EgeH  SKEWH
the Board. A meeting was held during the year ended 31st March 2009. FEagmBERAEmmT

Attendance of the members is set out below:

Number of Meetings

Nomination Committee Members Attended/Held
REZEERE PR BTz EERE
Philip Ma King Huen (Committee Chairman) BRE(ZE58FE) 1/1
Kenny Tam King Ching EEE 1”1

Goran Sture Malm Goran Sture Malm 11
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee comprises five members, a majority of
whom are Independent Non-executive Directors, and is chaired by Mr.
Edgar Kwan Chi Ping. The terms of reference of the remuneration
committee are aligned with the provisions set out in the Code. The
remuneration committee has delegated responsibility to determine the
remuneration packages of the Executive Directors and senior management
and make recommendation to the Board of the remuneration of the Non-
executive Directors. During the year, the committee has reviewed the
remuneration of the Directors and made recommendation to the Board on
the structure of the remuneration of the Directors. A meeting was held for
the year ended 31st March 2009. Attendance of the members is set out
below:

Remuneration Committee Members

FHEES
FHZBEemA R EBAEK KD RBIL
EMITEE TEARBAFELE -FMEE

G B B B T B P B IR AR — B F
MWEZEEEREETATEZTRSREEA
B2HMEE AMIFRTEE2HFMME
EeRtER -FR REERNEFZH
MY MEE2HFHRABRESTSRIEES -
BE_TTNF=ZA=+T—"RHLFE 817

—RFEMEZEEEH  EHNELFEBERH
s

Number of Meetings
Notes Attended/Held
ffit  FTHE BT 2EBAE

FMESERE

Edgar Kwan Chi Ping (Committee Chairman) BaF(Z5eF/E)
Kenny Tam King Ching s

Savio Chow Sing Nam BAEE

John Saliling John Saliling

Takeshi Kadota Takeshi Kadota

Yu Wang Tak RB1E

Notes:

(i) Mr. John Saliling was appointed as a member of the remuneration
committee in place of Mr. Savio Chow Sing Nam with effect from his
appointment as an Executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer of
the Company on 29th August 2008.

(i) No committee meeting was held since Mr. John Saliling joined the
remuneration committee up to the end of the year.

During the year ended 31st March 2009, total Directors’ remuneration
amounted to HK$6,208,581 (2008: HK$5,276,500).

Remuneration of the Executive Directors is prudently designed to attract,
motivate and retain them to formulate strategies and to oversee
operational matters of the Group and to reward them for enhancing value
to the shareholders. Details of the remuneration of the Directors are set
out in note 8 to the accompanying financial statements.

il
71

(i) 1/1
@, (i) n/a g R
11

11
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HEZERARARNITESRITHAIL
BEERAFMEZEESGRE  REAKEL
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(i)  Blohn Saliling/t EMAFMEE S RLEAR
FERWERTZELEH -

HE-_ZTTAF=ZA=Z+T—HLFE =
EHMA £ 5B6208581 B T (—TT)\F .
5,276,5007 7T ) °
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AUDIT COMMITTEE EREE®

The Company has established an audit committee with written terms of RARABKEKRIEZEZES]  WEEHRH
reference that set out the authorities and duties of the committee adopted BEHE S ESeRAZETEEEIR
by the Board. The committee comprises four Independent Non-executive BE -ZEEHMUBIERTESFHEK
Directors and is chaired by Mr. Kenny Tam King Ching who has THEABBLAAE  HEBEZS CEXER

F352008/09

appropriate professional qualifications and experience in financial matters. KB4 Be o 29

w
The terms of reference of the audit committee are aligned with the EREES B EE ST RHECHEES m%
provisions set out in the Code. The committee’s principal duties are to — - LZTEeIEREAMRAETE e Eﬁ
ensure the adequacy and effectiveness of the accounting and financial AN BERELT EANEN ERKNIPE ;.;;
controls of the Group, oversee the performance of internal control THIE N ERRIEF 2RI BRI H 2]
systems and financial reporting process, monitor the integrity of the REOREBETAELAER TR ENARER B

financial statements and compliance with statutory and listing SNEEAZ RN 2 B N M BB o
requirements and to oversee independence and qualifications of the
external auditors.

The audit committee meets the external auditors at least four times a year ERLTEemFroHRINEZEMEeEmN
to discuss any area of concern during the audits or reviews. The audit R AT mEBERSNENRTMANETEIEZE®
committee reviews the quarterly, interim and annual reports before c BEZEZESNIRREFE - FHI K FE TR
submission to the Board. Senior representatives of the external auditors, EFEFTCR WY ZSEREETER -
executive Directors and senior management are invited to attend the INBZEMZEMRAR AITEZELSNE
meetings, if required. BABHEZEFERAG (WFE) -

During the year, the audit committee has approved the nature and scope TR BERZESCHELIEERZIMEER
of the statutory audits, and reviewed the quarterly, interim and annual HE THEMAEE2FTE HHEFEY
financial statements of the Group, and was content that the accounting HHE BEMASE 2 BUER RERTY
policies and standards of the Group are in accordance with the current FEBAENZEEER FARTTEAX
best practices in Hong Kong. Four meetings were held during the year and EzZEgez LEZHRBROT :

the attendance at meetings is set out below:

Number of Meetings

Audit Committee Members Attended/Held

EREEEHNE g, BiTzgE R

Kenny Tam King Ching (Committee Chairman) BHIE(ZEETE) 4/4

Philip Ma King Huen BRE 3/4

Edgar Kwan Chi Ping 8 3/4

Yu Wang Tak RARE 4/4
AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION ¥ B B 57 B

The Company reviews the appointment of external auditors on an annual KARBFHRNIINEZHMZEZRE - 21
basis including a review of the audit scope and approval of the audit fee. B EZHE R EZEER - FRA - 3k
During the year, the fee payable to the Company’s external auditors for B 1% FE A% BB BEUE B B 1 AR & Bl SMNIE A% 2R
the audit amounted to HK$3,845,000 and fee for non-audit related 2 BB 5 Rl A3,845,0007% 7T & 1,154,000 It °
activities amounted to HK$1,154,000.
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INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board is responsible for maintaining a sound and effective internal
control system to safeguard the Company’s assets and shareholders’
interest. The internal control system is designed to reduce, but not
eliminate, risks of failure in operational systems. The system helps to
provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material
misstatement or loss. The system aims to support the achievement of the

Group's business objectives.

The system comprises a well-defined organisational structure with clearly
defined lines of responsibility and authority to ensure effectiveness &
efficiency of operations, reliability of financial reporting and compliance
with applicable laws and regulations. The Board conducts regularly reviews
of the effectiveness of the internal control system of the Group through
reviews performed by audit committee, executive management, internal

audit department and external auditors.

During the year, the internal audit department conducted a review of the
effectiveness of the internal control system and procedures of the
Company and its operating subsidiaries covering all material controls,
including financial, operational, compliance and risk management, and
assessed the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff
of the Group’s accounting and financial reporting function, their training
programmes and budget. The audit committee was well informed of the
audit findings, emerging trends and successful practices in internal

auditing.

During the year, the audit committee reviewed the effectiveness of the
system of the internal control through the following processes and
subsequently reported the review results to the Board:

o discussions with the executive management on areas of risk
identified

o review of risks reported by the internal audit department

o review of the external audit plans

o review of issues reported by external auditors

o review of the reports from the internal audit department and the

executive management to ensure appropriate controls are in place
and any deficiencies or irregularities, if any, are rectified
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INTERNAL CONTROLS (continued)

Based on the result of the review for the year ended 31st March 2009, the
Board considered that the internal control system and procedures of the
Group, including the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience
of staff of the accounting and financial reporting function, and their
training programmes and budget, are adequate and effective and have

complied with the provisions of the Code during the year.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Company proactively promotes investor relations. Communication
with shareholders is always given high priority. Extensive information
about the Group’s activities is provided in the annual report, interim report
and quarterly report. The Company’s website provides regularly updated
information to shareholders. Enquiries on matters relating to the business
of the Group are welcomed, and are dealt with in an informative and

timely manner.

The Company encourages all shareholders to attend the annual general
meetings to stay informed of the Group’s strategy and goals. It provides
an opportunity for direct communications between the Board and its
shareholders. Shareholders have statutory rights to call for special general
meetings by serving appropriate written requests to the Company. The
chairman of the meeting explains the detailed procedures for conducting
a poll and then answers any questions from shareholders. The poll results

are published on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The respective chairman of the Board and the audit committee and
external auditors attended the annual general meeting of the Company
held on 31st July 2008 to answer questions from shareholders. The
financial advisers were available to answer questions at the special general

meetings of the Company held on 30th June and 20th August 2008.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors are ultimately responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements for each financial year which gives a true and fair view. In
preparing the financial statements, appropriate accounting policies and
standard are selected and applied consistently.

The statement of the auditors of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements of the Group is set out in the
Independent Auditors’ Report on pages 59 and 60 of this annual report.

CONCLUSION

The Company believes that good corporate governance is significant in
maintaining investor confidence and attracting investment. The
management will devote considerate effort to strengthen and improve the
standards of the corporate governance of the Group.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHRESE

The board of Directors (the “Board”) have the pleasure of presenting their
annual report together with the audited financial statements of North Asia
Strategic Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together
the “Group”) for the year ended 31st March 2009.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries principally
engaged in (i) trading of surface mount technology (“SMT") assembly
equipment, machinery and spare parts and provision of related installation,
training, repair and maintenance services; and (ii) developing and
operating Burger King restaurants in Hong Kong and Macau. Its jointly-
controlled entities principally engaged in (i) processing and sale of
fishmeal, refining and sale of fish oil, manufacturing and sale of aquatic
feed products and trading of other raw materials relating to aquatic feeds;
and (ii) manufacturing of polyester fiber, PET resin and spandex.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group’s turnover and segment results by business
segment and geographical segment for the year ended 31st March 2009
is set out in note 5 to the accompanying financial statements.

RESULTS

Details of the Group’s results for the year ended 31st March 2009 are set
out in the consolidated income statements on page 61 of this annual
report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend for the year
ended 31st March 2009.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws of the

Company or the laws of Bermuda which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.
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ZA=ZtT-ALFELTREERERAA
((ArBE D) REMBRB(ARIARE]) 2
FREEERTE®RE -

FEER

KRR —EREZERAR - HWB QA =
ZHEFOFMEBFE M ([SMT]) 4 i“ﬁ
BERTEBHEFURRERBEZR

Al e RRERSE S RGOV E B KRR ?X
B K 4% &% @& T (Burger King) & 8 - H H[R4Z
FIEBREFEREOAMINIREE - AH
BRREE  KEANEREERBEENAR
HBKERBRBEZEMEES @ Ri)E
EERRRM 4 - PETIOPE B A 4 -

TEER
AEEHE_ZTTZNAF=_A=+T—HILLFE
ZREBDBRWBROBZEEBRDIEE
BONTE NN 2 B 5 3RR I 5E5 ©

ES
AEBBE_TTENF=_A=+—HLFE

ZEREFERAFRPECIBRAWERA °

Eseogs
—AZRE -

NREBE_TTNF=A=T

BLRBER

ARBzARMARBERELZVLERFE
B ERGUREARRBIZAZ L OIF R A K
REEEMR -

F352008/09

w
w

bR BRI R AR AT




w
S

Annual Report 2008/09

North Asia Strategic Holdings Limited

REPORT/OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHREE

RESERVES

Movements in reserves of the Group and the Company during the year
are set out in note 28 to the accompanying financial statements. As at
31st March 2009, the Company did not have any distributable reserves
(2008: Nil).

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for

the last five financial years is set out on pages 4 and 5 of this annual
report.

SUBSIDIARIES AND JOINTLY-CONTROLLED ENTITIES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries and jointly-controlled entities are
set out in notes 18 and 19 to the accompanying financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment during the year
are set out in note 14 to the accompanying financial statements.

BANK BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank borrowings as at 31st March 2009 are set out in note
29 to the accompanying financial statements.

INTEREST CAPITALISED

The Group has not capitalised any interest during the year.

DONATIONS

The Group made donations during the year approximately HK$24,000.
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PROVIDENT FUND SCHEME

Details of the pension schemes are set out in note 8 to the accompanying
financial statements.

DIRECTORS
The Directors who held office during the year are:

Executive Directors

Goran Sture Malm (Chairman)

Henry Kim Cho (former Deputy Chairman) ?
Savio Chow Sing Nam (Deputy Chairman) ©
John Saliling (Chief Executive Officer) ™

Non-executive Directors

Andrew Yao Cho Fai ™
Takeshi Kadota

Independent Non-executive Directors

Philip Ma King Huen
Kenny Tam King Ching
Edgar Kwan Chi Ping
Yu Wang Tak

Notes:

(i) Former Deputy Chairman, retired on 31st July 2008

(ii) Re-designated from Chief Executive Officer to Deputy Chairman on 29th
August 2008

(i) Appointed on 29th August 2009

(iv) Re-designated from Executive Director to Non-executive Director on 19th
June 2008

In accordance with Bye-law 87 of the Company’s Bye-laws, Messrs.
Andrew Yao Cho Fai, Philip Ma King Huen and Kenny Tam King Ching will
retire by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has made an annual
confirmation of independence pursuant to rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing
Rules. The Company is of the view that all independent non-executive
Directors meet the independence guidelines set out in rule 5.09 of the
GEM Listing Rules and are independent in accordance with the terms of
the guidelines.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of Directors and senior management are set out on
pages 18 to 23 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract with the Group which is
not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation other than statutory compensation.

The terms of office of each of the Directors of the Company is for a period
of three years. All of them are subject to retirement by rotation and re-
election at annual general meeting pursuant to the Company’s Bye-laws.

Details of the Directors’ emoluments are set out in note 8 to the
accompanying financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

As at 31st March 2009, the Directors and chief executive of the Company
and their respective associates had the following interests and short
positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO")) as recorded in the register
required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to rules 5.46 to 5.67 of
the GEM Listing Rules relating to the securities transactions by Directors:
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND EERESTHAERESL HBEK
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES NEEEBIESZRRE (&)
AND DEBENTURES (continued)

2
Long positions in the shares and underlying shares of the REQARARBREBRGD ZEFRE %
Company

37

(@)  The approximate percentage of shareholdings set out below is based on (@ THFRBRZBHNBILEDER-_ZETNF=

95,794,716 ordinary shares (each the “share” or “ordinary share”) in issue A=+—HB%1729579%,716 1% & @ A% ([ f% E
as at 31st March 2009, not on the total number of issued shares upon full s [ E@mAK]) - T F FEIR B 4k A% K Al A & o
conversion of the preference shares and the convertible bonds (the BHR(ATRERES] EEFBEIR=_ZZ o
“Convertible Bonds”) as set out in the circular to shareholders dated 20th AERNAZ+THABRETFZEZAK) E2H &
June 2005. Rk 2 BBTRIDBBGE - £

K

-

Approximate

Number of Number of % of
Name of Director Capacity ordinary shares held underlying shares held Total shareholdings®
Exp? 5 FESERYE FisRBRGEA @it BERBHEIUE
Mr. Andrew Yao Cho Fai Interest of controlled 4,255,789 — 4,255,789 4.44%
("Mr. Yao") corporation (Note)
hEEEE(ThxE] ) FEHAE R (Hit)
Note: ik=3
These interests represented: ZERE=IE

(0]

(ii)

(iii)

a deemed interest in 1,598,113 shares of the Company owned by
Huge Top Industrial Ltd. (“Huge Top”). Mr. Yao directly holds
approximately 11.91% and indirectly through Perfect Capital
International Corp. (“Perfect Capital”) owns approximately 42.86%
of the issued share capital of Huge Top. Mr. Yao owns the entire
issued share capital of Perfect Capital and is one of the two directors
of Huge Top. Accordingly, Mr. Yao was deemed, under the SFO, to
have an interest in these shares of the Company held by Huge Top;

a deemed interest in 1,633,676 shares of the Company owned by TN
Development Limited (“TN"). Van Shung Chong (B.V.I.) Limited (“VSC
BVI”) owns 54% of the issued share capital of TN and Mr. Yao owns
10% of the issued share capital of TN. Mr. Yao is one of the two
directors of TN. VSC BVI is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Van Shung
Chong Holdings Limited of which Huge Top owns approximately
45.47%. Accordingly, Mr. Yao was deemed, under the SFO, to have
an interest in these shares of the Company held by TN; and

an interest in 1,024,000 shares of the Company owned by Right
Action Offshore Inc. (“Right Action”). Mr. Yao owns the entire issued
share capital of Right Action and is also the sole director of that
company.

(i) Huge Top Industrial Ltd. ([ Huge Top|) #
B1,598, 113 A R A7 2 4 18 /=
ERm - EEEERFELNNIN%
X i B Perfect Capital International Corp.
([ Perfect Capital ]) & # # & Huge Top
BEITRAL4286% - k£ HEHR
Perfect Capital 2 #f B B 1T IR A<+ I &
Huge Top@m £ & F 2 — » AL - BIR
BHEMEBEERG - hEERRAHE
Huge Top FT#§ 2 2 F AN A AR 1) 2w

(i) TN Development Limited([TN]) # &
1,633,676 ik AR X A iR 9 2 ¥ AR A
& # % ° Van Shung Chong(B.V.L.)
Limited ([VSC BVI]) # ATINE # 17
B% AK54% - Bk 5T £ BTINE % 17
B AR10% © BhSE £ AINRR B E S 2
—oVSCBVIABIEESBEER A F
22 B B ARQ A Huge TopE B B
B & % A 494547% ° B It - 1R B &
FREBEGD  EEREAES
INFIHFZZEARAIBROEZRS &

(i) Right Action Offshore Inc. ([ Right
Action ] ) % 7 1,024,000 f& A8 2 7] B& 17 4
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES (continued)

Long positions in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company (continued)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31st March 2009, none of the Directors and
the chief executive of the Company or their respective associates had any
interests or short positions in the securities of the Company or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which
were required (i) to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO, including interests
and short positions which they were deemed or taken to have under such
provisions of the SFO, or (ii) pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein, or (iii) pursuant to the rules 5.46
to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules relating to securities transactions by
directors of listed companies to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

Save for the above, none of the Directors or the chief executive of the
Company nor their spouses or children under 18 years of age had any
interests in, or had been granted or exercised, any rights to subscribe for
any securities of the Company or any of its associated corporations during
the year.

INTERESTS OR SHORT POSITIONS OF OTHER
PERSONS

As at 31st March 2009, so far as is known to the Directors and chief
executive of the Company, the following persons (other than the Directors
and chief executive of the Company whose interests were disclosed
above) had interests or short positions in the shares and/or underlying
shares of the Company which were recorded in the register required to be
kept under section 336 of the SFO:

Long positions in the shares and underlying shares® of the
Company

(b) The underlying shares referred to in the following table (other than those
referred to in notes 1 and 4 below) arise as a result of the conversion rights
attaching to the preference shares issued by the Company under the
placements as disclosed in the circulars dated 24th January 2006, 17th
August 2007 and 23rd November 2007. The preference shares shall be
automatically converted into ordinary share, credited as fully paid, at the
conversion ratio of one preference share for one ordinary share in accordance
with the terms of the preference shares. Those underlying shares referred in
notes 1 and 4 below arise as a result of the conversion of the Convertible
Bonds.

(c) The approximate percentage of shareholdings set out below is based on
95,794,716 ordinary shares in issue as at 31st March 2009, not on the total
number of issued shares upon full conversion of the preference shares and
the Convertible Bonds.
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INTERESTS OR SHORT POSITIONS OF OTHER HALTZEZIAXR (&)
PERSONS (continued)
Substantial shareholders (interests related to ordinary TERR (FHEBRRRZER) §
shareholders) %
Number of Number of Approximate 39
ordinary underlying % of E
Name Capacity shares held shares held Total shareholdings ©  Note %*E
g ER FiEHE BRZ2BL =
A1 L) R R EE @t BALY HF %
5]
Mr. Moses Tsang Kwok Tai Beneficial owner 19,693,486 39,386,973 59,080,459 61.68% 1 2
("Mr. Tsang") EXEEA
CEREE(GRE])
Interest of controlled 509,400 — 509,400 0.53% 2
corporation

REH AR 2R

Interest of a discretionary — 148,659,004 148,659,004 155.18% 3
trust
PRERCER
208,248,863 217.39%
North Asia Strategic Beneficial owner 44,163,474 88,326,947 132,490,421 138.31% 4
Acquisition Corp. EXERA
("NASAC")
North Asia Strategic Advisors  Interest of controlled 44,163,474 245,039,565 289,203,039 301.90% 4,5,
("NASA") corporation 24 8 30
REFRA 2 R
Ajia Partners Inc. ("API") Interest of controlled 44,163,474 245,039,565 289,203,039 301.90% 4-6,

corporation 24& 30
REHARzER
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INTERESTS OR SHORT POSITIONS OF OTHER
PERSONS (continued)

Hib ALt 2 EEH KA (4)

Substantial shareholders (interests related to preference FTERR (FHELERRRZE)
shareholders)
Number of Number of Approximate
ordinary underlying % of
Name Capacity shares held shares held Total shareholdings ©  Note
g ER FiEHE BRZ2BL
a1 L) R RO EE @t ALY A
The Goldman Sachs Interest of controlled —  2,477,650,064  2,477,650,064 2,586.42% 7
Group, Inc. corporation
REHDE 2R
National Nominees Limited Nominee — 2,041,884,817  2,041,884,817 2,131.52% 8
("NNL") REA
Military Superannuation and Trustee — 2,041,884817  2,041,884,817 2,131.52% 8
Benefits Board of Trustees A
No 1
Fortis Investment NL Beneficial owner — 1,238,825,032  1,238,825,032 1,293.21%
Holding N.V. EXERA
C.L Davids Fond og Samling Beneficial owner — 1,061,780,105  1,061,780,105 1,108.39%
ERBEEA
Woori Bank (“Woori") Beneficial owner — 792,848,020 792,848,020 827.65% 9
BB (TR EaBEA
Woori Finance Holdings Interest of controlled — 792,848,020 792,848,020 827.65% 9
Co., Ltd. Corporation
REBHIDE 2 #R
United Overseas Bank Limited  Beneficial owner — 743,295,019 743,295,019 775.92%
ARERTAERRA BRHERA
J.T. International Asset Beneficial owner — 542,344,186 542,344,186 566.15%

Management Corp.

i

BB
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INTERESTS OR SHORT POSITIONS OF OTHER
PERSONS (continued)

Hie At 2 EH KA (4)

Verwaltungsgesellschaft
mbH (“Mozart")

it

EiflBAA

pul

[}
o
Substantial shareholders (interests related to preference FTERR (FHELERBRRZErw) (&) 8
shareholders) (continued) %
Number of Number of Approximate M
ordinary underlying % of E
Name Capacity shares held shares held Total shareholdings ©  Note %*E
FBEER i 1EE BERZBA =
2% L) B RAEE @t BoRY M ff;
4
5]
Oikos Asia Fund (“Oikos") Beneficial owner — 495,530,013 495,530,013 517.28% 10 2
ExlAA
Realdania Beneficial owner — 408,376,963 408,376,963 426.30%
BREAA
Banca Monte Dei Paschi Di Beneficial owner — 247,765,006 247,765,006 258.64%
Siena Spa BEREBEA
Grand Loyal (China) Limited Nominee — 247,765,006 247,765,006 258.64% 11
("Grand Loyal") eI
Mr. Ho Yiu Wing Interest of controlled — 247,765,006 247,765,006 258.64% 11
R LS corporation
REH DR 2R
Grand Partners Group Limited ~ Nominee — 247,765,006 247,765,006 258.64% 12
("Grand Partners”) eI
Mr. William Doo Wai Hoi Interest of controlled — 247,765,006 247,765,006 258.64% 12
HEELE corporation
XEHDE 2R
Mozart Beneficial owner — 204,188,482 204,188,482 213.15% 13



Annual Report 2008/09

=Y
N

North Asia Strategic Holdings Limited

REPORT/OF THE DIRECTORS

EEEHREE

INTERESTS OR SHORT POSITIONS OF OTHER

PERSONS (continued)

Substantial shareholders (interests related to preference

shareholders) (continued)

Hb ALt 2 HEHED

KRB (#E)

FERR (EHBLAKRKRRZE#) ()

Number of Number of Approximate
ordinary underlying % of
Name Capacity shares held shares held Total shareholdings ©  Note
FBEER i iEE ERZBA
2% L) B RAEE @t ALY M
Dr. Thomas Helmut Jetter Interest of controlled — 204,188,482 204,188,482 213.15% 13
Thomas Helmut Jettert& corporation
REH DR 2R
Bankpension Beneficial owner — 204,188,482 204,188,482 213.15%
ExlAA
Fubon Bank (Hong Kong) Beneficial owner — 199,233,717 199,233,717 207.98%
Limited EXERA
ERRT(BB)ERAA
Chevalier International Beneficial owner — 198,212,005 198,212,005 206.91% 14
Holdings Limited EXBEEA
("Chevalier")
HIBREEFRAT
(TE+])
Mr. Chow Yei Ching Interest of controlled — 198,212,005 198,212,005 206.91% 14
BB 5 & corporation
REH DA 2 B
Ms. Miyakawa Michiko Family interest — 198,212,005 198,212,005 206.91% 14
BIEBFLL EN
K.B. (C.I.) Nominees Limited Beneficial owner — 182,524,084 182,524,084 190.54% 15
("KBCl") L5 UN
Frank Nominees Limited Beneficial owner — 104,495,497 104,495,497 109.08% 16

("Frank”)

i

ExifiAA

pul
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Substantial shareholders (interests related to preference FTERR (FHELERBRRZErw) (&)
shareholders) (continued)

F352008/09

Number of Number of Approximate 43
ordinary underlying % of E
Name Capacity shares held shares held Total shareholdings ©  Note %*E
g ER FiEHE BRZ2BL =
A1 L) R R EE @t BALY HF 1?-;
&
5]
Kleinwort Benson (“KB") Interest of controlled — 287,019,581 287,019,581 29962% 15& 16 2
corporation
REHDE R
Asia Internet Capital Ventures  Beneficial owner — 148,659,004 148,659,004 155.18% 17
LP ("AICV") ERXBEEA
Asia Internet Capital Interest of controlled — 148,659,004 148,659,004 155.18% 17
Management LLC corporation
REHIAR R
EC.com Inc. Interest of controlled — 148,659,004 148,659,004 155.18% 17
corporation
REBHIDE 2 #R
Smart Channel Investments Interest of controlled — 148,659,004 148,659,004 155.18% 17
Inc. corporation
REHIAR Ew
MKT Holdings (Cayman Islands)  Interest of controlled — 148,659,004 148,659,004 155.18% 17
LLC corporation
REHIAR R
HSBC International Trustee Trustee — 148,659,004 148,659,004 155.18% 17
Limited FIA
Gentfull Investment Limited Beneficial owner — 148,659,004 148,659,004 155.18% 18
("Gentfull") EREAA
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REPORT/OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHREE

INTERESTS OR SHORT POSITIONS OF OTHER
PERSONS (continued)

Substantial shareholders (interests related to preference
shareholders) (continued)

Hb ALt 2 HEHED

KRB (#E)

FERR (EHBLAKRKRRZE#) ()

Number of Number of Approximate
ordinary underlying % of
Name Capacity shares held shares held Total shareholdings ©  Note
L ER PR B BRZ2BL
a1 £ A RO EE @t ALY A
Ms. Vivien Chen Wai Wai Interest of controlled — 148,659,004 148,659,004 155.18% 18
BREZL+ corporation
REHDE 2R
Doutdes S.PA. ("Doutdes”) Beneficial owner — 148,659,004 148,659,004 155.18% 19
ExlAA
UFI Filters SPA Interest of controlled — 148,659,004 148,659,004 155.18% 19
corporation
REHIAR Ew
GGG SPA Interest of controlled — 148,659,004 148,659,004 155.18% 19
corporation
REHDE 2R
G.G.G.SA Beneficial owner — 99,106,003 99,106,003 103.46% 20
ERBAA
Mr. Giorgio Girondi Interest of controlled — 247,765,007 247,765,007 258.64% 19&20
Giorgio Girondi 7t 4 corporation
REHAR Ew
UBS Espania, S.A. ("UBS") Nominee - 128,441,377 128,441,377 134.08% 21
(NEZDN
Ms. Angeles Gonzalez Garcia  Interest of controlled — 49,553,001 49,553,001 51.73% 21
Angeles Gonzélez Garcia%Z = corporation
REHIAR Ew
Mr. Jorge Garcia Gonzalez Interest of controlled — 49,553,001 49,553,001 51.73% 21

Jorge Garcia Gonzalez % 4

corporation
REBHIDE 2 #R
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Substantial shareholders (interests related to preference
shareholders) (continued)

F352008/09

Number of Number of Approximate 45
ordinary underlying % of E
Name Capacity shares held shares held Total shareholdings ©  Note %*E
FBEER i 1EE BRZ2EH =
2% L) B RAEE Fohy BoRY M E‘;
4
FH
Sphirantes Nominee — 49,553,001 49,553,001 51.73% 21 =R
REA
Mr. Cesar Molinas Sanz Beneficial owner — 17,343,550 17,343,550 18.10% 21
Cesar Molinas Sanz 4t 4 EREEA
Duserali, S.L. Beneficial owner — 14,865,900 14,865,900 15.52% 21
ERAEA
Mr. Antonio Del Cano Barbon  Interest of controlled — 14,865,900 14,865,900 15.52% 21
Antonio Del Cano Barbon %t & corporation
REHRA 2 EE
Mr. Ramon Suarez Beltran Beneficial owner — 9,910,600 9,910,600 10.35% 21
Ramén Suarez Beltran %t 4 ERBEAA
Mr. Ricardo Sanz Ferrer Beneficial owner — 9,910,600 9,910,600 10.35% 21
Ricardo Sanz Ferrer 5t 4 BERZBEBA
Mr. Miguel Orte-Echeverria Beneficial owner — 9,910,600 9,910,600 10.35% 21
Miguel Orde-Fcheverria %t EaBEEA
ALCO Beteiligungsgesellschaft ~ Beneficial owner — 122,513,089 122,513,089 127.89% 22
mbH (“ALCO") BERXBEEA
Albert Ball Interest of controlled — 122,513,089 122,513,089 127.89% 22
Kommanditgesellschaft corporation
("ABK") XEHDE 2R
Mr. Albert Henri Karl Bl Interest of controlled — 122,513,089 122,513,089 127.89% 22

Albert Henri Karl Bl % 4

corporation
REFRA 2 R
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INTERESTS OR SHORT POSITIONS OF OTHER BEMALTZREEZIXE (&)
PERSONS (continued)

Substantial shareholders (interests related to preference FTERR (FHEBLERBRRZErw) (&)
shareholders) (continued)

Number of Number of Approximate
ordinary underlying % of
Name Capacity shares held shares held Total shareholdings ©  Note
L ER i iEE ERZBA
£ £ B RAEE @t ALY M
Wittelsbacher Ausgleichsfonds  Beneficial owner — 122,513,089 122,513,089 127.89%
ERBEEA
Timeless Enterprises Limited Beneficial owner - 99,106,003 99,106,003 103.46% 23
("Timeless") ERBEAA
Kenthomas Company Limited ~ Nominee - 99,106,003 99,106,003 103.46% 23
REA
Henry Kim Cho ("Mr. Cho") Interest of controlled — 99,106,003 99,106,003 103.46% 23
Henry Kim Cho([ Cho%E 4 ) corporation
REH DA 2B
North Asia Strategic Beneficial owner — 98,502,618 98,502,618 102.83% 24
Acquisition Corp. 2 EXERA
("NASAC 2")
KKR Group Investments I LLC  Beneficial owner — 89,080,460 89,080,460 92.99% 25
("KKR") ERBAA
Mr. George Rosenberg Roberts  Interest of controlled — 89,080,460 89,080,460 92.99% 25
George Rosenberg Roberts e 4= corporation
REHAR Ew
Mr. Henry Roberts Kravis Interest of controlled — 89,080,460 89,080,460 92.99% 25
Henry Roberts Kravis % 4 corporation
REH QA2 B
GAUD Holding B.V. ("GAUD")  Beneficial owner — 81,675,393 81,675,393 85.26% 26

i

TREAA

\
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Substantial shareholders (interests related to preference
shareholders) (continued)

F352008/09

Number of Number of Approximate 47
ordinary underlying % of E
Name Capacity shares held shares held Total shareholdings ©  Note %*E
FBEER i 1EE BERZBA =
2% L) B RAEE Fohy BoRY M 5‘;
4
Ms. Dorothée Emma Interest of controlled — 81,675,393 81,675,393 85.26% 26 E
Margaretta Goldschmeding corporation
Dorothée Emma b UNCIR -
Margaretta Goldschmeding
zt
Ms. Sabine Marie Antoinette Interest of controlled — 81,675,393 81,675,393 85.26% 26
Goldschmeding corporation
Sabine Marie Antoinette G NI -
Goldschmeding 2 &
Ms. Anna Petra Elisabeth Interest of controlled — 81,675,393 81,675,393 85.26% 26
Goldschmeding corporation
Anna Petra Elisabeth B NI -
Goldschmeding 2 &
Mr. Frederik Harold Fentener Beneficial owner — 78,544,061 78,544,061 81.99%
van Vlissingen EXERA
Frederik Harold Fentener van
Vlissingen 7t 4
Jajebi Holding B.V. (“Jajebi") Beneficial owner — 68,062,822 68,062,822 71.05% 27
EnlEAA
Mr. Jan van Seumeren Interest of controlled — 68,062,822 68,062,822 71.05% 27
Jan van Seumeren 5t & corporation
REH DR 2R
Latoer Holding B.V. (“Latoer”)  Beneficial owner — 68,062,822 68,062,822 71.05% 28
ExEBA
Mr. Roderik Johannes Rolanda  Interest of controlled — 68,062,822 68,062,822 71.05% 28

van Seumeren
Roderik Johannes Rolanda van
Seumeren 7t &£

corporation
REHAR R
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EEEHREE

INTERESTS OR SHORT POSITIONS OF OTHER
PERSONS (continued)

Substantial shareholders (interests related to preference
shareholders) (continued)

Hb ALt 2 HEHED

N

KRB (#E)

FERR (EHBLAKRKRRZE#) ()

Number of Number of Approximate
ordinary underlying % of
Name Capacity shares held shares held Total shareholdings ©  Note
g ER FiEHE BRZBL
A1 L) {2 ROHE @t BALY HF
NUI Holding B.V. (“NUI") Beneficial owner . 68,062,822 68,062,822 71.05% 29
BRBEAA
Mr. Patrick Jolyon van Interest of controlled — 68,062,822 68,062,822 71.05% 29
Seumeren corporation
Patrick Jolyon van Seumeren REHAR 2 ER
it
North Asia Strategic Beneficial owner — 58,210,000 58,210,000 60.77% 30
Acquisition Corp. 3 EXERA
("NASAC 3")
Rawlco Capital Ltd. ("Rawlco”)  Beneficial owner — 49,553,001 49,553,001 51.73% 31
ERBERA
Mr. Gordon Stanley Rawlinson  Interest of controlled — 49,553,001 49,553,001 51.73% 31
Gordon Stanley Rawlinson 7t 4 corporation
REHAR R
Fides Management Services Nominee — 57,172,775 57,172,775 59.68% 32
Limited (“Fides") eI
Mr. Willem Auke Hekstra Beneficial owner — 16,335,079 16,335,079 17.05% 32
Willem Auke Hekstra %t & ERBEEA
Clover Three Investments Ltd.  Beneficial owner — 10,209,424 10,209,424 10.66% 32

i

("Clover") EXERA

pul
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INTERESTS OR SHORT POSITIONS OF OTHER HM AT Z2ERZRKE (&)
PERSONS (continued)

Substantial shareholders (interests related to preference FTERR (FHELERBRRZErw) (&) §
shareholders) (continued) %
Number of Number of Approximate 49
ordinary underlying % of E
Name Capacity shares held shares held Total shareholdings ©  Note %*E
g ER FiEHE BRZ2BL =
A1 L) g2 ROHE @t BALY HF E‘;
5]
Mr. Jan de Marez Qijens Interest of controlled — 10,209,424 10,209,424 10.66% 32 2
Jan de Marez Oijens 5 4 corporation
REBHIARz ER
Mr. Pieter de Marez Oijens Interest of controlled — 10,209,424 10,209,424 10.66% 32
Pieter de Marez Oijens 5 4 corporation
REHAR R
Other persons (interests related to preference shareholders) BMAL (FHBLRRRZEE)
Number of Number of Approximate
ordinary underlying % of
Name Capacity shares held shares held Total shareholdings©  Note
FEEER FiEHE FRBY
A1 54 {2 ROHE @it BALY A
Mr. Christopher McLeod Beneficial owner — 8,167,540 8,167,540 8.53% 32
Christopher McLeod % 4 ExlAA
Mr. Menno de Kuyer Beneficial owner — 6,125,654 6,125,654 6.39% 32
Menno de Kuyer ¢ 4 EREEA
Mr. Martijn Sven van der Veen  Beneficial owner — 6,125,654 6,125,654 6.39% 32
Martijn Sven van der Veent £ B HH A
Mr. David Flemming Beneficial owner — 6,125,654 6,125,654 6.39% 32
David Flemming 3¢ 4 ExlAA
Mr. Fernando Rueda Sabater Beneficial owner — 7,432,950 7,432,950 7.76% 21
Fernando Rueda Sabater 6 4 EHA A
Mr. Richardo de Ponga Bianco  Beneficial owner — 5,946,360 5,946,360 6.21% 21
Richardo de Ponga Biancost £ E# A A
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INTERESTS OR SHORT POSITIONS OF OTHER
PERSONS (continued)

Notes:

Mr. Tsang was directly interested in 19,693,486 shares and a further
39,386,973 underlying shares which may fall to be issued if the Convertible
Bonds are converted at the initial conversion price of HK$0.1566.

These 509,400 shares were directly held by Oboe Development Trading
Limited, which was wholly owned by Mr. Tsang.

Mr. Tsang was deemed to be interested in 148,659,004 underlying shares by
virtue of his being a founder of a discretionary trust, the trustee of which
was HSBC International Trustee Limited (“HSBC Trustee”). HSBC Trustee,
through its controlling interests in Asia Internet Capital Management LLC
which acted as the investment manager of AICV, was deemed to be
interested in 148,659,004 underlying shares. These 148,659,004 underlying
shares are the same underlying shares referred to in note 17 below. Mr.
Tsang was therefore deemed, under the SFO, to be interested in an
aggregate of 208,248,863 shares.

NASAC was directly interested in 44,163,474 shares and a further
88,326,947 underlying shares which may fall to be issued if the Convertible
Bonds are converted at an initial conversion price of HK$0.1566. Accordingly,
NASAC was deemed to be interested in a total of 132,490,421 shares.

NASA held the single voting participating share of NASAC and the single
ordinary voting share of each of NASAC 2 and NASAC 3, NASA was
therefore deemed to be interested in 289,203,039 shares.

APl is the controlling company of NASA which in turn controls 100% voting
capital of each of NASAC, NASAC 2 and NASAC 3. APl was therefore
deemed to be interested in 289,203,039 shares.

These underlying shares were held by Goldman Sachs (Asia) Finance, a
company controlled by The Goldman Sachs (Asia) Finance Holdings L.L.C..
The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc. was deemed to have interests in these
underlying shares through its direct subsidiary, The Goldman Sachs Global
Holdings L.L.C., and its indirect subsidiary, The Goldman Sachs & Co., which
was in turn the controlling company of The Goldman Sachs (Asia) Finance
Holdings L.L.C.. Accordingly, all these parties were deemed, under the SFO,
to have an interest in these underlying shares by virtue of their respective
corporate interests in Goldman Sachs (Asia) Finance.

These underlying shares were held by NNL, a nominee for Military
Superannuation and Benefits Board of Trustees No 1 as a trustee for an
Australian pension fund.

These underlying shares were held by Woori, a company controlled by Woori
Finance Holdings Co., Ltd.

HAt

et

AT ZRBRRE (&)

% A B ¥ A 19,693,486 A% A% {5 K B Hh
39,386,973 % fis & #1) 25 #2 AR (B 0.1566 & 7T H, 14
AR ES M A F#HT 2 MR MER -

Oboe Development Trading Limited ( i & % 4 &
EWER) BB ZE509400 % 17D o

HREEEREEET(ZEEEREIZH
A A HSBC International Trustee Limited ([ HSBC
Trusteel)) 2R X A MBEWHR BES
148,659,004 f% 18 4 & 17 # 25 © HSBC Trustee
% 8 H 1A Asia Internet Capital Management LLC
(ERAICVZIZREEEBA) 2R ER M H
R BER 148,659,004 AR i - 25
148,659,004 A% 8 B AR 15 B2 T STH 5517 AT it 2
HERDER - Bt BEZES KBS K
Bl B AR RER & $£208,248 863 % Ik
iR -

NASACE # 1 £544,163,474 1% % 15 & 8 5b
88,326,947 % fi# 1% #) 27 42 1% {8 0.1566 /8 7T i, #
AR ESmMA FEITZABKROER -
It + NASACH: 1R /& % B & 132,490,421 i %
i o

NASAHF 5 —BENASACZ E R EEL BB H &
—HXNASAC 2 MNASAC 3B B 2 B IR BHEL®
A% - B I NASAHE 15 /& HE 75 289,203,039 % A% 17
M o

APIANASAZ YERR /A &) + I NASATE HIINASAC
NASAC 2 &NASAC 3% B 2 100% & 1& = # %
AN o A - AP AR A 5 289,203,039 % B% 15
M o

5% 55 ¥E 8 A% 19 B Goldman Sachs (Asia) Finance #
A - Goldman Sachs (Asia) Finance 4 The Goldman
Sachs (Asia) Finance Holdings L.L.C. & & 2 2
@] ° The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc.i& #® H B
% I 8 ‘2 B The Goldman Sachs Global Holdings
LLC. & E [ # M B 2 & The Goldman Sachs
& Co.( # 2~ 7] Al AThe Goldman Sachs (Asia)
Finance Holdings L.L.C..2 ¥ & A &) ) M # 17 &
BEZSHEARODEZ Bt AREES
& 7 Goldman Sachs (Asia) Finance 2 A ] #£ 25

WIREFHFRBAEGRD  ZESHTHERAE
BEZSHERDER -
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% % % AMilitary Superannuation and Benefits
Board of Trustees No 12 X% A
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Notes: (continued)

10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

These underlying shares were held by Oikos, a company controlled by
Walkers SPV Limited.

These underlying shares were held by Grand Loyal, a company controlled by
Mr. Ho Yiu Wing. Accordingly, Mr. Ho was taken to be interested in these
underlying shares under the SFO by virtue of his interests in Grand Loyal.

These underlying shares were held by Grand Partners, a company controlled
by Mr. William Doo Wai Hoi. Accordingly, Mr. Doo was taken to be interested
in these underlying shares under the SFO by virtue of his interests in Grand
Partners.

These underlying shares were held by Mozart, a company controlled by Dr.
Thomas Helmut Jetter. Accordingly, he was taken to be interested in these
underlying shares under the SFO by virtue of his interests in Mozart.

These underlying shares were held by Chevalier, a company 55.73%
controlled by Mr. Chow Yei Ching and Ms. Miyakawa Michiko. Accordingly,
both were taken to be interested in these underlying shares under the SFO
by virtue of their interests in Chevalier.

These underlying shares were held by KBCI, a company controlled by KB.
Accordingly, KB was taken to be interested in these underlying shares under
the SFO by virtue of its corporate interests in KBCI.

These underlying shares were held by Frank, a company controlled by KB.
Accordingly, KB was taken to be interested in these underlying shares under
the SFO by virtue of its corporate interests in Frank.

These underlying shares were held by AICV which was managed by Asia
Internet Capital Management LLC, a company 99% controlled by EC.com
Inc.. HSBC Trustee was deemed to have interests in these underlying shares
through its direct wholly-owned subsidiary MKT Holdings (Cayman Islands)
LLC and its indirect wholly-owned subsidiary Smart Channel Investments Inc..
Smart Channel Investments Inc. had controlling interests in EC.com Inc..
Accordingly, all these parties were deemed, under the SFO, to have an
interest in these underlying shares by virtue of their respective corporate
interests in AICV. These underlying shares are the same underlying shares
referred to in note 3 above.

These underlying shares were held by Gentfull, a company 100% controlled
by Ms. Vivien Chen Wai Wai. Accordingly, Ms. Chen was taken to be
interested in these underlying shares under the SFO by virtue of her interests
in Gentfull.

Hit AT 2 SHKE (&)

Hiat - (%)

10.

ZEMRE KRG EEOikos?% A - Oikos & Walkers
SPV Limited §% Il 2 22

% E 18R {9 B Grand Loyal%ﬁ * Grand Loyal
RIABREEESZA 1 7 1% 72 Grand
LoyalZ % » MR IR & %?&Hﬂ 5B - fa] 5t
EWEREEZSEARD R

% % 18 B B% 19 $1Grand Partnersi¥ /& + Grand
Partners &1t BT L £ 126 2 A F) - ARBER
Grand Partners 2 # &+ IR IR & H K HAE 1K
Bl HEEHRRBEBZSHEBRMDER -

2% %5 B K % BMozartd & © Mozart A
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H H #% 2 & [ B A "]MKT Holdings (Cayman
Islands) LLC &z H & #& & & Kt B 2 &lSmart
Channel Investments Inc. T # 18 /& # A % & /8

[i% 15 # 2% ° Smart Channel Investments Inc. 7
EC com Inc BEERER BREEEER
AICVZQ AlEE  WIRBESREBEKR -
ZESHHYERABEEZSHEBARNDER
ZE R B E SO FE3 AT L 2 A B AR ()
piENE

2% % MR AR D B Gentfull 58+ Gentful &R =
Z 2+ H100% 2 A 8 o B R & R Gentfull
2R BURBEHFRBERD - Mt
VAEBRBZSHBRMDER -

F352008/09

(9]
-

bR BRI R AR AT




Annual Report 2008/09

(8]
N

North Asia Strategic Holdings Limited

REPORT/OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHREE

INTERESTS OR SHORT POSITIONS OF OTHER
PERSONS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

19.

20.

21.

22.

23.

24.

25.

These underlying shares were held by Doutdes, a company 83.98%
controlled by UFI Filters SPA which was in turn controlled by GGG SPA, a
company controlled by Mr. Giorgio Girondi. Accordingly, all these parties
were taken to be interested in these underlying shares under the SFO by
virtue of their corporate interests in Doutdes.

These underlying shares were held by G.G.G. S.A., a company 100%
controlled by Mr. Giorgio Girondi. Accordingly, Mr. Girondi was taken to be
interested in these underlying shares under the SFO by virtue of his interests
in G.G.G. S.A.

These underlying shares were held by UBS. Of these underlying shares,
49,553,001 underlying shares were held by Sphirantes, a company controlled
by Ms. Angeles Gonzélez Garcia and Mr. Jorge Garcia Gonzalez; 17,343,500
underlying shares were held by Mr. Cesar Molinas Sanz; 14,865,900
underlying shares were held by Duserali, S.L., a company controlled by Mr.
Antonio Del Cano Barbén; each of Messrs. Ramon Suarez Beltran, Ricardo
Sanz Ferrer and Miguel Orue-Echeverria held 9,910,600 underlying shares;
7,432,950 underlying shares were held by Mr. Fernando Rueda Sabater; and
5,946,360 underlying shares were held by Mr. Richardo de Ponga Bianco.

These underlying shares were held by ALCO, a company controlled by ABK
which in turn controlled by Mr. Albert Henri Karl Bull. Accordingly, both were
taken to be interested in these underlying shares under the SFO by virtue of
their interests in ALCO.

These underlying shares were held by Timeless, a company controlled by Mr.
Cho through Kenthomas Company Limited. Accordingly, Mr. Cho was taken
to be interested in these underlying shares under the SFO by virtue of his
interests in Timeless.

These underlying shares were held by NASAC 2. NASA controls 100% of the
ordinary voting share capital of NASAC 2 and was therefore deemed to be
interested in these underlying shares under the SFO by virtue of its corporate
interests in NASAC 2.

These underlying shares were held by KKR, a company controlled by Messrs.
George Rosenberg Roberts and Henry Roberts Kravis. Accordingly, all these
parties were taken to be interested in these underlying shares under the SFO
by virtue of their interests in KKR.

Hib ALtz

FKE (&)

Hia - (%)

19.

20.

21.

22.

23.

24.

25.
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INTERESTS OR SHORT POSITIONS OF OTHER
PERSONS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

26.

27.

28.

29.

30.

31.

32.

These underlying shares were held by GAUD, a company controlled by Ms.
Dorothée Emma Margaretta Goldschmeding, Ms. Sabine Marie Antoinette
Goldschmeding and Ms. Anna Petra Elisabeth Goldschmeding. Accordingly,
all these parties were taken to be interested in these underlying shares under
the SFO by virtue of their interests in GAUD.

These underlying shares were held by Jajebi, a company controlled by Mr. Jan
van Seumeren. Accordingly, he was taken to be interested in these underlying
shares under the SFO by virtue of his interests in Jajebi.

These underlying shares were held by Latoer, a company controlled by Mr.
Roderik Johannes Rolanda van Seumeren. Accordingly, he was taken to be
interested in these underlying shares under the SFO by virtue of his interests
in Latoer.

These underlying shares were held by NUI, a company controlled by Mr.
Patrick Jolyon van Seumeren. Accordingly, he was taken to be interested in
these underlying shares under the SFO by virtue of his interests in NUI.

These underlying shares were held by NASAC 3. NASA controls 100% of the
ordinary voting share capital of NASAC 3 and was therefore deemed to be
interested in these underlying shares under the SFO by virtue of its corporate
interests in NASAC 3.

These underlying shares were held by Rawlco, a company controlled by Mr.
Gordon Stanley Rawlinson. Accordingly, he was taken to be interested in
these underlying shares under the SFO by virtue of his interests in Rawlco.

These underlying shares were held by Fides and beneficially owned by Mr.
Willem Auke Hekstra, Clover, Mr. Christopher McLeod, Mr. Menno de Kuyer,
Mr. Martijn Sven van der Veen, Mr. David Flemming and Mr. David Koker
respectively. Clover was controlled by Messrs. Jan de Marez Oijens and Pieter
de Marez Qijens. Accordingly, both were taken to be interested in these
10,209,424 underlying shares under the SFO by virtue of their interests in
Clover.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors and the chief executive of the
Company were not aware of any person (other than the Directors or chief
executive of the Company the interests of which were disclosed above)

who has an interest or short position in the securities of the Company that

were required to be entered in the register of the Company pursuant to
section 336 of the SFO as at 31st March 2009.
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REPORT/OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHGEE

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

On 10th June 2002, the shareholders approved the adoption of a share
option scheme (the “2002 Scheme”). Under the terms of the 2002
Scheme, the Board may at its discretion offer share options to any
employee, agent, consultant or representative, including any Executive or
Non-executive Director, of any member of the Group or any other person
who satisfies the selection criteria as set out in the 2002 Scheme. The
principal purpose of the 2002 Scheme is to provide incentives to
participants to contribute to the Group and/or to enable the Group to
recruit and/or to retain high-calibre employees and attract human
resources that are valuable to the Group. The 2002 Scheme shall be valid
and effective for a period of ten years commencing on the adoption date.
As at 31st March 2009, no share options have been granted by the
Company pursuant to the 2002 Scheme.

On 31st October 2006, the Company approved a share option scheme (the
“Best Creation Scheme”) adopted by Best Creation Investments Limited
("Best Creation”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, allowing its
board of directors to grant options to subscribe for shares in Best Creation
to the selected participants under such scheme as incentives or rewards
for their contribution to the Best Creation group. The Best Creation
Scheme has a life of ten years commencing on the adoption date of 31st
October 2006. As at 31st March 2009, no share options have been
granted pursuant to the Best Creation Scheme.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Significant related party transactions undertaken in normal course of
business are provided in note 40 to the accompanying financial
statements. Certain related party transactions also constituted as
connected transactions under the GEM Listing Rules. The following
connected transactions (as defined under the GEM Listing Rules) of the
Group have been entered into and/or ongoing during the year ended 31st
March 2009 for which relevant announcements, if necessary, had been
made by the Company pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Services Agreement

The Company entered into a services agreement dated 29th September
2005 (as amended and restated on 30th December 2005) with NASA (the
“Services Agreement”) pursuant to which NASA shall provide service to
the Group covering fund raising, market and industry research, investor
sourcing, investment sourcing, investment analysis and due diligence, and
financial advisory under the overall control and supervision of the Board
during the 3 year-term, commencing on 1st April 2006 and shall continue
until the termination of the Services Agreement in accordance with its
term. Pursuant to the Services Agreement, the Company shall pay fees to
NASA for the services rendered by it. The annual cap amounts of the fees
payable to NASA (including annual service fee, incentive fee and placing
fee) are set at HK$260 million for each of the three financial years ending
31st March 2007, 2008 and 2009. Details of the Services Agreement are
set out in the circular dated 24th January 2006. NASA is the holding
company of NASAC which is a substantial shareholder of the Company.

Sub-tenancy Agreement

The Group entered into a sub-tenancy agreement (the “Sub-Tenancy
Agreement”) dated 13th March 2009 with, inter alia, Ajia Partners (Hong
Kong) Limited (“APHK") for sub-leasing a portion of the office on 78th
Floor, The Center, 99 Queen’s Road Central, Hong Kong for a term of 3
years commencing from 1st April 2008 to 31st March 2011 at a monthly
rental of HK$190,313, inclusive of management fees and air-conditioning
charges. The annual cap for each of three financial years ending 31st
March 2009, 2010 and 2011 is expected not to exceed HK$2.3 million.
Details of the Sub-Tenancy Agreement are set out in the announcement
of the Company dated 19th March 2009. APHK is a company controlled
by API which is an indirect holding company of NASAC, a substantial
shareholder of the Company.

The above continuing connected transactions have been reviewed by the
Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company. The Independent
Non-executive Directors have confirmed that the above continuing
connected transactions have been entered into (a) in the ordinary and
usual course of business of the Group; (b) on normal commercial terms or
on terms no less favourable to the Group than terms available to or from
independent third parties; and (c) in accordance with the relevant
agreements governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in
the interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Sub-tenancy Agreement (continued)

The auditors of the Company have also confirmed that the above
continuing connected transactions (a) have received the approval of the
Board; (b) have been entered into in accordance with the pricing policies
of the Group if the transactions involve provision of goods or services by
the Group; (c) have been entered into in accordance with the relevant
agreements governing the transactions; and (d) have not exceeded the
respective caps as disclosed in the relevant announcements of the
Company.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Connected Transactions”, no
contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the
Company, its subsidiaries or its holding company was a party and in which
any of the Company’s Directors or members of its management had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of or
at any time during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the related party transactions provided in note 40 to
the accompanying financial statements, no contract concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of
the business of the Company were entered into or existed during the year.

COMPETING INTERESTS

As at 31st March 2009, none of the Directors or substantial shareholders
of the Company or any of their respective associates has engaged in any
business that competes or may compete with the business of the Group
or has any other conflict of interests with the Group.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31st March 2009, the aggregate amount of purchases
(not include the purchases of items which are of a capital nature)
attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers represented less than
30% of the Group's total purchases; and the aggregate amount of
turnover attributable to the Group’s five largest customers represented
less than 30% of the Group’s total turnover.

PURCHASES, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities for the year ended 31st
March 2009.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on publicly available information, the Company maintains a
sufficient public float of more than 15% of the issued ordinary shares as
at the date of this annual report.

INFORMATION OF COMPLIANCE OFFICER AND
COMPANY SECRETARY

The compliance officer of the Company is Mr. John Saliling. Mr. Saliling is
an Executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company.
Biographical details of Mr. Saliling is set out on page 19 of this annual
report.

The company secretary of the Company is Ms. Lam Yee Fan. She has over
15 years of company secretarial experience at listed companies in Hong
Kong. She is an associate member of The Hong Kong Institute of
Chartered Secretaries and The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

A report on the principal corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company is set out on pages 24 to 33 of this annual report.

AUDITORS

During the year, PricewaterhouseCoopers resigned as auditors of the
Company and Ernst & Young was appointed as auditors of the Company
to fill the casual vacancy pursuant to a resolution passed at the special
general meeting held on 27th October 2008. There have been no other
changes of auditors in the past three years.

The financial statements for the year ended 31st March 2009 have been
audited by Ernst & Young. A resolution for re-appointment of Ernst &
Young as auditors of the Company for the ensuring year will be proposed
at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

North Asia Strategic Holdings Limited
John Saliling

Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 3rd June 2009

hEE

B

EHARAFEREIECEET AR R 2®RE
BN AERFEUBEEENE -

BB ED

TR BRBOKESMEHAETARA
ZIZBE - MEKEFEEFAREN_-F
ENFTA-TERBTZERRERFIAS L
BBZRBERERER/ARB ZZBED - A
EMzER e RIBE=F HIEEMXHMZ

28 -

HE_ZZNF=ZA=Z+—BIEFEZUH
BREOHRKEFMEBAEZ - BREKRR
BFEARG LHREBELKGAMEBAR
REZRERRBZEENZIRESR

RREFE
tERBERERARE
HITEFRTHAH
John Saliling



INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
& M %% LA

Ell ERNST & YOUNG

om |

7 ik
To the shareholders of North Asia Strategic Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the financial statements of North Asia Strategic Holdings
Limited set out on pages 61 to 172, which comprise the consolidated and
company balance sheets as at 31st March 2009, and the consolidated
income statement, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended, and a summary
of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and the
true and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. This responsibility includes designing,
implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation
and the true and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and
applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates
that are reasonable in the circumstances.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements
based on our audit. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the
financial statements are free from material misstatement.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY (continued)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures
selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors consider
internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and true and fair
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors,
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state
of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31st March 2009 and of
the Group's loss and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared
in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants

18/F, Two International Finance Centre
8 Finance Street, Central

Hong Kong

3rd June 2009
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
Sa W ER

Year ended 31st March 2009
HE-_ZTNF=ZA=+—8L1LFE

2009 2008
—EBhF —EENF
Notes HK$°000 HK$°000 8
liogz3 FHET FHT &
Continuing operations HEEERE N
61
Revenue WA 5 2,229,529 1,265,162
I
Cost of sales SHE A (2,009,191) (1,176,622) =
T
Gross profit EF 220,338 88,540 =
o
Other gains — net Hithes — FH8 6 8,669 2,529 5
Selling and distribution expenses HE R IHER (127,116) (41,722) =
General and administrative expenses ~ —f& 2T E H (265,992) (144,528)
Operating loss LR (164,101) (95,181)
Finance income BATSUA 9 46,518 37,526
Finance costs MEER 9 (41,916) (27,047)
Loss before income tax fﬁﬂfﬁﬁ SHAIEE 7 (159,499) (84,702)
Income tax credit PS5 Hi 10 23,371 14,334
Loss for the year from continuing FERNEEREER 2 EE
operations (136,128) (70,368)
Discontinued operations HIEREREK
Loss for the year from discontinued FRRIFEEET 2 518
operations 11 — (2,232)
Loss for the year FNEE (136,128) (72,600)
Loss for the year attributable to: FEIG FRESTE
— Equity holders of the Company — RARIEDZEA 12 (136,093) (72,590)
— Minority interests — DHR R R (35) (10)
(136,128) (72,600)
Loss per share from continuing AAREREEAERBELSE
operations attributable to equity ¥ BIREE
holders of the Company 13
— Basic (HK cents) — ER (B (142.07) (73.45)
— Diluted (HK cents) —#8% (B) (142.07) (73.45)
Loss per share from discontinued RATERITE ABIGR LS
operations attributable to equity ¥EK 2 BREE
holders of the Company 13
— Basic (HK cents) — HAR (B - (2.33)
— Diluted (HK cents) — 858 (B) — (2.33)

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of these financial — BAFE3RERMIsE AL S TEHRER 2 BEEL D -
statements.
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BALANCE SHEETS
EERER

As at 31st March 2009
RZEBEZAF=ZA=+—H

Group Company
rE KA
2009 2008 2009 2008
—EZhF —ETNEFE —EZhF —EENE
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
HiaF FET FET FET FET
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets EREBEE
Property, plant and YIEE -~ R Nk
equipment 14 560,213 64,606 — =
Investment properties wEME 15 2,257 2,288 — —
Leasehold land and land HE Rt
use rights {5 FA#E 16 21,684 19,235 - —
Intangible assets B A E 17 583,161 419,647 — —
Investments in and amounts  AMIEB A F 2
due from subsidiaries RE MR
M8 A RIskIE 18 — — 907,093 681,874
Available-for-sale financial AIHHEZ SR
assets BiE 20 1,357 3,481 — —
Deferred tax assets EETRIHE E 33 18,810 12,444 — —
Other non-current assets HMIEREEE 21 20,972 3,307 — —
1,208,454 525,008 907,093 681,874
Current assets REEE
Inventories 78 22 265,690 314,345 — —
Trade and other receivables & 5 FEUFRIE &
H A pE R IE 23 211,474 196,038 101 97
Subscription receivables R FE I s 24 13,000 940,429 13,000 940,429
Non-current assets held BEELEZ
for sale IEMEBEE 25 6,264 — — —
Amount due from a AN EPNG
subsidiary B/ QL] 18 —_ — 2,964 6,318
Amount due from a FEUN S R4 4]
jointly-controlled entity EEEFIB 40(c) — — 325 —
Current income tax EIEEYinE)
recoverable FriS i 170 342 — =
Pledged bank deposits BEBIRITIFR 26 46,086 48,390 - —
Cash and cash equivalents BeMEeEE
I5H 26 1,063,583 626,103 1,030,430 580,966
1,606,267 2,125,647 1,046,820 1,527,810
Total assets EEHEE 2,814,721 2,650,655 1,953,913 2,209,684
EQUITY ER
Capital and reserves EATEBEFEA
attributable to equity EERAR
holders of the Company: B8
Share capital RE AR 27 134,691 134,691 134,691 134,691
Reserves i 28 1,792,386 1,995,965 1,794,902 2,052,411
1,927,077 2,130,656 1,929,593 2,187,102
Minority interests DB AR R RS 3,438 1,676 — —
Total equity ERAF 1,930,515 2,132,332 1,929,593 2,187,102




BALANCE SHEETS
EERER

As at 31st March 2009
RZEZAFZA=+—H

Group Company
rEE NN
2009 2008 2009 2008
—EThF —ETNEF —EThF —EENE
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
HiaF FET FET FET FEx
LIABILITIES =N
Current liabilities REaE
Borrowings EE 29 361,357 182,836 — —
Trade and other payables B S EMNRIA R
H b e~ 50E 30 351,703 300,776 1,616 1,155
Amounts due to subsidiaries &/ BT B A &
KIB 40(b) — — 4,437 4,437
Derivative financial TSI A
instruments 31 — 310 — —
Current income tax liabilities  RBIFTEFH B E 3,267 6,540 — —
716,327 490,462 6,053 5,592
Non-current liabilities kFRBEE
Borrowings B 29 75,939 10,338 — —
Convertible bonds A AR (E S 32 18,267 16,990 18,267 16,990
Deferred tax liabilities BEHEAE 33 13,792 11 — —
Retirement benefits RIRFEF
obligation =L 34 48,926 — — —
Derivative financial PTESRMT A
instruments 317 9,069 — — —
Other non-current liabilities Hi3EREasE 35 1,886 522 — —
167,879 27,861 18,267 16,990
Total liabilities EERE 884,206 518,323 24,320 22,582
Total equity and liabilities  #E%% % & %8 2,814,721 2,650,655 1,953,913 2,209,684
Net current assets REEEFE 889,940 1,635,185 1,040,767 1,522,218
Total assets less current EEABRAE
liabilities =t 2,098,394 2,160,193 1,947,860 2,204,092
Approved by the Board of Directors on 3rd June 2009: ZEENFAA-HEZE SR
Goran Sture Malm John Saliling
Chairman and Executive Director Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer
TERHNTES HITERFRITIHABE

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of these financial

statements.

MBEREAM TR FNHERR 2 BB

F352008/09

[=)]
w

I TERMEIERBRAF




[=2]
ISy

Annual Report 2008/09

North Asia Strategic Holdings Limited

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Year ended 31st March-2009

S

— ==

NE=ZA=Z+—BI&EE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

RRRERBEAELY
Minority
Share capital Reserves Sub-total interests Total
R E4] Mt DERRER k)
Notes HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$000
fit st FHETL FET FHET FHET FET
Balances at 1st April 2007 R =—FZLEMA
—BiH 82,718 1,148,622 1,231,340 — 1,231,340
Translation adjustments — [ ¥ ;5% —
income and expense RERER
recognised directly in R Z WA
equity R, — 11,128 11,128 - 11,128
Decrease in fair value of tHEzS
available-for-sale financial ~ BEEAAE
assets VS 28 — (193) (193) — (193)
Loss for the year FRER = (72,590) (72,590) (10) (72,600)
Total recognised income FNEERMAKR
and expense for the year Y45 — (61,655) (61,655) (10) (61,665)
Issue of preference shares — Z17 & % 27,28 51,973 914,968 966,941 = 966,941
Share issue expenses — BOETER—
preference shares BER 28 = (5.970) (5,970) = (5,970)
Capital contribution from DY R A A
minority interests = = = 1,686 1,686
Balances at 31st March R-ZEENE=AH
2008 and 1st April 2008 =t+—-HRK
—EENF
R—Bz&&% 134,691 1,995,965 2,130,656 1,676 2,132,332
Translation adjustments — [& % % —
income and expense REREE
recognised directly in BRZWA
equity R — (72,316) (72,316) — (72,316)
Disposal of subsidiaries & &2 & 28 - (1,055) (1,055) — (1,055)
Actuarial gain from BREezRE
pension W 32 28 - 5,692 5,692 — 5,692
Impairment of fair value ~ TftHEZ &/
of available-for-sale EEAAERE
financial assets 28 - 193 193 - 193
Loss for the year ERER - (136,093) (136,093) (35) (136,128)
Total recognised income  FREBAWAK
and expense for XA
the year — (203,579) (203,579) (35) (203,614)
Capital contribution from D ERERKRARA
minority interests - — - 1,797 1,797
Balances at 31st March R-ZEZEHhE=RA
2009 St+-Hz&8 134,691 1,792,386 1,927,077 3,438 1,930,515

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of these financial

statements.
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
MERERER

Year ended 31st March 2009
HE-_ZTNF=ZA=+—8L1LFE

2009 2008
—EEhE ZETN\F
Notes HK$'000 HK$°000
HtaE FET FAET
(Restated)
(&E7))
Cash flows from operating activities RE XK >HLRE
Net cash used in operations LEESIERAZIRESFE  36() (55,720) (87,564)
Interest paid A B (34,735) (17,430)
Hong Kong profits tax refunded EENGHER 4,858 —
Hong Kong profits tax paid BEREBNER (4,456) (8,827)
Mainland China enterprise income BT B AR RS
tax paid (878) (2,478)
Overseas income tax paid EABINTIE R (55) (134)
Net cash used in operating activities WEEBER 2R 558 (90,986) (116,433)
Cash flows from investing activities REEBHHLRE
Investment in a jointly-controlled REREHEE KA -
entity, net of cash acquired Bk PTWEE IR & (334,319) =
Additions of property, plant and REME - BERZME
equipment (49,958) (13,572)
Additions of other non-current assets AREEMIERDEE (11,671) =
Additions of leasehold land and land NEMEE TR T
use rights {5 FA (2,300) (7,253)
Additions of intangible assets NBEEFLEE (777) (2,150)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME  BENMERE
plant and equipment FT1S R IA 1,757 1,809
Proceeds from disposal of HEAHEECSRMEE
available-for-sale financial assets FTi§ A 9,500 —
Proceeds from disposal of HEEMIERBEE
other non-current assets FT1§RIA 1,946 —
Disposal of subsidiaries L E KB A A 36(b) (58) =
Investment in available-for-sale HEEZEREE
financial assets 2B — (3,057)
Interest received 2 UA B 4,331 15,461
Increase in time deposits with original AU RETEIHAH B
maturity of more than three months =@ A Z & B\ERE N
when acquired (100) —
Decrease in pledged bank deposits EEBRITERZR D 2,304 1,509
Net cash used in investing activities WEFEEMERAZH ST (379,345) (7,253)

R F2008/09
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North Asia Strategic Holdings Limited

CONSOLIDATED:CASH FLOW STATEMENT
SFERERER

Year ended 31st.March 2009
BE-_TTNG-A=Z1THILFE

2009 2008
—EEhEF —TENF
Note HK$'000 HK$°000
HtaE FHETT FHET
(Restated)
(& E31)
Cash flows from financing activities BMEEFBH>HLRE
Issue of preference shares BITEER — 330,891
Receipt of subscription receivables L ER 33 B e W 3 IR 968,873 —
Share issue expenses D 2ITE R — (5,970)
Settlement of subscription payables HEEARZESEERE
to a jointly-controlled entity FETFRIR — (34,000)
Capital contribution from minority VERRER 2 ERER
interests 1,797 1,686
New bank loans FIBIRITER 881,760 1,096,668
Repayment of bank loans and BERTERIMERELD
finance leases (935,926) (1,077,904)
Net cash generated from financing RMEEHFAEE RS TS
activities 916,504 311,371
Increase in cash and cash equivalents & KBS EEEE 2 &M 446,173 187,685
Cash and cash equivalents at the FHzRERAESEHEER
beginning of the year 626,103 441,553
Effect of foreign exchange rate NEERSE2HE  FH
changes, net (8,793) (3,135)
Cash and cash equivalents at the FHRz2BESRALEEER
end of the year 1,063,483 626,103
Analysis of balances of cash and ReRELESEEBEHLER
cash equivalents ks
Cash at banks and on hand IRITRFERE 26 886,558 67,532
Non-pledged time deposits when RUEBERITHAE PR
original maturity of less than = {8 A zEK A E 5
three months when acquired F= 176,925 558,571
1,063,483 626,103

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of these financial B # RN T A ZIEHRR 2 BEILD -

statements.



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 R AR MY

31st March 2009
—EENF=A=+—8H

GENERAL INFORMATION

North Asia Strategic Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) and its jointly-controlled
entities are principally engaged in the following business:

o trading of surface mount technology (“SMT") assembly
equipment, machinery and spare parts and provision of
related installation, training, repair and maintenance services
for SMT assembly equipments;

o processing and sale of fishmeal, refining and sale of fish oil,
manufacturing and sale of aquatic feed products and trading
of other raw materials relating to aquatic feeds;

o developing and operating Burger King restaurants in Hong
Kong and Macau;

—REHR

EEREERBRRR([ARF]) R
HMBAR (AMIAKE]) REKRA
ZHEB T ENEATER

e XRERERM(MI EER
e EERTEMTE SN LR
SMTAEERE 2 HEZE - Fil -
HERRERTY

e AMMIREE - BUHBRKIE
& KERPE REERHE N
Ko HAth BR K EE 67 4 AR B8 2 [R A1
85

e REBRBRFZEREKEERTE
(Burger King) £ 2 ;

e manufacturing of polyester fiber, PET resin and spandex; and o  BUERMRMM - PETHIPE KRB MM
#R
o investment holding. o RERER-

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in Bermuda
as an exempted company under the Companies Act 1981 of
Bermuda. The address of its registered office is Clarendon House, 2
Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda and of its principal place
of business is 78th Floor, The Center, 99 Queen’s Road Central,
Hong Kong.

The Company’s ordinary shares are listed on The Growth Enterprise
Market of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

These financial statements are presented in thousand of Hong Kong
dollars, unless otherwise stated.

These financial statements have been approved for issue by the
Company's Board of Directors on 3rd June 2009.

RKARABRERERE-NAN—F27
ERBREGMKIZ2EREZBRA
a) o E ot #t == B2 2 #h 3k 7% Clarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11,
Bermuda * MEFE L EMU AT EE
fE REHROEHIRP 781 o

ARARZEBBRNEBBAR AR
NRIBIER ET -

BRBHPI  HEFBHHRRATET
FI{E -

HERBHRREN-_ZZNF A=A
RANFEETGHETIE
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Bt %5 R AR B

31st March 2009
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North Asia Strategic Holdings Limited

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
financial statements are set out below. These policies have been
consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise
stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs")
(which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs"”) and
Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA"), accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They
have been prepared under the historical cost convention,
except for available-for-sale financial assets and derivative
financial instruments, which have been measured at fair
value.

The preparation of financial statements in conforming with
HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise it
judgement on the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or
complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are
significant to the financial statements, are disclosed in note 4.

EESTHREE

RAEMEWBRRRAZEIZEAHR
HNTX - lRBARAI - WERKRAE
2 <MEFERNERER -

21 wmEEZE

I EMBHRIIRIEE L EFHED
RE([BEGHMAE]) R
BEMBHREERL ([ F8 5% H
iﬁﬁ'JJ)(@%Fﬁﬁ%‘}%Eﬂ%iﬁ%
ZA - FEREHERN(TEES
/EE'JJ)&;@%) BELRER
Al R & B R ARG E R E M
RE - WEMBRRDREBESE
RABOIRE EATHEEESR
EERTESBRIERARER

=

EL®

RENTATRMBRESERNZE
BREFBECLRETHREFMA
e ENHREEEBERALNE
B e BOR B 1T H HI e -
BEREEHHRERE 28R
K RHEPHERERRBERNOBR
KAt 2 BN HI 4 E -



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Br 35 SR Ak Y

31st March 2009

—ETZAF=A=1+—H

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(a)

Impact of new and revised HKFRSs

The Group has adopted the following new interpretations
and amendments to HKFRSs for the first time for the
current year’s financial statements. The adoption of these
new interpretations and amendments has had no
significant effect on these financial statements.

HKAS 39 and Amendments to HKAS 39 Financial
HKFRS 7 Instruments: Recognition and
Amendments Measurement and HKFRS 7

Financial Instruments: Disclosures
— Reclassification of Financial
Assets

HK(IFRIC)-Int 11 HKFRS 2 — Group and Treasury
Share Transactions

HK(IFRIC)-Int 12 Service Concession Arrangements

HK(IFRIC)-Int 14 HKAS 19 — The Limit on a Defined
Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding
Requirements and their
Interaction

The adoption of these new interpretations and
amendments has had no significant financial effect on
these financial statements and there have been no
significant changes to the accounting policies applied
in these financial statements.

2. EZETHEBEME#)

21 mBEEE)

(a

F AT R AE 65T & 78 RY B #R
FRER &
AEEE A FE RIS
RERFATINEBMBHR
ERANF R ERIERT o K
MEEFRERETHLE
MBEBRALBERTE -

BREIHENEORR FREHERENT
BRUBAREN  2HIA BEIRIER
F73 (883) BRUHAS RIS

PHTE: KB -
EFABAREENB

BE(ERMBRE  BEUBESENE
REREZEE)-  —£ERERRARS
REENR

BE(ERNBRE  RROSELH
EHREZEE)-

REENS

BE(EBMBRE  BESTENEI9H -
RURBZEEE)-  REEARERE:
REZUR REEEHER

AEZHEBR

BRI 3k e RIS RT $1t
FMBHRRALBERMBE
ERUEHHHRREANE
BRI EEAES -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt %5 R AR B

31st March 2009
—ETZAF=A=1+—H

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(b) Impact of issued but not yet effective HKFRSs

The Group has not applied the following new and
revised HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet
effective, in these financial statements.

HKFRS 1 and
HKAS 27
Amendments

HKFRS 1 (Revised)

HKFRS 2
Amendments

HKFRS 3 (Revised)

HKFRS 7

Amendments

HKFRS 8

HKAS 1 (Revised)

HKAS 23 (Revised)

HKAS 27 (Revised)

HKAS 32 and

HKAS 1
Amendments

HKAS 39
Amendment

Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time
Adoption of HKFRSs and HKAS 27
Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements — Cost of an Investment
in a Subsidiary, Jointly-Controlled
Entity or Associate’

First-time Adoption of HKFRSs?

Amendments to HKFRS 2 Share-based
Payment — Vesting Conditions and
Cancellations'

Business Combinations

Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial
Instruments: Disclosures — Improving
Disclosures about Financial
Instruments'

Operating Segments'

Presentation of Financial Statements'
Borrowing Costs'

Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements’

Amendments to HKAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation and
HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements — Puttable Financial
Instruments and Obligations Arising
on Liquidation'

Amendment to HKAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement — Eligible Hedged
Items’

2.

EZETBEME#)
21 REMEE(E)
(b) EBMEEKRENEER
BHREERWEE

EHEHBEHRRA - NEE
WARERBTIIEBRMERE
iﬁlﬁ’]%ﬁ%’T&Wﬂ%ﬂ%ﬁ%ﬂﬁ%

B LR -

FRUBRLEN  ERUBREEUZIE

SIRRERGHEN BAFHBEGRES

0% (863 EARERETED
FSEARER
BEEE—RWERA
HRERANE

BRUBREEN  BAFABEHERLEN

£15 (53T

BRUBRLEN  AREBRELUEE

£2% (8570 HRGE M3 —
BERRRAHME

BRUBRLEN A

£3% (M50

FRUBRLEN  FREBREEUETR

ERACEH) tHIA KE—4E
ERIANRENGT

BRMBREEN  AESE

£8%

BREiEN IEEZNES

E1% (830

B e e BERA
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31st March 2009
—ETZAF=A=1+—H

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EEZEETTBESZE®E)
POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (continued) 21 RBEE(E) §
(b) Impact of issued but not yet effective HKFRSs (b) EEMEEHKENEEE i
(continued) BHREER W& () 71
I
HK(FRIC)-Int 9 Amendments to HK(IFRIC)-Int 9 FE(AREBSE  AE(ARUERERE g
and HKAS 39 Reassessment of Embedded REZEE)-RE  Z32)-2EEW E
Amendments Derivatives and HKAS 39 SogREES BREASGATAR %
Financial Instruments: RAE0R(MET)  FAGHENENE iE%
Recognition and Measurement — EHTA BIRiE— =
Embedded Derivatives® HARITATANBT
HK(IFRIC)-Int 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes’ Bk (ARUBRERE FPEHTE
288)-REENE
HK(IFRIC)-Int 15 Agreements for the Construction of FE(ARTERLRE EREMENRY
Real Estate’ E8¢)-REEISE
HK(IFRIC)-Int 16 Hedges of a Net Investment in a B (AERRRERE JELERETEN
Foreign Operation* ZE€)-2EE16%
HK(IFRIC)-Int 17 Distribution of Non-cash Assets to 5 (ARG RRERE HELASFLELLE
Owners’ Z88)-2 %%Hﬁ
HK(FRIC)-Int 18 Transfers of Assets from Customers® Bk (ARUBRERE AEFPEREE
ZE8)-2BE®E
Apart from the above, the HKICPA has in October [ 1 NS = WTTR/N
2008, issued Improvements to HKFRSs* which sets out eNMR_ZEZ N\F+AHE
amendments to a number of HKFRSs primarily with a & BB & ER A 2K
view to removing inconsistencies and clarifying #E - HPFNEZEES
wording. Except for the amendment to HKFRS 5 which B S ¥R S ZE B MR B BB ET
is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st FEEMNAMBT—HAA
July 2009, other amendments are effective for annual RWESERE - BRBEBUH
periods beginning on or after 1st January 2009 WEEESKEMEITN =
although there are separate transitional provisions for ZZNFLA—Hzz2&HA
each standard. YRR E HAR LR RO - HoAh

BITAR_EEANF—A—
Bz KRABHFERREE
Mo MERBENNERHES
BEBRABEMERI
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt %5 R AR B

31st March 2009

—ETZAF=A=1+—H

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(b)

Impact of issued but not yet effective HKFRSs
(continued)

In addition, improvements to HKFRSs were issued in
May 2009 by HKICPA which contains amendments to
HKFRS 2, HKFRS 5, HKFRS 8, HKAS 1, HKAS 7, HKAS
17, Appendix to HKAS 18, HKAS 36, HKAS 38, HKAS
39, HK(IFRIC)-Int 9 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 16. Except for the
amendments to HKFRS 2, HKAS 38, HK(IFRIC)-Int 9 and
HK(IFRIC)-Int 16 which are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1st July 2009 and no transitional
provisions for amendment to Appendix to HKAS 18 has
been specified, other amendments are effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1st January 2010
although there are separate transitional provisions for
each standard.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1st January 2009

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st
July 2009

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st
July 2008

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1st October 2008

Effective for transfers of assets from customers received
on or after 1st July 2009

Effective for annual periods ending on or after 30th
June 2009

2.

EESTBREBE(#)

21 RBEEE(E)

(b)
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31st March 2009
—ETZAF=A=1+—H

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EEZEETTBESZE®E)
POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (continued) 21 REHE(E) g
(b) Impact of issued but not yet effective HKFRSs (b) EEMEEHKENEEE W
(selititics) BRGNS () 73
* Improvements to HKFRSs contains amendments to * B S0 B E EA M B

EREHEEMBRE
HERFES5 - BEM B R
EERETS BEGE
ERE 1S BEGAHAE
Al - HE G ER

HKFRS 5, HKFRS 7, HKAS 1, HKAS 8, HKAS 10, HKAS
16, HKAS 18, HKAS 19, HKAS 20, HKAS 23, HKAS 27,
HKAS 28, HKAS 29, HKAS 31, HKAS 34, HKAS 36,
HKAS 38, HKAS 39, HKAS 40 and HKAS 41.

I TERMEIERBRAF

The Group is in the process of making an assessment
of the impact of these new and revised HKFRSs upon
initial application. So far, it has concluded that while
the adoption of HKFRS 8 and HKAS 1 (Revised) may
result in new or amended disclosures and the adoption
of HKFRS 3 (Revised) and HKAS 27 (Revised) may result
in changes in accounting policies, these new and
revised HKFRSs are unlikely to have a significant impact
on the Group’s results of operations and financial
position.

F105% - BEEEER
F16% - BE G ER
E18%% - BA G %A
F19% - BEEEER
F205% - FEE S ER
E23%5% - BA G EA
F275% - BAE S AR
F285% - A G ER
F295% - BA G EA
F315% - BEEETER
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%365 - BA LA %A
#3855 - BAE AR
F39% - BEAE G ER

|
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2.

NE=ZA=+—H

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year
ended 31st March 2009.

(a)

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including special purpose
entities) over which the Group has the power to govern
the financial and operating policies generally
accompanying a shareholding of more than one half of
the voting rights. The existence and effect of potential
voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible
are considered when assessing whether the Group
controls another entity.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on
which control is transferred to the Group. They are de-
consolidated from the date that control ceases.

The purchase method of accounting is used to account
for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group. The
cost of an acquisition is measured as the fair value of
the assets given, equity instruments issued and liabilities
incurred or assumed at the date of exchange, plus costs
directly attributable to the acquisition. Identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities
assumed in a business combination are measured
initially at their fair values at the acquisition date,
irrespective of the extent of any minority interest. The
excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of
the Group’s share of the identifiable net assets acquired
is recorded as goodwill. If the cost of acquisition is less
than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary
acquired, the difference is recognised directly in the
income statement.

Transactions, balances and unrealised gains on
transactions within the Group are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the
asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries
have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.

POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Basis of consolidation (continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

Subsidiaries (continued)

In the Company’s balance sheet, the investments in
subsidiaries are stated at cost less provision for
impairment losses. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted by the Company on the basis of dividends
received and receivable.

Jointly-controlled entities

The Group’s interests in jointly-controlled entities are
accounted for by proportionate consolidation. The
Group combines its share of the jointly-controlled
entities’ individual income and expenses, assets and
liabilities and cash flows on a line-by-line basis with
similar items in the Group’s financial statements. The
Group recognises the portion of gains or losses on the
sale of assets by the Group to the jointly-controlled
entities that it is attributable to the other venturers. The
Group does not recognise its share of profits or losses
from the jointly-controlled entities that result from the
Group’s purchase of assets from the jointly-controlled
entities until it resells the assets to an independent
party. However, a loss on the transaction is recognised
immediately if the loss provides evidence of a reduction
in the net realisable value of current assets, or an
impairment loss.

Transactions with minority interests

The Group applies a policy of treating transactions with
minority interests as transactions with parties external
to the Group. Disposals to minority interests result in
gains and losses for the Group that are recorded in the
consolidated income statement. Purchases from
minority interests result in goodwill, being the
difference between any consideration paid and the
relevant share acquired of the carrying value of net
assets of the subsidiary.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Segment reporting

24

A business segment is a group of assets and operations
engaged in providing products or services that are subject to
risks and returns that are different from those of other
business segments. A geographical segment is engaged in
providing products or services within a particular economic
environment that are subject to risks and returns that are
different from those of segments operating in other economic
environments.

Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is the Company’s presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation at year-end
exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in
the income statement.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to
borrowings and cash and cash equivalents are
presented in the consolidated income statement with
“finance income or costs”. All other foreign exchange
gains and losses are presented in the income statement
within “other gains” or “administrative expenses”.

Changes in the fair value of monetary securities
denominated in foreign currency classified as available
for sale are analysed between translation differences
resulting from changes in the amortised cost of the
security, and other changes in the carrying amount of
the security. Translation differences related to changes
in amortised cost are recognised in profit or loss, and
other changes in carrying amount are recognised in
equity.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EEZEETTBESZE®E)
POLICIES (continued)
2.4 Foreign currency translation (continued) 24 HEBE(E) g
(b) Transactions and balances (continued) (b)) XZRAZER(E) i
Translation differences on non-monetary financial BEAABERBEIRERRE o
assets and liabilities such as equities held at fair value ZRAFBHEIEEE LS/
through profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss as EENBEZHREZREAIR E
part of the fair value gain or loss. Translation differences HPERBARBEE - H =
on non-monetary financial assets such as equities BAAEHEHEZRAEZESE =
classified as available for sale are included in the FEMESRMEECHREE f*;%
investment revaluation reserve in equity. R Em AT ERE B &é
& o -
(c) Group’s entities (c) EELF

The results and financial position of all the entities
within the Group (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency are
translated into the presentation currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each balance sheet
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presented are translated at the closing rate at the FAZEERBER
date of that balance sheet; ZEEBEXRBHZ
WiERBE

(i) income and expenses for each income statement
are translated at average exchange rates (unless
this average is not a reasonable approximation of
the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on
the transaction dates, in which case income and
expenses are translated at the dates of the
transactions); and

(i) all resulting exchange differences are recognised
as a separate component of equity.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from
the translation of the net investment in foreign
operations, and of borrowings and other currency
instruments designated as hedges of such investments,
are taken to shareholders’ equity. When a foreign
operation is partially disposed of or sold, exchange
differences that were recorded in equity are recognised
in the income statement as part of the gain or loss on
sale.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EEZEETTBESZE®E)
POLICIES (continued)
2.4 Foreign currency translation (continued) 24 HEBE(E)
(c) Group’s entities (continued) (c) EBEARA(E)

N
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Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the
closing rate.

2.5 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced
part is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are
charged to the income statement during the period in which
they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated
using the straight-line method to allocate their costs to their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Freehold land Not depreciated

Buildings 20 to 50 years

Leasehold improvements 3 to 25 years

Furniture and fixtures and office 3 to 10 years
equipment

Motor vehicles 3 1o 6 years

Plant and machinery and 8 to 10 years

demonstration equipment

Construction in progress is stated at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. It is not depreciated until completion of
construction and the asset is available for use. The cost of
completed construction works is transferred to the
appropriate categories of property, plant and equipment and
depreciated in accordance with the policy as stated above.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.

POLICIES (continued)

25

2.6

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater
than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing
proceeds with carrying amounts and are charged to the
income statement.

Investment properties

Property that is held for long-term rental yields or for capital
appreciation or both, and that is not occupied by the Group,
is classified as investment property.

Investment property is carried at cost including related
transaction costs, less accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is provided using the straight-line method to
write off the cost of the investment property over its
estimated useful life of 32 years. Where the carrying amount
of an investment property is greater than its estimated
recoverable amount, it is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount.

Subsequent expenditure is charged to the asset’s carrying
amount only when it is probable that future economic
benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and
the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs
and maintenance costs are expensed in the income statement
during the financial period in which they are incurred.

If an investment property becomes owner-occupied, it is
reclassified as property, plant and equipment, and its carrying
amount at the date of reclassification becomes its cost for
accounting purposes.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

2.7 Leasehold land and land use rights

Leasehold land and land use rights are stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment
losses. Amortisation of leasehold land and land use rights is
calculated on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

2.8 Intangible assets

(a) Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an
acquisition over the fair value of the Group's share of
the net identifiable assets of the acquired subsidiaries
or jointly-controlled entities at the date of acquisition.
Goodwill on acquisition of subsidiaries and jointly-
controlled entities is included in intangible assets.
Separately recognised goodwill is tested annually for
impairment and carried at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. Impairment losses on goodwill are
not reversed. Gains and losses on the disposal of an
entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating

to the entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units ("CGU")
for the purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is
made to those CGUs or groups of CGUs that are
expected to benefit from the business combination in
which the goodwill arose. The Group allocates goodwill
to each business segment in each country in which it

operates.

(b) Other intangible assets

The acquired trademarks and licences, non-compete
agreements, distribution agreements, customer
relationships, technology knowhow, and development
rights and franchises are shown at historical cost. They
have a finite useful life and are carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation, and accumulated

impairment loss.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.

POLICIES (continued)

2.8

2.9

Intangible assets (continued)

(b) Other intangible assets (continued)
Amortisation of customer relationships, trademarks
and licences, technology knowhow, distribution
agreements, development rights and franchises, and
non-compete agreements is calculated using the
straight-line method to allocate the cost over their
estimated useful lives, as follows:
Customer relationships 3 1o 4 years

9 to 15 years

6 to 10 years

Trademarks
Technology knowhow

Distribution agreements 3 years

Development rights and 10 years
franchise fees

Non-compete agreements, 5 1o 6 years

included in others

Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on
the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to
use the specific software. These costs are amortised
over their estimated useful lives (three to six years).

Impairment of investments in subsidiaries and non-
financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life or have not yet
available for use are not subject to amortisation and are
tested annually for impairment. Assets are reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the
asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less
costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest level for which
there are separately identifiable cash flows. Non-financial
assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each
reporting date.

BEESHHEBRE (&)
28 EREE(£)

29

(b) EHMEEEE (&)
EFPBFE BARERERF F
XM - DiEmE - BRE
AR R DA R D3 1 2
BT R A AT A5 A 2 A
FHRRABRERED #
AHE

BEBE 3EAE
L 9% 154
BERM 6% 104F
Pol i 34
R AN AR 104

HiBBEREZ  5E64F
P F 3

FriEE 2 BB E AR
BEERERZEELH
EEZRAERL - ZEK
A EGFAEABFHG
E65F)HH -

RAEBRAAZRERFETHME
ERE

AT £ P 4R B IR o i R AT (R AR
ZEEBRFBRERTFETH
EAR - BEEFHHARNER
NEBREREEREERKD
B BEESETRERS - BE
BERREEZREEBLETK
Oe@EsZHER - JREER
NEEZREREERARE
REEMEZREE RE - #&l
BREMS - BEJIIZE LA H
HEEREZKREERES - H
BREHSREE (FHERIN)
RERRE LT REELRE
ZE e

F352008/09

(o]
-

EERBIZERBR AR




Annual Report 2008/09

o]
N

North Asia Strategic Holdings Limited

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt %5 R AR B

31st March 2009
NF=ZA=+—H

— ==

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.10

2.1

212

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets are classified as assets held for sale when
their carrying amount is to be recovered principally through a
sale transaction and a sale is considered highly probable. They
are stated at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less
costs to sell if their carrying amount is to be recovered
principally through a sale transaction rather than through
continuing use.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out method
or weighted average method. The cost of finished goods and
work in progress comprises raw materials, direct labour, other
direct costs and related production overheads (based on
normal operating capacity). It excludes borrowing costs. Net
realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business, less applicable variable selling expenses.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less accumulated impairment
losses. A provision for impairment of trade and other
receivables is established when there is objective evidence
that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due
according to the original terms of receivables. Significant
financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor
will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and default
or delinquency in payments are considered as indicators that
the receivable is impaired. The amount of the provision is the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at
the original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the
assets is reduced through the use of an allowance account,
and the amount of the loss is recognised in the income
statement. When a receivable is uncollectible, it is written off
against the allowance account for receivables. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited in
the income statement.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EEZEETTBESZE®E)
POLICIES (continued)
2.13 Financial assets 213 SMEE g
(a) Classification (a #E i
The Group classifies its financial assets in the following REBBHEEREESEAR 83
categories: at fair value through profit or loss, loans AT $ER : IR AES BRI -
and receivables and available-for-sale. The classification RIBZEE B NERR g
depends on the purpose for which the financial assets TE LA R Al it & o itk F8ER e
were acquired. Management determines the RNWESRMEEZHH ° &
classification of its financial assets at initial recognition. EEENSHEIARETH ffé
THREE R - =
()  Financial assets at fair value through profit or () BRAARBEIERILNE
loss HEEZEHEE
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss EARBEYERILNIE
are financial assets held for trading. A financial HREZEMEER
asset is classified in this category if acquired BFEXFz2emBE
principally for the purpose of selling in the short E-MliECEER
term. Derivatives are also categorised as held for BT R EHE & - Al
trading unless they are designated as hedges. THEESWOIER
Assets in this category are classified as current R - TTET AR
assets. WOBEBFRIER S
bRIEH B IEE Y
oo R 2 B E R
DERREDEE -
(i)  Loans and receivables @iy BERREHKKT

Loans and receivable are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments that
are not quoted in an active market. They are
included in current assets, except for maturities
greater than 12 months after the balance sheet
date. These are classified as non-current assets.
The Group’s loans and receivables comprise
“trade and other receivables”, “subscription
receivables” and “cash and cash equivalents” in
the balance sheet.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.13 Financial assets (continued)

(a)

(b)

Classification (continued)

(iii)  Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-
derivatives that are either designated in this
category or not classified in any of the other
categories. They are included in non-current
assets unless management intends to dispose of
the investment within 12 months of the balance
sheet date.

Recognition and measurement

Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date — the date on which the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Investments are initially recognised at fair value plus
transaction costs. Financial assets are derecognised
when the rights to receive cash flows from the
investments have expired or have been transferred and
the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership. Available-for-sale financial assets
are subsequently carried at fair value. Loans and
receivables are carried at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

Changes in the fair value of monetary securities
denominated in a foreign currency and classified as
available for sale are analysed between translation
differences resulting from changes in amortised cost of
the security and other changes in the carrying amount
of the security. The translation differences on monetary
securities are recognised in profit or loss, while
translation differences on non-monetary securities are
recognised in equity. Changes in the fair value of
monetary and non-monetary securities classified as
available for sale are recognised in equity.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.

POLICIES (continued)

2.13 Financial assets (continued)

(b)

Recognition and measurement (continued)

When securities classified as available for sale are sold
or impaired, the accumulated fair value adjustments
recognised in equity are included in the income
statement.

The fair values of quoted investments are based on
current bid prices. If the market for a financial asset is
not active (and for unlisted securities), the Group
establishes fair value by using valuation techniques.
These include the use of recent arm’s length
transactions, reference to other instruments that are
substantially the same, a discounted cash flow analysis,
and option pricing models, making maximum use of
market inputs and relying as little as possible on entity-
specific inputs.

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether
there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a
group of financial assets is impaired. A significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below
its cost is considered as an indicator that the securities
are impaired. If any such evidence exists for available-
for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss —
measured as the difference between the acquisition
cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss
on that a financial asset previously recognised in profit
or loss — is removed from equity and recognised in the
income statement. Impairment losses recognised in the
income statement on equity instruments are not
reversed through the income statement.

2.14 Derivative financial instruments

The Group’s derivative financial instruments do not qualify for
hedge accounting. They are initially recognised at fair value
on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are

subsequently remeasured at their fair value. Changes in the

fair value of these derivative financial instruments are
recognised immediately in the income statement.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.15 Cash and cash equivalents

2.16

217

2.18

For the purpose of the cash flow statement, cash and cash
equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with
banks, other short-term highly liquid investments with original
maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts. For
the purpose of the balance sheets, cash and cash equivalents
comprise cash on hand and at banks, including term deposits
which are not restricted as to use. Bank overdrafts are shown
within borrowings in current liabilities on the balance sheet.

Share capital

Ordinary shares and non-redeemable preference shares are
classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of
tax, from the proceeds.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

Borrowings

(a) Borrowings other than convertible bonds
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
stated at amortised cost; any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
value is recognised in the income statement over the
period of the borrowings using the effective interest
method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement
of the liability for at least 12 months after the balance
sheet date.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.
POLICIES (continued)

EESTBREBE(#)

2.18 Borrowings (continued) 218 B8 (&)

(b) Convertible bonds

The fair value of the liability portion of convertible
bonds is determined using a market interest rate for
equivalent non-convertible bonds. This amount is
recorded as a liability on an amortised cost basis until
extinguished on conversion, maturity or redemption of
the bonds. The remainder of the proceeds is allocated
to the conversion option. This is recognised and
included in equity, net of income tax effects, if any.

2.19 Current and deferred income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of
the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance
sheet date in the countries where the Group operate and
generate taxable income. Management periodically evaluates
positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in
which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation
and establish provisions where appropriate on the basis of
amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in
the consolidated financial statements. However, the deferred
income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than
a business combination that at the time of the transaction
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred
income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have
been enacted or substantially enacted by the balance sheet
date and are expected to apply when the related deferred
income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability
is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that
it is probable that future taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences
arising on investments in subsidiaries, except where the
timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled
by the Group and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.20 Employee benefits

(a)

(b)

Employee leave entitlement

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service
leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for annual
leave and long service leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the balance sheet date.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

Pension obligations

The Group participates in defined contribution plans
except for a jointly-controlled entity where it operates a
defined benefit plan.

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under
which the Group pays contributions to state/trustee-
administered funds on a mandatory, contractual or
voluntary basis. The Group has no further payment
obligations once the contributions have been paid. The
contributions are recognised as employment costs
when they are due.

A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that is not a
defined contribution plan. Typically, defined benefit
plans define an amount of pension benefits that an
employee will receive on retirement, usually dependent
on one or more factors such as age, years of services
and compensation.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.

POLICIES (continued)

2.20 Employee benefits (continued)

(b)

(c)

Pension obligations (continued)

The liability recognised in the balance sheet in respect
of defined benefit pension plans is the present value of
the defined benefit obligation at the balance sheet
date less the fair value of plan assets, together with
adjustments for unrecognised past-service costs. The
defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by
independent actuaries using the projected unit credit
method. The present value of the defined benefit
obligation is determined by discounting the estimated
future cash outflow, using interest rate of high-quality
corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency
in which the benefits will be paid, and that have terms
to maturity approximating to the terms of the related
pension liability.

Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience
adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are
charged or credited to equity in the statement of
recognised income and expense (the “SORIE”) in the
period in which they arise.

Past-service costs are recognised immediately in the
income statement, unless the changes to the pension
plan are conditional on the employees remaining in
service for a specified period of time (the vesting
period). In this case, the past-service costs are amortised
on a straight-line basis over the vesting period.

Bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an expense for
bonuses. It recognises a provision where contractually
obliged or where there is a past practice that has
created a constructive obligation.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.21

2.22

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal
or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, and the amount has been reliably
estimated.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is
determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole.
A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow
with respect to any one item included in the same class of
obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage
of time is recognised as interest expense.

Revenue recognition

Revenue comprises the fair value of consideration received or
receivable for the sales of goods and services in the ordinary
course of the Group’s activities. Revenue is shown, net of
value added tax, rebates and discounts and after eliminating
sales within the Group. Revenue is recognised as follows:

(a) Sales revenue
Revenue from sales of goods is recognised when a
group entity has delivered products to the customer,
the customer has accepted the products and
collectibility of the related receivables is reasonably
assured or when significant risks and rewards of
ownership of goods have passed to the buyer.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.22

2.23

2.24

Revenue recognition (continued)

(b) Commission, service and management fee
income
Commission, service and management fee income are
recognised when the services are rendered, by
reference to completion of the specific transaction
assessed on the basis of the actual service provided as a
proportion of the total services to be provided.

(c) Interestincome
Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis
using the effective interest method.

(d) Rental income
Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over
the term of the relevant lease.

Advance payments received from customers prior to delivery
of goods and provision of services are recorded as receipts in
advance.

Operating leases (as the lessee)

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards
of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as
operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net
of any incentives received from the lessor) are charged to the
income statement on a straight-line basis over the period of
the lease.

Operating leases (as the lessor)

Assets leased out under operating leases are included in
property, plant and equipment in the balance sheet. They are
depreciated over their expected useful lives on a basis
consistent with similar property, plant and equipment. Rental
income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2,25

2.26

2.27

Finance leases (as the lessor)

When assets are leased out under a finance lease, the present
value of the lease payments is recognised as a receivable. The
difference between the gross receivable and the present value
of the receivable is recognised as unearned finance income.

Lease income is recognised over the term of the lease using
the net investment method, which reflects a constant periodic
rate of return.

Finance leases (as the lessee)

The Group leases certain property, plant and equipment.
Leases of property, plant and equipment where the Group
has acquired substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership are classified as finance leases. Finance leases are
capitalised at the lease’s commencement at the lower of the
fair value of the leased property and the present value of the
minimum lease payments.

Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and
finance charges so as to achieve a constant rate on the
finance balance outstanding. The corresponding rental
obligations, net of finance charges, are included in other
short-term and other long-term payables. The interest
element of the finance cost is charged to the income
statement over the lease period so as to produce a constant
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the
liability for each period. Leased assets are depreciated using a
straight-line basis over their expected useful lives to residual
values.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset that
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for
its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of
that asset. All other borrowing costs are charged to the
income statement in the period in which they are incurred.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.28 Financial guarantees

A financial guarantee (a kind of insurance contract) is a
contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments
to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified
debtor fails to make payments when due in accordance with
the original or modified terms of a debt instrument. The
Group does not recognise liabilities for financial guarantees at
inception, but performs a liability adequacy test at each
reporting date by comparing its net liability regarding the
financial guarantee with the amount that would be required
if the financial guarantee would result in a present legal or
constructive obligation. If the liability is less than its present
legal or constructive obligation amount, the entire difference
is recognised in the income statement immediately.

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

341

Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
market risk (including currency risk, fair value interest rate
risk, cash flow interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on
the Group’s financial performance. The Group uses derivative
financial instruments to hedge certain risk exposures.

Risk management is carried out by the finance department of
the Company under policies approved by the Board of
Directors. The finance department identifies, evaluates and
hedges financial risks in close co-operation with the Group’s
operating units. The board provides written principles for
overall risk management, as well as written policies covering
specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk,
credit risk, use of derivative financial instruments and non-
derivative financial instruments, and investment of excess
liquidity.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(a) Market risk

(i)

Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates in Hong Kong, Mainland
China and other Asia Pacific regions and is
exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from
various currency exposures, primarily with respect
to United States dollars (“US dollar”), Japanese
Yen and Korean Won. Foreign exchange risk
arises from future commercial transactions,
recognised assets and liabilities and net
investments in foreign operations.

Management has set up a policy to require
entities within the Group to manage their foreign
exchange risk against their functional currency.
To manage their foreign exchange risk arising
from future commercial transactions and
recognised assets and liabilities, entities within
the Group use forward contracts. Foreign
exchange risk arises when future commercial
transactions or recognised assets or liabilities are
denominated in a currency that is not the entity’s
functional currency.

The Group has certain investments in foreign
operations, whose net assets are exposed to
foreign currency translation risk. Currency
exposure arising from the net assets of the
Group’s foreign operations is managed primarily
through borrowings denominated in the relevant
foreign currencies.

Hong Kong dollar is pegged to US dollar at a
range of rates between 7.75 and 7.85, the
foreign exchange exposure between US dollar
and Hong Kong dollar is therefore limited.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3.

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)

(i)

Foreign exchange risk (continued)

At 31st March 2009, if Japanese Yen had
weakened/strengthened by 20% against the
Hong Kong dollar with all other variables held
constant, loss for the year would have been
HK$3,653,000 (2008: HK$24,415,000) lower/
higher, mainly as a result of foreign exchange
gains/losses on translation of Japanese Yen
denominated trade payables. Equity would have
been HK$271,000 (2008: HK$696,000) lower/
higher, arising mainly from foreign exchange
losses/gains on translation of Japanese Yen
denominated equity securities classified as
available for sale.

At 31st March 2009, if Korean Won had
weakened/strengthened by 20% against the US
dollar with all other variables held constant, loss
for the year would have been HK$15,145,000
lower/higher, mainly as a result of foreign
exchange gains/losses on translation of US dollar
denominated trade receivables and trade
payables to a jointly-controlled entity whose
functional currency is in Korean Won.

At 31st March 2009, if Korean Won had
weakened/strengthened by 20% against the
Hong Kong dollar with other variables held
constant, equity would have been
HK$45,612,000 lower/higher, arising mainly
from foreign exchange losses/gains on translation
of Korean Won denominated trade receivables,
trade payables and borrowings.
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3.

NE=ZA=+—H

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Price risk
The Group is exposed to equity securities price
risk arising from its available-for-sale financial
assets. The Group is not exposed to commodity
price risk.

The available-for-sale financial assets are mainly
listed equity instruments in Japan and if the fair
value of these equity instruments increased or
decreased by 5%, the Group’s equity would have
been increased or decreased by approximately
HK$68,000 (2008: HK$174,000).

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

As the Group has no significant interest-bearing
assets except for cash and cash equivalents,
pledged bank deposits and subscription
receivables, the income and operating cash flows
are substantially independent of changes in
market interest rates.

The cash and cash equivalents and pledged bank
deposits are interest-bearing at floating rate and
expose the Group to the cash flow interest rate
risk. The subscription receivables are interest-
bearing at fixed interest rate and expose the
Group to the fair value interest rate risk.

3.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3. MERKBEE#)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 31 MBEBEE(E)
(a) Market risk (continued) (a) mHEERE(E)
(i)  Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk iy FEERERRQALEAN
(continued) =R ()
The interest rate risk from financial liabilities © BB EF R kK
arises from borrowings and convertible bonds. BEE KA BRK f%
Borrowings that are subject to variable rates % RAER R E
expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. ZEESAEEMEE
Convertible bonds are interest-bearing at fixed HenEFERER -
rate and expose the Group to fair value interest A AR (& 5 2 E E R
rate risk. R B MmeARE
B AL ERER
B o
At 31st March 2009, if interest rates on RZEZNF=A=
borrowings had been 100 basis points higher/ ‘l’ H: fWfrHE Etd
lower with all other variables held constant, loss & % 17?< BAEg BE
for the year would have been HK$1,583,000 MEAS,#AIEI00
(2008: HK$1,310,000) higher/lower, mainly as a & %?ﬁ FANEHEG
result of higher/lower interest expense on # 50, 8 41,583,000
floating rate borrowings. BIT(ZZEZENF:
1,310,000/ 7T) © £ £
EEEBEZMEX
3R A BT
(b) Credit risk (b) FEEREE
Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, FERBREEEEREE

pledged bank deposits, subscription receivables, trade
receivables and certain other receivables.

The Group has policies in place to ensure that sales are
made to customers with an appropriate financial
strength and appropriate percentage of down payment.
It also has other monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In
addition, the Group regularly reviews the recoverable
amount of each individual receivable to ensure that
adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. The Group has no significant concentrations
of credit risks, with exposure spread over a number of
counterparties and customers, except for the
subscription receivables.

BHIER -  BEEARTER
WL\E%FEL&/T)\ g%ﬁ%”&%\
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3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

(b)

(c)

Credit risk (continued)

The carrying amount of the receivables included in the
consolidated balance sheet represents the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to these
financial assets. The credit risk for bank deposits and
bank balances and subscription receivables is
considered by the Group to be minimal as such
amounts are generally placed with banks with good
ratings or due by international recognised financial
institutions. As at 31st March 2009, short-term bank
deposits of HK$176,758,000 (2008: HK$458,000,000)
were made to a bank with credit rating of no less than A.

No credit limits were exceeded during the reporting
period, and management does not expect any losses
from non-performance by counterparties. The Group
does not hold any collateral as security.

Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining
sufficient cash and marketable securities, the availability
of funding through an adequate amount of committed
credit facilities and the ability to close out market
positions. Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying
businesses, the Group maintains flexibility in funding by
maintaining availability under committed credit lines.

Due to the capital intensive nature of the Group's
business, the Group ensures that it maintains sufficient
cash and credit lines to meet its liquidity requirements.

3.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3. HMEKEKBER®)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 31 BBEBREE(AE) 2
(c) Liquidity risk (continued) (c) mEMREpE (E) é
Management monitors rolling forecasts of the Group’s EREEEALERE & i

liquidity reserve which comprises undrawn borrowing
facilities and cash and cash equivalents on the basis of
expected cash flows. The Group’s policy is to regularly
monitor current and expected liquidity requirements
and its compliance with lending covenants, to ensure
that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and
adequate committed lines of funding from major
financial institutions to meet its liquidity requirements
in the short and longer term.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities
and net-settled derivative financial liabilities into
relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining
period at the balance sheet to the contractual maturity
date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the
contractual undiscounted cash flows.

BZREER - R BEN
BEHREREREEN R
REFRE ReLkReF
BEEHE - AKBZERERTE
HREE LR LS
KIARETREERE - A
RACHRSFHBEIREE
TREBRSESHAER
BERD  WhREHMERE
HIERE MR K ©

TERNEBEERBEXREZEARY
B 2 MERHIR A EE
HAKETRABNIFEHE
TESRmABEETHRBENE
HOBEIN - RPEMEEZ
RBDRANKRTRABER

=
= °

Less than Between 1 Between 2 Over
1year and2years and>5 years 5 years Total
155 R 122F 2E5F HBBSF ok
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET FHET FHET
At 31st March 2009 R-EEHhE
=A=t-H
Borrowings BE 376,706 78,336 913 654 456,609
Derivative financial TESBMIA
instruments — — 9,069 — 9,069
Trade and other payables & 5 JE (T HIE K
H it A FIR 351,703 — — — 351,703
Convertible bonds ARRES — 20,000 — — 20,000
728,409 98,336 9,982 654 837,381
At 31st March 2008 RZZZNEF
=R=+—H
Borrowings &8 183,570 8,043 1,748 771 194,132
Derivative financial fTESRTIA
instruments 310 — — — 310
Trade and other payables & 5 &t B |
Hit AN FOR 300,776 — — — 300,776
Convertible bonds RRES — — 20,000 — 20,000
484,656 8,043 21,748 771 515,218
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3.

hEFE=HA=+—H
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3. MERRERE#E)
3.2 Capital risk management 32 BEXREAKER
The Group's objectives when managing capital are to AREBEBEARAZBEZETNARE
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern AEBENEBERBERFELEE
in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for g DLBIER R B R & HE A
other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital BREFZE UWREFEE 2 ENRN
structure to reduce the cost of capital. BERDEREAR o
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group BHEESABREREE K&
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, AFAERNBRRZKRE BERZ
return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets BEARBIR BTHFROK AR
to reduce debt. BEMEEEESKIE -
Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors MEMEZE &% ASEUEE
capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is BELXREAERERN -BES
calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net debt/cash BHEEXRZFABRIUNEE KT
is calculated as total borrowings (including “current and non- H-FEE HeRBEE (BE
current borrowings” as shown in the consolidated balance REBEEBBERMESZIME RIE
sheet), and convertible bonds less pledged bank deposits, and REBEE])  aTBRRESRDIE
cash and cash equivalents. Total capital is calculated as HIRITERARBE S RREEE
“equity” as shown in the consolidated balance sheet plus net HEFE BEAERGAEEESR
debt/cash. BERAHBZERINMEFEES
WEFH -
During the year ended 31st March 2009, the Group’s strategy, HE-_ZTTZNF=RA=+—HI
which was unchanged from last year, was to maintain net FE KEEBREAEFZRE
cash position. The net cash positions at 31st March 2009 and WIEEFEERL  —EZNFEHM
2008 were analysed as follows: —EENF=A=1+—RH2FR
eMAPTAT
2009 2008
—EZAEF —ET)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FrE T
Borrowings (note 29) &8 (MfiE29) 437,296 193,174
Convertible bonds (note 32) AR E S (K aE32) 18,267 16,990
Sub-total N 455,563 210,164
Less: Cash and cash equivalents and B ReERBFEEEEER
pledged bank deposits (note 26) LA K B R IR 1T 3K
(ftit26) 1,109,669 674,493
Net cash FEE 654,106 464,329
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3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3

Fair value estimation

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets
(such as available-for-sale securities) is based on quoted
market prices at the balance sheet date. The quoted market
price used for financial assets held by the Group is the current
bid price.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in
an active market (for example, over-the-counter derivatives) is
determined by using valuation techniques. The Group uses a
variety of methods and makes assumptions that are based on
market conditions existing at each balance sheet date.
Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments
are used for long-term debt. Other techniques, such as
estimated discounted cash flows, are used to determine fair
value for the remaining financial instruments. The fair value
of interest rate swaps is calculated as the present value of the
estimated future cash flows. The fair value of forward foreign
exchange contracts is determined using quoted forward
exchange rates at the balance sheet date.

The carrying value less impairment provision of trade
receivables and payables are assumed to approximate to their
fair values. The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure
purposes is estimated by discounting the future contractual
cash flows at the current market interest rate that is available
to the Group for similar financial instruments.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based
on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of
future events that are believed to be reasonable under the

circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.

The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal
the related actual results. The estimates that have a significant risk
of causing material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

41

4.2

4.3

Useful lives and residual values of property, plant
and equipment and intangible assets

The Group’s management determines the estimated useful
lives, residual values and related depreciation charges for its
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets. This
estimate is based on the historical experience of the actual
useful lives of property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets of similar nature and functions. Management will
increase the depreciation charge where useful lives are less
than previously estimated lives, it will write-off or write-down
technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been
abandoned or sold. Actual economic lives may differ from
estimated useful lives; actual residual values may differ from
estimated residual values. Periodic review could result in a
change in depreciable lives and residual values and therefore
depreciation expense in the future periods.

Goodwill impairment assessment

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any
impairment, in accordance with the accounting policy stated
in note 2.9 to the financial statements. For the purposes of
impairment testing, goodwill acquired has been allocated to
individual CGUs which are reviewed for impairment based on
forecast operating performance and cash flows. The
recoverable amount of an asset or a CGU has been
determined based on value in use calculations. Cash flow
projections are prepared on the basis of reasonable
assumptions reflective of prevailing and future market
conditions, and are discounted appropriately.

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business, less variable selling
expenses. These estimates are based on the current market
condition and the historical experience of selling products of
similar nature. It could change significantly as a result of
changes in customer demand and competitor actions.
Management reassesses these estimates at each balance
sheet date.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 4.

JUDGEMENTS (continued)

4.4

4.5

4.6

Estimated recoverability of trade and other
receivables

The Group’s management determines the provision for
impairment of trade and other receivables based on an
assessment of the recoverability of the receivables. This
assessment is based on the credit history of its customers and
other debtors and the current market condition, and requires
the use of judgements and estimates. Management reassesses
the provision at each balance sheet date.

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes mainly in Hong Kong,
Mainland China and Republic of Korea. Significant judgement
is required in determining the amount of the provision for
income taxes. There are certain transactions and calculations
for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during
the ordinary course of business. Where the final tax outcome
of these matters is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax
and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such
determination is made.

Recognition of deferred tax assets, which principally relate to
tax losses, depends on the management’s expectation of
future taxable profit that will be available against which the
tax losses can be utilised. The outcome of their actual
utilisation may be different.

Pension benefits

The present value of the pension obligations depends on a
number of factors that are determined on an actuarial basis
using a number of assumptions. The assumptions used in
determining the net cost (income) for pensions include the
discount rate. Any changes in these assumptions will impact
the carrying amount of the pension obligations. The Group
determines the appropriate discount rate at the end of each
year. This is the interest rate that should be used to determine
the present value of estimated future cash outflows expected
to be required to settle the pension obligations. In
determining the appropriate discount rate, the Group
considers the interest rate of high-quality corporate bonds
that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits
will be paid, and that have terms to maturity approximating
to the terms of the related pension liability.

Other key assumptions for pension obligations are based in
part on current market conditions. Additional information is
disclosed in note 34.

RS hEt R (#)
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5. TURNOVER, REVENUE AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION
5.1 Turnover and revenue

5.2

Turnover represents sales of goods, revenue from branded
food operation, commission and other income. The amount

5.

EXRE BWARSEESR

5.1

EXRBREA
LEBERRLERER  BRER
MEBELEZRA B2 REM

of each category of revenue recognised during the year is as WA e BWABRRFANERZ
follows: SEEAT :
2009 2008
—EEhF AN
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET
Continuing operations RS
Sales of goods HEEM 2,181,527 1,241,429
Revenue from branded food operation B @B B @EBKELE Z WA 31,518 5,038
Commission and other income e kEMmiA 16,484 18,695
2,229,529 1,265,162
Discontinued operations HIEREER
Sales of goods HEEM® — 4,514
2,229,529 1,269,676
Segment information 52 HEER

Segment assets consist primarily of property, plant and
equipment, investment properties, leasehold land and land
use rights, intangible assets, subscription receivables, other
non-current assets, inventories, and trade and other
receivables and non-current assets held for sale. Unallocated
assets comprise deferred tax assets, current income tax
recoverable, pledged bank deposits, available-for-sale
financial assets, cash and cash equivalents.

Segment liabilities consist primarily of trade and other
payables, severance and retirement benefits, and other non-
current liabilities. Unallocated liabilities comprise deferred tax
liabilities, current income tax liabilities, borrowings, convertible
bonds and call option liability.

Capital expenditure comprises additions to property, plant
and equipment, leasehold land and land use rights and
intangible assets, including additions resulting from
acquisition of a jointly-controlled entity.
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BAEH CEBBITER A
HEHELREE HEMREF
BIEE -

PHEBIEEREZENINA
NEMBERNRIE  EREREIK
BHREMIFRBDEE - RDB
%Fﬁﬁﬁkﬁﬁﬁﬁ*ﬁﬁﬁ
m%ﬁ\ﬁﬁ AR ES &
w%%%51
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Br 35 SR Ak Y

31st March 2009

—ETZAF=A=1+—H
5. TURNOVER, REVENUE AND SEGMENT 5.

INFORMATION (continued)

5.2 Segment information (continued)

Primary reporting format — business segments

The Group and its jointly-controlled entities are organised into
five major business segments — SMT trading, fishmeal and
fish oil, branded food, chemical operation and corporate. The
SMT trading, fishmeal and fish oil, and chemical operations
business segments derive revenue from the sale of goods.
Branded food operation segment derives revenue from Burger
King restaurant operations through the operation of fast food
hamburger restaurants in Hong Kong under Burger King
brand. The corporate segment derives revenue from dividend
income.

The business segment results for the year ended 31st March
2009 are analysed as follows:

EXE -WARDEES (&)

52 9EEHRE)

FTEAFH — KT H
AEEREAREHEE S R @
TEEKODE—SMTES - &%
kfam mERER t2EXBRK
TE-SMTES AW EABEE
tEEBSEHLEEMMESL
WA BEREREBSEREB
R & B A E 2 T (Burger King) &
RREEREZRDEBENZEET
(Burger King) & B2 3 7% i 2 4 I8
Ao ESERRBWAMESE
WA o

BE-_ZTTNAF=A=+—HIt
FEZEBDBEEESTOT

Year ended 31st March 2009
BE-ZZNF=A=+—-HILEE
Fishmeal  Branded
SMT and food Chemical
trading fish oil operation operation Corporate Total
ABR RERR
SMTE 5 £l ¥% (LBEB 1= WM
HK$000 HK$°000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FET FET FET FET FET
Revenue — Sales to external WA —HIINEPHE
customers 564,612 430,887 31,518 1,202,512 — 2,229,529
Segment results before BEEVEERZ
amortisation of DS
intangible assets (35,916) (4,002) (19,887) (17,229) (69,438) (146,472)
Amortisation of intangible assets #k §4 & /2 & & (11,920) (2,648) (241) (7,744) — (22,553)
Segment results DIREE (47,836) (6,650)  (20,128)  (24,973)  (69,438) (169,025)
Fair value gains on RBHEABELAE
call option liability & 4,924
(164,101)
Finance income IR TN 46,518
Finance costs MKER (41,916)
Loss before income tax MRETISBIATE B (159,499)
Income tax credit FrigBi#El 23,371
Loss for the year FRNEE (136,128)

—-—
© F3{2008/09
[
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt %5 R AR B

31st March 2009
—ETZAF=A=1+—H

5. TURNOVER, REVENUE AND SEGMENT 5, EEHE -WARIEER®)
INFORMATION (continued)
5.2 Segment information (continued) 52 DEER (&)
Primary reporting format — business segments FTEFRFHEX —EHSE(E)
(continued)

Year ended 31st March 2009
BE-_ZZAE=R=+—HLEE

Fishmeal Branded

SMT and food Chemical
trading fish oil operation operation Corporate Total
AYKR mEER
SMTE 5 U i (LBEK b1 S i

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET FET

Capital expenditure AR 1,531 15,757 26,554 385,297 63 429,202
Depreciation e 4,471 2,389 2,774 29,865 59 39,558
Amortisation # 4 11,920 3,107 241 7,744 — 23,012
Write-down/(write-back) FEMR, (BmE)
of inventories ZEA B FE
to net realisable value 14,408 (3,007) — 102 — 11,503
Provision for impairment and g TR B R E B
write-off of receivables 58§ 1,286 1,706 3,767 — — 6,759
The business segment results for the year ended 31st March HE_TZENF=A=+—HI
2008 are analysed as follows: FEZEBDREESTOAT :

Year ended 31st March 2008
BE-TZT)\F=A=1T—HILFE

Discontinued

Continuing operations operations

B

FEEEED ES

Steel trading

Fishmeal Branded and

SMT and food procurement
trading fish oil operation Corporate Sub-total services Total

R R G HMES R
SMTE S A R £ P NSRBI i

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T TET TET TET FET FET

Revenue — Sales to external WA —HINEPHE

customers 841,625 418,499 5,038 — 1,265,162 4514 1,269,676
Segment results before BBV EEN

amortisation of intangible DIREE

assets (31,060) 8,276 (10,058) (47,557) (80,399) (3,054) (83,453)
Amortisation of intangible assets ## §5 4 fi2 & &= (11,931) (2,650) (201) — (14,782) — (14,782)
Segment results DEFEE (42,991) 5,626 (10,259) (47,557) (95,181) (3,054) (98,235)
Finance income B 5 A 37,526 120 37,646
Finance costs M B (27,047) — (27,047)
Loss before income tax B P15 %54 AT fE5 18 (84,702) (2,934) (87,636)
Income tax credit FrisHismE 14,334 702 15,036

Loss for the year FNEE (70,368) (2,232) (72,600)
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31st March 2009
—ETZAF=A=1+—H

5. TURNOVER, REVENUE AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (continued)

5.2 Segment information (continued)

Primary reporting format — business segments

EXE -WARDEES (&)

52 SEENHE)
FEABRE — KB E(E)

(continued)
Year ended 31st March 2008
BE-TT)\F=A=T—HILEFE
Discontinued
Continuing operations operations
I
FERE X %%
Steel trading
Fishmeal Branded and
SMT and food procurement
trading fish oil operation Corporate Sub-total services Total
AR R WM EH K
SMTE 5 A Kk EH ES 13 NEF RIS R TS e
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FHET FHET FHET FHET FHET FHET
Capital expenditure BARFE 2,002 10,990 9,912 71 22,975 — 22,975
Depreciation e 3,775 2,283 695 44 6,797 — 6,797
Amortisation B8y 11,931 3,024 201 — 15,156 — 15,156
Write-down of inventories to TFEMRZE AT #3FE
net realisable value 22,449 6,327 — — 28,776 = 28,776
Provision for impairment and FE R IE R B
write-off of receivables R 64 — 722 — = 722 — 722
The segment assets and liabilities at the balance sheet date REEBZHBEEERABENT :
are as follows:
Fishmeal Branded
SMT and food Chemical
trading fish oil operation operation Corporate Total
AR mERM
SMTE 5 b= XK LBEHK ¥ B
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET FET
As at 31st March 2009 R-ZBZ2AE=A
Eqr=/5
Assets BE
Segment assets DIEEE 512,307 311,262 43,263 803,902 13,981 1,684,715
Unallocated assets KNOBLEE 1,130,006
2,814,721
Liabilities BfE
Segment liabilities DEEEE 49,534 101,678 22,185 225,580 3,538 402,515
Unallocated liabilities RAOBAE 481,691
884,206
As at 31st March 2008 RZTT)\F
=A=+—8
Assets BE
Segment assets DREE 676,697 333,839 11,919 — 940,917 1,963,372
Unallocated assets KO EE 687,283
2,650,655
Liabilities =0
Segment liabilities HEEEE 176,414 120,310 3,459 — 1,344 301,527
Unallocated liabilities AOBEAE 216,796

518,323

—-—
© F3R2008/09
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt %5 R AR B

31st March 2009

—ETZAF=A=1+—H
5. TURNOVER, REVENUE AND SEGMENT

INFORMATION (continued)

5.2 Segment information (continued)

Primary reporting format — business segments
(continued)

There are no significant sales between these business
segments during the year (2008: Nil).

Secondary reporting format — geographical
segments

The Group's activities are conducted predominantly in Hong
Kong, Mainland China and the Republic of Korea. Revenue
by geographical segment is determined on the basis of the
destination of shipment of goods for SMT trading, fishmeal
and fish oil, and steel trading, location of service performed
for branded food and chemical operations, location of sellers
for online commission income, and location of the investment
for dividend income.

Geographical segments results and capital expenditure for the
year are analysed as follows:

5.

EXBE -WARDEES (#)

52 oEEH(E)

FEABE —KBETE(E)

FRALSXRHEOBRALBEENHE
(ZZTNEF &) -

REFBHEA —HEZTH

AEBEBETRELE  TERA
WwhEEE - RSB 2K
AT IREBESMTE 5 ~ Bk & &b
UREMEZERNEZAN
- mERmECBEBEST
ZlREmELE  ® LB WA
ZEBE REERE A
ZIREZBMEMERE

REEZWRDBEERENRERH
oM

Year ended 31st March 2009
BE-ZZhAhE=A=1+—HLEE

Hong Mainland  Republic
Kong China  of Korea India Others Total
&E HERL B HE Hit “aE
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET FET FET FHET FET

Revenue — Sales to WA —HINBFHE

external customers 31,518 945,995 878,111 72,764 301,141 2,229,529
Segment results DERE (84,640)  (59,495)  (18,235) 8,945 (10,676)  (164,101)
Finance income BRI 46,518
Finance costs B ER (41,916)
Loss before income tax BRETIS TR E 1R (159,499)
Capital expenditure BARRL 27,745 15,911 385,297 249 — 429,202
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31st March 2009
—ETZAF=A=1+—H

5. TURNOVER, REVENUE AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (continued)

5.2 Segment information (continued)

Secondary reporting format — geographical

segments (continued)

5. EXB -WARIEER (&)

5.2

TEER(F)
REFHEX —HEZH(E)

Year ended 31st March 2008
HE-ZT)\E=-A=1-HIL%E

Discontinued
Continuing operations operations
B
REREES %%
Hong  Mainland Republic Mainland
Kong China of Korea India Others  Sub-total China Total
BB REAM #E & Hith et FEIA wE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEL FET FET FEL FEL FEx FEL FET
(Restated) (Restated)
(E31) (s 37)
Revenue — Sales to external WA — S EFHE
customers 5,038 1,239,970 — 626 19,528 1,265,162 4514 1,269,676
Segment results AEEE (57.816)  (45,236) - (382) 8,253 (95,181) (3,054) (98,235)
Finance income BBUA 37,526 120 37,646
Finance costs BBER (27,047) —  (27,047)
Loss before income tax BRETETAIEE (84,702) (2,934) (87,636)
Capital expenditure EARHX 7,968 15,007 = = — 22,975 — 22,975

There are no significant sales between these geographical

segments (2008: Nil).

kSR D RELEENHE (=
TENF - E) o

o =
o #32008/09
(o)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31st March 2009
—ETZAF=A=1+—H

5. TURNOVER, REVENUE AND SEGMENT 5, BEH -WARSEEHR &)
INFORMATION (continued)
5.2 Segment information (continued) 52 oEEH(E)

Secondary reporting format — geographical REBHFEL —HESHE(E)
segments (continued)

The segment assets based on assets located at the balance BEBEEENEE R 2T = &
sheet date are as follows: DRZDREENT

Hong Mainland Republic
Kong China  of Korea India Others Total
BiE REAL #E BE Hite am
HK$’000 HK$000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FET FHET FET FET

As at 31st March 2009 RZZETNF=A
=+-8
Assets BE
Segment assets DEAE 120,071 752,774 764,776 7,708 39,386 1,684,715
Unallocated assets APBEE 1,130,006
2,814,721
As at 31st March 2008 RZZZNF=A
=+-8
Assets BE
Segment assets DEEE 998,484 937,003 — 13,277 14,608 1,963,372
Unallocated assets RO EE 687,283
2,650,655
6. OTHER GAINS — NET 6. Hftlzm —FH
2009 2008
—EZThF —EENF
HK$000 HK$°000
FHETT FHBIT
Continuing operations FEREEK
Fair value gains on call option liability REHEEEANE KR 4,924 —
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMB AT 2 W 1,130 —
Gross rental income e ALE 150 141
Loss on disposal of items of property, TEME  BELRREZERE
plant and equipment — (613)
Net exchange gains [ 5 W e R 58 — 1,149
Others Hib 2,465 1,852
8,669 2,529
Discontinued operations HIERE K
Others Hib — 32
8,669 2,561




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Br 35 SR Ak Y

31st March 2009
—ETZAF=A=1+—H

7. LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX 7. BRIASHAER
The Group’s loss before income tax is arrived at after charging: AEBZHRASHAIEBE IR T
18
2009 2008
—EThEF ZZTENF
HK$’000 HK$°000
FHET FET
Continuing operations BESEEK
Cost of inventories sold EEFEXA 1,755,363 1,105,700
Write-down of inventories to net GFEMRZEZEFE
realisable value 11,503 28,776
Net exchange losses b H 518 F 58 43,415 —
Depreciation of property, plant mE - BERBETE
and equipment 39,482 6,716
Depreciation of investment properties % & ¥ ¥ 47 & 76 81
Amortisation of leasehold land and FAE £ Hb [z 1 3th {55 P A8 4 4
land use rights 459 374
Amortisation of intangible assets T A E Y 22,553 14,782
Employment costs (note 8) R (H5£8) 148,700 60,161
Operating lease rental of rented HEMEZKEHENRS
premises 19,924 12,013
Impairment of available-for-sale At EemEERE
financial assets (note 20) (K7a£20) 1,803 —
Impairment of intangible assets BVEEME 43 —
Impairment of non-current assets ERBEERE 971 —
Impairment of non-current assets RIEHEERDEERE
held for sale 17,233 —
Impairment of trade receivables B 5 W IERE 6,759 1,984
Loss on disposal of property, plant HEDE BMENMREZEE
and equipment 1,105 —
Loss on disposal of available-for-sale ~ HERHEE SR EE 2 g
financial assets 12 —
Auditors’ remuneration = AN & 2,660 2,310
Discontinued operations RIEREEK
Cost of inventories sold EEFENAE — 7,543

—-—
= F3{2008/09
—
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31st March 2009

ZETNF=

H=+—H

8. EMPLOYMENT COSTS 8. EAMZAE
2009 2008
—ETAF —EENEF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHETT FHET
Salaries, wages and allowances e LA KERL 139,307 58,451
Retirement benefits — defined RIRER — R EHERETE

contribution scheme 2,436 1,710

Pension costs — defined benefit plan Bk & A — R @A T2l
(note 34) (HiaE34) 6,957 —
148,700 60,161

(a) The Group has arranged for its Hong Kong employees to join @ FAEEELZHEESEESSRH—

the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”),
a defined contribution scheme managed by an independent
trustee. Under the MPF Scheme, each of the Group (the
employer) and its employees make monthly contributions to
the scheme at 5% of the employees’ relevant income as
defined under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance. The monthly contribution of each of the
employer and employees are subject to a cap of HK$1,000
and thereafter contributions are voluntary.

As stipulated by rules and regulations in Mainland China, the
Group contributes to state-sponsored retirement plans for its
employees in Mainland China. The employees contribute
approximately 6% to 20% of their basic salaries, while the
Group contributes approximately 8% to 22.5% of such
salaries and has no further obligations for the actual payment
of pensions or post-retirement benefits beyond these
contributions. The state-sponsored retirement plans are
responsible for the entire pension obligations payable to
retired employees.

BEREBUSTAETR ZAFHER
Besral ([RESTE]) - &&t
EA—EHATHKE - BiEA
Beoitd AEE(EX) REE
EXEBAKEEREBRKRA(E
HEREBBREIEATE ST EEN)
Z 5% METEIEL R - ShlEE
FEBZ®AERKLERA 1,000/5
JC - MEREIMERTI B B R -

KA B 2 48 A R ARG AN
EAEEFHEANMESRNBERED
ZRRFTEIMHR - BERELRT
© #96% £ 20% fHEF 0 T A & B iR
ZEFH D 8% ER5%MHF - B
ZERFI BEIFEFAER
RIKSHERBEBRZESE - %
EEREMRAKFTEEEBERR
KEEZFE2HERKE -
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31st March 2009
—ETZAF=A=1+—H

8. EMPLOYMENT COSTS (continued)

(a)

(continued)

One of the Group’s jointly-controlled entities operates a
defined benefit pension plan for its directors and staff. These
benefits are unfunded. The cost of providing benefits under
the defined benefit plan is determined using the projected
unit credit actuarial valuation method. Actuarial gains and
losses are directly recognised in equity in the period in which
they occur. The net commitment for the defined benefit plan
which consists of the present value of pension commitment
less the accumulated prepayments to the Korea National
Pension Service (the “NPS") is recognised on the balance
sheet.

The past service cost is recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the average period until the benefits
become vested. If the benefits are already vested immediately
following the introduction of, or changes to, a pension plan,
past service cost is recognised immediately.

Separate funding of this liability is not required by the Korean
law.

In accordance with the Korea National Pension Law prior to
revision, the jointly-controlled entity had prepaid a portion of
its severance and retirement benefit obligations to the NPS at
the rate of 3% of its payroll expense up through 31st March
1999. Such prepayments have been offset against its liability
for severance and retirement benefits.

8.

R (&)

(a)

(&)

AEBEP-—HAARZEHEER
HEEZERBIRERAERANE
Keitd ZERIKEES -
RIERER M BRERN 2K
AT ARG EMEE SR A EE
BE BERaEkBEEEELS

REENESARER - RERF
Bl AEFRER™E ﬁiéﬁf‘

I8 B )8 fF T Korea National Pension
Service ([NPS |) 2z 25T T8 {4 50
TTREEBERRNER -

i % AR 7 B 7R DA B 42 0% 7 T 15 B
MERARY  EZ2RMNEB -
MBFERZRERKSEHED
FEFRER AARERBE
BRAE A AR o

BEERILERTE
VIRHESD -

B UL R B (E B

B & & 5] Bl ZKorea National
Pension Law * % £ EEH EEE D
BE—NAWNANhE=R=1+—B2%
B SE 23% BN ELHERE R
E%mﬂf&% NPS ° 7% 5 78 {1

D HEERE RRIKEHNE
1&1?&@% ©
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w

I TERMEIERBRAF



-—

port 2008/09

=2 Annual Re

F =Y

North Asia Strategic Holdings Limited

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt %5 R AR B

31st March 2009
—EZThF=ZA=+—H

8. EMPLOYMENT COSTS (continued)

(b) Directors’ and senior management’s emoluments

The remuneration of each director for the year ended 31st

March 2009 is set out below:

8.

BRARA (&)

(b) EERSREBEAEHE

RE-FEAF=A=+-AL

FERESZZHFMEINAT ¢

Employer’s
contribution
to retirement

Fees Salaries scheme Total
RKEHE
Hwe & ZEXMHR wa
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET
Executive directors BITES
Mr. Goéran Sture Malm Goran Sture Malm
GiEles 192 1,212 12 1,416
Mr. Savio Chow Sing Bt E
Nam 192 1,456 12 1,660
Mr. Henry Cho Kim Henry Cho Kim
Vit 64 326 4 394
Mr. John Saliling John Saliling %€ 4= 114 1,501 — 1,615
Non-executive directors ¥ {TE =
Mr. Takeshi Kadota Takeshi Kadota
fHE 192 — — 192
Mr. Andrew Yao Cho Fai b fH #8 58 4 192 — 5 195
Independent BYFHITES
non-executive
directors
Mr. Philip Ma King Huen B 8185t 4 192 — — 192
Mr. Kenny Tam King ERIESE
Ching 192 — — 192
Mr. Edgar Kwan Chi Ping B854 F 5E 4 192 — — 192
Mr. Yu Wang Tak REERE 192 — — 192
1,714 4,495 33 6,240
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31st March 2009
—ETZAF=A=1+—H

8. EMPLOYMENT COSTS (continued) 8. MEARAE(#)

(b) Directors’ and senior management’s emoluments (b) ESKEREBRAEMS (&) 2
(continued) E
The remuneration of each director for the year ended 31st HE-ZZN\F=-A=+—A1t ﬁ
March 2008 is set out below: EEREEHMEMT - 11

@
Employer’s g
contribution ir
to retirement o
Fees Salaries scheme Total %
RRET =
ik e ZEEMHK Pk
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
FHET FET FET FET
Executive directors BTES
Mr. Goran Sture Malm Goran Sture Malm
Vit 192 1,043 12 1,247
Mr. Henry Cho Kim Henry Cho Kim
Vit 192 838 12 1,042
Mr. Savio Chow Elsm Lt
Sing Nam 192 1,867 12 2,071
Mr. Andrew Yao Cho Fai #1085 4 192 — 10 202
Non-executive director EHITESE
Mr. Takeshi Kadota Takeshi Kadota
ke 105 — — 105
Independent BIEHTES
non-executive
directors
Mr. Philip Ma King Huen B 81554 192 — — 192
Mr. Kenny Tam King B IE A
Ching 192 — — 192
Mr. Edgar Kwan Chi Ping B854 F 5 4 192 — — 192
Mr. Yu Wang Tak REERE 80 — — 80

1,529 3,748 46 5,323
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31st March 2009
—EZThF=ZA=+—H

8. EMPLOYMENT COSTS (continued) 8.

(c) Five highest paid individuals (c)

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in
the Group for the year including 3 (2008: 2) directors whose
emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented above.
The emoluments payable to the remaining 2 (2008: 3)
individuals during the year are as follows:

BRARA (&)

TEREHATL

REERAFEAME RS20
BEALTBE=2(ZZZN\F W
B)EF HMESERLXE®/Z
D PRM - BN THEBRA (=
ZENF =ZR)ALTZHEW
T

2009 2008
—EEAF —ZEFENF
HK$000 HK$°000
FET FAT
Basic salaries and allowances HAFH & KERL 3,720 4,947
Bonuses TE4T — 542
Employer’s contributions to RKGHEIZ B E M
retirement scheme 24 187
3,744 5,676
The emoluments fell within HEMEETHESHER :
the following bands:
Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 2 Z 1,000,000 T — —
HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 % JT & 1,500,0007% 7T — 2
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7 JT & 2,000,000/ 7T 1 —
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7 7T £ 2,500,0007% 7T 1 —
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 78 7T £ 3,000,000/% 7T — 1
2 3
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Br 35 SR Ak Y

31st March 2009
—ETZAF=A=1+—H

9. FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS 9. HBBWUWAREHR
2009 2008
—EThF —EENF
HK$'000 HK$°000
FHET FHET
Finance income: BBWA
Continuing operations HERSEXER
Interest income from bank deposits RITERZFEWA 5,074 15,358
Amortised interest income from TR E U R TE 2 iR B
subscription receivables (note 24) WA (Bt at24) 41,444 22,168
46,518 37,526
Discontinued operations BIEREEE
Interest income from bank deposits RITFERZFBEWA — 120
46,518 37,646
Finance costs: BMEER:
Continuing operations BERSEXER
Interest expense MEXZ
Interest on bank loans wholly ARAFTAEZHEEZ
repayable within five years RITEFHF B 34,062 16,717
Amortisation of interest expenses F) B X 5 4,815 —
Net foreign exchange losses on B &R BN INE B 1R
financing activities 1,089 7,015
Convertible bonds redeemable RAFAR TEEZATRK
within five years (note 32) &% (Kfit32) 1,277 1,278
Notional interest expense — fair ZELEMEZH —RE
valuation of deferred REZAAGE
consideration — 1,324
Interest on finance lease obligations EERYEEZF S 673 713
41,916 27,047

—-—
= F32008/09
~
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31st March 2009

— ==

10.

hF=HA=+—H
INCOME TAX CREDIT 10. FrEREE
The Company is exempted from taxation in Bermuda until 2016. RARERECHNBERENRBEE .
Hong Kong profits tax has been calculated at the rate of 16.5% T—RF - FENEHHRF ARG E
(2008: 17.5%) on the estimated assessable profit for the year. The RFREFIEH R165%( —Z T )\ F -
lower Hong Kong profit tax rate is effective from the year of 175%) 5T 8 - REMNBAFEHEF
assessment 2008/2009, and so is applicable to the assessable profits —EENE /BTN EFEEFREREN
arising in Hong Kong for the whole year ended 31st March 2009. HEARBE_SZNEF=A="+—
BEFE2EEEEEENERN G
F o
Subsidiaries established in the Mainland China are subject to the AR B R AR S 2 BT B A BB 3R 25% 2
Mainland China enterprise income tax at the standard rate of 25% EERE(ZEEN\F : 15%E33%) &
(2008: 15% to 33%). A five-year transitional period with a MPREAMDEREHR B _Z2F )\ F
progressive tax rate from 15% to 25% has been granted from 1st —A—HE ZEMBRAAERAFH
January 2008. EHR - BIER AR 15%IRIEE25% ©
Taxation on overseas (other than Hong Kong and Mainland China) EIN(EE R E A AN i A 2 7
profits has been calculated on the estimated assessable profit for I T Sh N 2 {d 5T FE SR A v A FR 2N 2 B
the year at the applicable rates of taxation prevailing in the REBFREBRR G iEER 2H1TER
countries/jurisdictions in which the Group operates. FiRETHE o
The amounts of income tax credit recorded in the consolidated LHERGEEWEmRP ZEREDE -
income statement represent:
2009 2008
—EEhEF —TENF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHETT FHET
Continuing operations: HEQEEK
Current taxation = Hi R 18
Hong Kong profits tax BEBENEH
— current year —REE (273) (1,184)
— overprovision/(underprovision) —BEBFEZBERE
in prior years (TRBH) 3,232 (385)
Mainland China enterprise AR R 1 FE TS AR
income tax
— current year —XREE (1,016) (1,080)
— overprovision in prior years —BABFE 2 BREEE 233 2,319
Overseas taxation BN IE 5 (102)
Deferred taxation (note 33) EIER IR ([ 33) 21,190 14,766
23,371 14,334
Discontinued operations: BIEREEK
Current taxation — overprovision EHIFIE —BASFEE BB
in prior years BE — 702
23,371 15,036
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31st March 2009
—ETZAF=A=1+—H

10. INCOME TAX CREDIT (continued)

The taxation on the Group’s loss before income tax differs from the
theoretical amount that would arise using the weighted average tax

10. FRBRBE (&)

ZIS’EIZE%WT SHAIE R 2 BIREER
HERARNARBEERZ MEFARERGE

rate applicable to loss of the Group as follows: ZIEBESEIERNT

2009 2008

—EThE —TENF

HK$’000 HK$°000

FHET FET

Loss before income tax B P15 %% Al &S 18 (159,499) (84,702)
Tax calculated at the weighted average  RERN AT BEREEZ
domestic tax rates applicable to losses — hN#EFHE M f R+ E 2 1A

in the respective places/countries 28,730 16,187

Effect of: -7 3N

— income not subject to tax — EAERB WA 13,003 8,553

— expenses not deductible for tax — DA H 2 % (23,601) (8,911)

— deferred tax assets not recognised — KRBT IBEE — (3,429)
— effect on deferred tax changes in —HERBHELERIB &

tax rate 6,078 —

— overprovision in prior years —BAHFE CBERE 3,465 1,934

— tax losses not recognised — RERZBIEERE (340) —

— others — HAth (3,964) =

Tax credit TIE# E 23,371 14,334

During the year, as a result of the change in the Hong Kong
corporation tax rate from 17.5% to 16.5% that will be effective
from 1st April 2008 deferred tax balance have been remeasured.
Deferred tax expected to reserve in the year to 31st March 2010 has
been measured using the effective rate that will apply in Hong
Kong.

For the year ended 31st March 2009, the weighted average
applicable tax rate was approximately 18.01% (2008: 19.11%).

The change in weighted average applicable tax rates is mainly
caused by a change in the distribution of the profit/loss among the
entities within the Group in different tax jurisdictions and with
different tax rates.

FRN - HREBCEMEHRHITS%ESR
165%8 TN \NEFEOA—BHRAKBE
BBEERIBAEREENTE - HER
FRNE-ZT-ZTHF=-_F=+—HEEHEZ
BREFBBDERERESER 2 BEHE

e o

REE_FFAF=A=F+—RAILLA
E - BB MEFERELR1801% (=
TE\E 1911%) ©

mﬁﬁﬂﬂﬁgiiﬁﬂfzmﬁﬁfé’éﬂﬂ#ﬂ

BEENTRRGRIAEEERAR
TH%R% C ABURE A BB D A P
N

gy
- #%2008/09
©
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31st March 2009
—EZThF=ZA=+—H

11. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

1.

In 2008, the Group ceased its trading of steel products and
provision of procurement services for steel products (including the
operation of an e-commerce vertical portal for the provision of
online steel trading services and ancillary services) and the
consolidated results and cash flows of these operations were as

IEEERE

RZZTZT
=80

EN\F - AEEREEMMER
REMMERKBRE (21

ST TFEBMAAPIE IR b
WA E SRS RBIR) -
BEBNGARERRSREMNT

T % %5 48

follows:

2008

—EENF

HK$°000

FET

Revenue A 4,514
Cost of sales 3 E AR (7,543)
Gross loss EE (3,029)
Other gains — net Hth iz — F 58 32
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHER (6)
General and administrative expenses ~ —#% & 17 & (51)
Operating loss ZIEEE (3,054)
Finance income B 75 U A 120
Loss before income tax B FT1S B A B 18 (2,934)
Income tax credit B3 #i #5 B 702

Loss for the year from FREKLIEEEERMEENEIE
discontinued operations (2,232)
Operating cash outflows OB S m (1,034)
Investing cash outflows ERE R (136)
Financing cash outflows MBS R (430)
Total cash outflows R 4R KR (1,600)
12. LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF 12. ARREREEAEBEEE

THE COMPANY

The loss attributable to equity holders of the Company is dealt with
in the financial statements of the Company to the extent of
approximately HK$257,509,000 (2008: profit of HK$9,350,000).

AR QDR Z B HRER 2 AN D A RER
A A JE 15 E5 18 %) A257,509,000 % T (=
%% %119,350,00078 7T ) ©

ZE\F
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13. LOSS PER SHARE 13. BREE
Basic loss per share BREXREIE
Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the Group’s loss EREAEBEBNDEAQAERTE AR
attributable to equity holders of the Company by the weighted (EREEZ BEBERAZPHRFEERND 3%
average number of ordinary shares in issue during the financial year. TEBRZMEFEEHHEAE -
2009 2008
—EENF “ETN\F
Continuing  Discontinued Continuing Discontinued
operations operations operations operations
BELEER RKRUIKCEER | FELCEER RIELEES
Loss for the year (HK$'000)  F R E51E (T L) (136,128) — (70,368) (2,232)
Loss for the year attributable /> &% B %5 FE 15
to minority interests FREE(FET)
(HK$'000) 35 — 10 =
Loss attributable to equity R AIHERE A AEL
holders of the Company EE(FET)
(HK$'000) (136,093) — (70,358) (2,232)
Weighted average number 2 E1TE @R 2
of ordinary shares in issue EEFEH 95,794,716 — 95,794,716 95,794,716
Basic loss per share FRERES (BI)
(HK cents) (142.07) — (73.45) (2.33)
Diluted loss per share BREBEESR

No diluted loss per share from continuing and discontinued
operations for the years ended 31st March 2009 and 2008 as the

potential ordinary shares are anti-dilutive.

B E BB Y EEEER -
BE_ZZNFR_ZTZNF=A=+
—ALFERBERERBRRLERLER
BAESREEESE -

—-—
N F3{2008/09
—
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT — GROUP 14. V¥ -BERZE—FTKE
Furniture, Plant and
fixtures and machinery and
Leasehold office demonstration  Construction
Buildings  improvements equipment  Motor vehicles machinery in progress Total
B %E BERKE
BF HENEEE UARBLERE RE  URTERE ERIE o)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000
T FET FAT TET TET FET FEr
At 1st April 2007 RZZELEMA—A
Cost KA 7,079 2,018 8,377 1,476 16,418 5,055 40423
Accumulated depreciation ~ 2EHH7E (155) (132) (2,809) (282) (1,031) = (4,409)
Net book amount REE 6,924 1,886 5,568 1,19 15,387 5,055 36,014
Year ended 31st March 2008 HZ-ZT)\F
“A=+-HLEEE
Opening net book amount ~ EHIEEFE 6,924 1886 5,568 1,194 15,387 5,055 36,014
Additions NE — 5,401 3442 850 1,475 2,404 13,572
Disposals HE (119) = (28) (81) (2,19) = (2,424)
Depreciation g (490) (799) (1,676) (423) (3,328) = (6,716)
Transfer from inventories ERARE — — — — 21,981 - 21,981
Other transfers HthiE 3,816 - 750 - 33 (4,599) —
Exchange realignments A% 570 78 436 102 495 498 2,179
Closing net book amount FREMFE 10,701 6,566 8,492 1,642 33,847 3,358 64,606
At 315t March 2008 RZZENF
=A=+-H
Cost XA E 13,776 9,091 21,263 5479 43,868 3,358 96,835
Accumulated depreciation  2EHHTE (3,075) (2,525) (12,77) (3,837) (10,021) = (32,229)
Net book amount REFE 10,701 6,566 8,492 1,642 33,847 3,358 64,606
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT — GROUP 14. ¥ ¥ - BERRE —4A£H (&)
(continued)
Furniture, Plant and
fixtures and machinery and
Freehold Leasehold office demonstration  Construction in

land Buildings  improvements equipment  Motor vehicles machinery progress Total

G- RE BERES
KAEELS BF  HENEEE URBOERE RE  URTERE ERIE 28
HKS'000 HK$000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$000 HK$'000
TEn TEn TFr TEn TEr TEn TEn TEr

Yearended 315t March 2009  BZ=ZZNE
“A=t-RILEE
Opening netbook amount ~ FHEEFE - 10,701 6,566 8,492 1,642 33,847 3,358 64,606
Additions RE - 3 11,540 4,793 824 14,141 18,057 49,958
Acquisition of a WEARZHER
jointly-controlled entity 141,055 188,981 19,889 1,522 104 305,514 5911 662,976
Disposals tE - - (516) n) (40) (2233) - (2,862)
Depreciation il - (3,560) (2.800) (2,642) (403) (30,077) - (39,482)
Transfer fromi(to) BRE/(2)R&
inventories - - - - - (16,862) - (16,862)
Qther transfers Hih @i - 1,725 0] 13 - 2,869 (4733) -
Exchange realignments ERHBZE (34,224) (45,373) (4,913) (282) (32 (71,946) (1,351) (158,121)
Closing net book amount EREEFE 106,831 152471 29,762 11,953 2,095 235,853 21282 560,213
At31st March 2009 RZZEINE
SHE

Cost HAR 106,831 160471 35,577 24,995 5,569 286,510 120 641,195
Accumulated depreciation  Eif47E - (7,994) (5,815) (13,042) (3,474) (50,657) - (80,982)
Net book amount REFE 106,831 152,477 29,762 11,953 2,09 235,853 128 560,213

The net book amount of the Group’s plant and machinery and
demonstration machinery held under finance leases as at 31st
March 2008 was HK$26,733,000.

Certain property, plant and equipment are pledged as security for
the Group’s banking facilities. Details are set out in note 38 to the
financial statements.

AEBEREBERLNITE ZHE KK
UETRBRER_EENF=ZA=1+—
B Z BR TR {E A 26,733,000/ 7T °

ETWE BERRECEREALRSE
BRITRE 2R - FBHNU B R
RHFEE38 -

N
N #32008/09
w
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 15. BREWE

Group

TEE
2009 2008
—EENF —ZEENF
HK$'000 HK$°000
FET FEIT
Opening net book amount FE R FE 2,288 2,206
Depreciation ne (76) (81)
Exchange realignments PE 3 45 163
Closing net book amount FAREEFE 2,257 2,288

At 31st March: R=A=+—8":

Cost K AME 2,647 2,595
Accumulated depreciation 2 E (390) (307)
Net book amount BRMEEE 2,257 2,288

The Group’s investment properties are situated in Mainland China
and are held under long term leases.

The share of the fair value of the Group’s investment properties
were valued at 31st March 2008 by Savills Valuation and
Professional Services Limited, an independent professional valuer, by
reference to market evidence of transaction prices for similar
properties. No further valuation of these investment properties have
been carried out as the directors consider the market values of
these investment properties are not significantly different from their
carrying amounts at the balance sheet date.

The gross rental income received and receivable by the Group and
the direct expenses in respect of these investment properties are
summarised as follows:

AEBZEREDEMRHPEARN - &K
HEHESE -

AEBEREMEZEREARETABL
BEXHBEMARE KA FEAENGHER
EXERERARNR-_ZEZNF=A=
T RE2EZRLUNEZRZHEZTHE
EETHERESR BHNEFTRAZRT
BREYE:TEERAERGESE AL E
ERER  BMUBRREFREVMEET
E—HhAE -

AEBERZERENEFCWREER 2
HEBABBEAREZEBBANT

Group
TEE
2009 2008
—ETAF —ZTNEFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Gross rental income e WAL 150 141
Direct expenses BEEXH (53) (45)
97 96
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

All of the Group’s investment properties are held for rental purposes
under operating leases.

Certain investment properties are pledged as security for the

Group's banking facilities. Details are set out in note 38 to the
financial statements.

16. LEASEHOLD LAND AND LAND USE RIGHTS

15. REWE (&)

AEBRMAEREMEDUREHER
B AREBAESE -

ETREMECEMERAKEBRTT

BMEZEMS - FIERNBMBHRKRM T
38

16. HELHR LHERE

Group

rEE
2009 2008
—EBAF —EEN\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET F#Er
Opening net book amount FHEREFE 19,235 11,869
Additions NE 2,300 7,253
Amortisation 5y (459) (374)
Exchange realignments ME 5, A B 608 487
Closing net book amount FARRHEFE 21,684 19,235

The Group’s interests in leasehold land and land use rights are held
under the following lease terms:

AEERBEE T R+ A s
BTHEBRE :

2009
“EThE
HK$000
FET
In Hong Kong, held on: EEBUA T ANEE -

Leases of between 10 and 50 years 10E50F 24 5,481

Outside Hong Kong, held on: EEBUIMEEIA T RBLOES
Leases of over 50 years HBiBS0F 2 A 13,356
Leases of between 10 and 50 years 10E50F 2 A 2,847
21,684

Certain leasehold land and land use right are pledged as security for

the Group’s banking facilities. Details are set out in note 38 to the
financial statements.

ETHEL R T ERECIEIRES
REBMIBITAEZRKAR - FFBHRY
A& M EE38 o

—-—
N F3{2008/09
Ul
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17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS — GROUP 17. BEE—4A&H
Development
rights and
Customer Technology Distribution franchise
Goodwill relationships  Trademarks ~ knowhow agreements fees  Software Others Total
BREN

B8  EFBE BE EREN 28hE i B At Eh)
HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000
TER TER TE7 TER TER TR TER TEx TER

Year ended 31st March 2008  HZ-ZT\F

ZAZT-BIEER
Opening net book amount EVREFE 380,263 22,236 15,253 — 14,424 — — 103 432,279
Additions RNE — — — — — 2,150 — — 2,150
Amortisation 37 — (7,937) (1,040) = (5,583) (201) = (1) (14,782)
Closing net book amount EREEFE 380,263 14,299 14213 = 8841 1,949 = 8 419647
At 315t March 2008 i JIY:3
EfEr=E
Cost WA 380,263 25410 15,600 - 16,750 2,150 - 33,480 473,653
Accumulated amortisation ZitEH — (11,111) (1,387) — (7,909) (201) — (33,398) (54,006)
Net book amount IREFE 380,263 14,299 14,213 — 8341 1,949 — 8 419,647
Year ended 31st March 2009 BZ-ZZh&
=A=t-A
LEE
Opening net book amount ~ E{)REAFE 380,263 14,299 14,213 - 8,841 1,949 - 82 419,647
Additions RE - - - - - 7 - - 1
Acquisition of a KEAREHER
jointly-controlled entity 89,770 66,371 18,735 37,406 - - 2,857 - 215,139
Impairment AE - - - - - - - (43) 43)
Amortisation B - (10,760) (2,257) (3,384) (5,583) (241) (320) (8) (22,553)
Exchange realignment EZEE - (15,880) (4,448) (8,809) — - (669) — (29,806)
Closing net book amount EXREEFE 470,033 54,030 26,243 25,213 3,258 2,485 1,868 31 583,161
At 31st March 2009 RZZENE
=B=t-A
Cost RAE 470,033 75,678 29,789 28,330 16,750 2,927 2,164 m 625,782
Accumulated amortisation Rt B HERHE
and impairment - (21,648) (3,546) (3,117) (13,492) (442) (296) (80) (42,621)
Net book amount REFE 470,033 54,030 26,243 25213 3,258 2,485 1,868 31 583,161
Amortisation of approximately HK$22,553,000 (2008: 45 #922,553000 8 T (ZE TN\ F:
HK$14,782,000) is included in general and administrative expenses. 14,782,000/ 70 ) st A — M R 1TH B

A e
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17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS — GROUP (continued)

Impairment tests for goodwill

Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s CGUs identified according to
business segments.

A segment-level summary of the goodwill allocation is presented

BLEE— A58 (#)

AR E R

FENDRBEEBOIRIREAEERS
EAEEM -

DHEERMZEBOEBMEZIWT

below:

2009 2008
—EZhF —EENF
HK$000 HK$°000
FET FAET
SMT trading SMTE 5% 373,692 373,692
Fishmeal and fish oil am ke 6,571 6,571
Chemical operation (d=-E3 89,770 —
470,033 380,263

SMT trading operations cash-generating unit SMTE ZXKESELEN

The recoverable amount of the SMT trading operations cash-
generating unit has been determined based on a value in use
calculation using cash flow projections based on financial budgets
covering a five-year period approved by senior management. The
discount rate applied to cash flow projections is 11%. Due to the
uncertainty, no growth rate was used to extrapolate the cash flows
of the SMT trading operations unit beyond the five-year period.

Fishmeal and fish oil operations cash-generating unit

The recoverable amount of the fishmeal and fish oil operations
cash-generating unit is also determined based on a value in use
calculation using cash flow projections based on financial budgets
covering a five-year period approved by senior management. The
discount rate applied to the cash flow projections is 8% to 10%.
Similar to the SMT trading operations, no growth rate was used to
extrapolate the cash flows of the fishmeal and fish oil operations
unit beyond the five-year period.

Chemical operation cash-generating unit

The recoverable amount of the chemical operation cash-generating
unit is determined based on a value in use calculation using cash
flow projections based on financial budgets covering a five-year
period approved by senior management. The discount rate applied
to the cash flow projections is 15.5%. No growth rate was used to
extrapolate the cash flows of chemical operation unit beyond the
five-year period.

SMTE S¥BIREEEBMN 2] KES
BHRBEREENEALETE - 25
TERLAeRARSATEEHMLER
MERFHECMBBEMSEZRE
METEE - BERETERKA ZBHIAR
B11% c ARFEAETHBAEE - R E
FRERREHMIE S EBEURNT
FHEBZESRE -

RYBRRBFEBREELEN

BMEBMERREELENL 2K
B BAIRIBEREEFETEETE
ZEHERTFERARSRERERIL
ERRERFHE W BREMHIEZ
RenERA R REBFARRAZH
WE B8 %E10% ° HESMTE 5 (758
L - 3 A8 PRI R R HEET S R R OB
BEMRAFHER2ASRE -

ItEBEBFHSELEN
ICEBERRSELBM 2 T RESET
BIEEHAEBEAELAER - 2518
HAeRAReREERBAAERRE
AERBEHEEEMRHIE 2 RE R
=R -ReRERANHBZAREXE
15.5% o I f% 5 A 3 R R EL B
BEURAFTHEGBZRERE -

—-—
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17.

18.

NE=ZA=+—H

INTANGIBLE ASSETS — GROUP (continued)

Impairment tests for goodwill (continued)

Key assumptions were used in the value in use calculations of SMT
trading, fishmeal and fish oil, and chemical operation cash-
generating units for the years ended 31st March 2009 and 2008.
The following describes each key assumption on which
management has based its cash flow projections to undertake
impairment testing of goodwill:

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine the value
assigned to the budgeted gross margins based on past performance
and its expectations for market development.

Discount rates — The discount rates used are pre-tax and reflect
specific risks relating to the relevant units.

INVESTMENTS IN AND AMOUNTS DUE FROM
SUBSIDIARIES — COMPANY

In the Company’s balance sheet, details of interests and amounts
due from subsidiaries are as follows:

17.

18.

BLEE— A58 (#)

AERENE(E)

HE_ZETAFER_EZENF=A=1+
—HIEFEZSMTE S - A kAN
RItBEBRSELBEN 2 FRAEBER
HERAITERK U TAEEBAETT
R E AR M EL 2R e nE 788 AT
KBz SEEERK

BEEMNE —AAEETHEFTENXE
BE2EERBERAMEMSERRE

B o

BAIRE — PR AZ IR E B HAT Y R
REMBEM EBEERAR -

PO 2 T 2 R
ARE— AR

RARRZEEBERA > REBEAA
LR R EWH B AT RIB BN
I

2009 2008

—EEhE —ETN\F

HK$’000 HK$°000

FHET FET

Unlisted shares, at cost ELETRG - RKAE — =
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE W5 B /B8 X B R 3E (M 3F40(b))

(note 40(b)) 1,160,057 688,192

1,160,057 688,192

Impairment AE (250,000) —

910,057 688,192

Less: Current portion B B A S (2,964) (6,318)

Non-current portion JEMENE 5 907,093 681,874
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18. INVESTMENTS IN AND AMOUNTS DUE FROM 18.
SUBSIDIARIES — COMPANY (continued)

REBARZREREBURKERQ
BAIRIE—ARDF (&)

ATAR-ETAF=A=1+—HXE

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries as at 31st March

2009: MEARZAE :
Percentage of
Particulars of issued equity interest
Place of incorporation share capital/ held by the
Name and kind of legal entity Principal activities registered capital Group
SE AR AL it B BRTRE AEETHE
£ EERRER TEXK HMEARFE RAEZEESL
American Tec Hong Kong, limited Trading of SMT 60,000,000 ordinary 100%
Company Limited liability company equipment shares of HK$1 each
EREFHRBRAR  BE - ARAA SMTRIEE 5 60,000,0008%
BREEVET
2 BB
American Tec (S.E.A.) Singapore, Refreshment of 1 ordinary share 100%
Pte. Ltd* limited liability SMT machinery, of S$1 each
company sale of refurbished 1%
A - ARAE SMT machinery BREE 1T
and spare parts Z TR
BRTOMTHES - SHE B
SMTH#E=E R B ER
American Tec India, limited Provision of machinery 1,879,000 100%
Electronic India liability company installation, training, ordinary shares
Private Limited* 0 - BRAT business promotion, of INR10 each
repair and maintenance 1,879,000/%
services SREEI0 EL
RftEE - HJl 2 &R
B8 - e RRE IR
American Tec Macao Macau, limited Trading 1 ordinary share of 100%
Commercial liability company 25 MOP100,000 each
Offshore Company B - BRAF] 1 REE
Limited* 100,000/2F %
F I RPIBE F B R IRT 2 EER
BRATE*
American Tec India Hong Kong, limited Dormant 1 ordinary share 100%
(H.K.) Limited liability company Eig g F of HK$1 each
EDETFREHE BB BRATE R EAREE BT
(BE)BRLA 2 EEK

N
N #32008/09
(Vo)
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18. INVESTMENTS IN AND AMOUNTS DUE FROM

SUBSIDIARIES — COMPANY (continued)

18. RIMBARZREREWHER

ARE—AXDQT (&)
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Particulars of issued

Percentage of
equity interest

Place of incorporation share capital/ held by the

Name and kind of legal entity Principal activities registered capital Group

SEAR B AL 3t B R BRITRE rEEfRE

8 FEERER TEEH AMEAFEE RAEZEEIL

Best Creation British Virgin Islands, Investment holding 60,000,000 100%
Investments Limited* limited liability BEER ordinary shares
company of US$1 each
HBRIAHS  BRAA 60,000,000
FREEIET
2 EBR

Glory Ally Limited* British Virgin Islands, Investment holding 1 ordinary share 100%
KIpERAE limited liability REER of US$1 each
company 1REREEIZET
KBRS BRAA 2 &R

Good Tactics Limited* British Virgin Islands, Investment holding 1 ordinary share 100%
EBERRF* limited liability BEER of US$1 each
company 1REREE1ET
RBELHE  BARAA 2 &R

MetalAsia Holdings British Virgin Islands, Investment holding 2,000 ordinary 100%
Limited* limited liability BEER shares of US$1 each
company 2,000 mEE
EBEAHE BARAA (Ea-3iills

Nation Zone British Virgin Islands, Investment holding 1 ordinary share 100%
Holdings Limited (i)* limited liability AR of US$1 each
company 1REREEIET
RERAHS  ARAA 2 BB

North Asia Strategic Hong Kong, limited Management 1 ordinary share 100%
(HK) Limited (i) liability company =i of HK$1 each
LR () BE BRRAA REAREE BT
BRAF () 2 BB

PCL1 Limited Hong Kong, limited Catering and 1 ordinary share 100%
liability company management of HK$1 each
BB BRAR EHRNER RERAETET

ZE B
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18. INVESTMENTS IN AND AMOUNTS DUE FROM 18. RMIB AR Z2REREWHKEQ
SUBSIDIARIES — COMPANY (continued) AINRE—FARQF(#)

Percentage of
Particulars of issued equity interest

Place of incorporation share capital/ held by the
Name and kind of legal entity Principal activities registered capital Group
R 3L 3t BE R BRTRA rEEMRE
£ EERRER TEXK HMEARFE RAEZEEIL
PCL2 Limited Hong Kong, limited Catering and 1 ordinary share 100%
liability company management of HK$1 each
&% BRAR EHRNER RERAETET
2 EER
PCL3 Limited Hong Kong, limited Catering and 1 ordinary share 100%
liability company management of HK$1 each
BB BRATE BRRER REAREE BT
2 EER
Perfect Combo Limited Hong Kong, limited Operation of fast 1 ordinary share 100%
RIREER AT liability company food restaurants in of HK$1 each
&% BRAF Hong Kong under 1R SRREE ST
Burger King brand 2 EER
HEEBNERT
(Burger King)

mgREREER

Smart Tactics Limited* British Virgin Islands, Investment holding 1 ordinary share 100%
ARARATE* limited liability REER of US$1 each
company REREEIET
KBRS ARAA &R
Tianjin American Tec Mainland China, Trading of electronic US$200,000 100%
Trading Company limited liability products and 200,000% 7T
Limited (ii)* company spare parts

RERBXTERES  HERM - ARAR ETEMRTHHES
ERNA] (i)*

—-—
W F3{2008/09
—

I TERMEIERBRAF
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18. INVESTMENTS IN AND AMOUNTS DUE FROM 18.

SUBSIDIARIES — COMPANY (continued)

REBARZREREBERKHERQ

ARE—AXDQT (&)

Particulars of issued

Percentage of
equity interest

Place of incorporation share capital/ held by the
Name and kind of legal entity Principal activities registered capital Group
S AR Sz it B R BRITRAE i JEE
Z18 EEERER FTEEK TMELFE BRAERBESL
Tl RsA I 2n Mainland China, Trading of electronic RMB3,000,000 100%
BFRH limited liability products, machinery AR#3,000,0007C
BRAT (i) company and spare parts and
HER - BRAE provision of repair
and installation
services
BfEm - HER
ZHHEE HIAK
RUAERTERS
BRI E TR Mainland China, Trading of electronic US$3,000,000 100%

BRADE (i)

limited liability
company

REIA - BRAE

products, machinery 3,000,000%7T
and spare parts and
provision of repair
and installation
services
BYEMR Bk
THHBEH UK
REHEE R ERT

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the year
or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To
give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the

directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

Notes:

Shares of these companies are held directly by the Company. Shares
of the other companies are held indirectly.

These are wholly foreign-owned enterprises established in Mainland

China to operate for 20 years up to 2023 to 2039.

Not audited by Ernst & Young Hong Kong or other member firm of
the Ernst & Young global network.

ERBINEZSRR/IEREAKEALSF
EREXBRAEEEEFEIERD
ZARBMBAR - BERR - HEM
MEARZFHBIEEBRITE -

0) ZERARZBROBARAREERES -
HthRRIZBRHTIEERSE -

(i) WHERPEAMKL ZIIEBER
¥ KEPAE-_TFEE_T_=F
B—ZT=h%F-

* WHEHEBLKEAMEBHARR
KB EBIERBE 2 EMBKE
NEIE: TP
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19. JOINTLY-CONTROLLED ENTITIES

The Group subscribed for 100,000,000 non-redeemable convertible
preferred shares of Coland Group Limited (“Coland”). Upon full
conversion of the preferred shares to ordinary shares, the Group will
have 40% equity interests in Coland. In accordance with an
agreement between the Group and the other joint venturer, all
matters relating to Coland require joint approval by both parties.
Therefore, Coland has been accounted for as a jointly-controlled
entity. Coland is principally engaged in the processing and sale of
fishmeal, refining and sale of fish oil, manufacturing and sale of
aquatic feed products and trading of other raw materials relating to
aquatic feeds.

In addition, the Group has acquired 2,699,347 common shares of
TK Chemical Corporation (“TKC") for a cash consideration of
KRWS50 million (HK$376 million) before transaction costs on 30th
June 2008. The common shares were later converted into preferred
shares in July 2008. The preferred shares are participating,
cumulative and voting shares, which are entitled to receive a
minimum cash dividend at 15% of par value annually. In accordance
with a shareholders’ agreement, all major financial and operational
matters should be jointly approved by the Group and other venture
parties. Therefore, TKC has been accounted for as jointly-controlled
entity. TKC is principally engaged in the business of manufacturing
polyester fiber, spandex and PET resin.

19.

HEZHE®R

AEEEREREEEAERAAUS
& |) 2 100,000,000 f& 7~ 7] §& 0] A] #2 f%
BERD REBLBEERALTER
% AEEBHESSEIO%RAES -
BREASEEES -5 & 0EZ2W
HAlREZ YEEALINER
HEHE - At miERd A — AR
ZHERE SEFTERETAPMIKE
B ABBREEE KERHEGRER
HEREE D R E M B KE SRR 2 R
MWHES -

oy AEBR _ZEZENEFANA=T
B Y B TK Chemical Corporation ([ TKC |)
2609347k EBIEGH BeREAR
50,000,000 %2 [& (376,000,000 /& 7T ) * *
HBRZGHAR - ZEEBREER =T
ENFLARBRBELRRK ZFEER
R2H ZBEREREERD  BES
FIREEZ15% BB K EBSHE - R
BRERE  —UEAUGEREESEE
BIRASEREMEE T LR E -
Eit - TKCE I A—EHE R EE -
TKCEZEN E B MM - B4 4 R PET
BIRE RIS 2T o

T
w #£2008/09
w

I TERMEIERBRAF
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19.

NF=ZA=+—H
JOINTLY-CONTROLLED ENTITIES (continued) 19. HEEHER (&)
The following amounts represent the Group’s 40% share of the LTSRN ERENSEZ 40%5
assets and liabilities, and revenue and expenses of Coland as well as MTKCZ3374% & EH & EF A KU A 6
the Group’s 33.74% share in TKC. They are included in the Y WESHEEHAGEEEERR
consolidated balance sheet and income statement: FUgasE :
Coland
TKC SR
2009 2008 2009 2008
—EENF T N\F —EENF T N\F
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FAT FHET FAET
Assets BE
Long-term assets REEE 662,532 — 101,248 73,882
Current assets MENEE 156,307 — 272,268 335,896
818,839 — 373,516 409,778
Liabilities afE
Long-term liabilities RHEE (145,250) = (2,457) (3,440)
Current liabilities mEBBE (380,509) — (210,318) (242,337)
(525,759) — (212,775) (245,777)
Net assets BEEFE 293,080 — 160,741 164,001
Revenue A 1,202,512 — 430,888 418,499
Expenses Sl (1,284,198) — (444,849) (417,118)
(Loss)/profit for the B FR(58E)
period/year i A (81,686) — (13,961) 1,381
As at 31st March 2009, capital commitments relating to the jointly- R-ZBEZNF=A=1+—"H A&EE
controlled entities at the balance sheet date but not yet incurred are ERHRIEHI T N RELE 2 EARRIE
as follows: mr
2009 2008
—EZTAF —ETNF
HK$'000 HK$°000
FET FAET
Property, plant and equipment: VI - B KR
Contracted but not provided for EETHVERE 13,446 16,379
Authorised but not contracted for EHUEBRETL — 15,240
13,446 31,619
There are no contingent liabilities relating to the jointly-controlled RZZEZNF=A=+—"H BEEFH
entities as at 31st March 2009. HEEHEE 2N ARE -
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19. JOINTLY-CONTROLLED ENTITIES (continued) 19. HEEHERE (&)

ATERZZEZNF=A=1+—B#F

The following is a list of jointly-controlled entities as at 31st March

20009: ZHERZHE
Percentage of
Particulars of issued equity interest
Place of incorporation share capital/  indirectly held by
Name and kind of legal entity Principal activities registered capital the Group
AR 323t B R BRITRE FEEBEME
£ EERRER TEXRK EMEARFE BRAERE DL
Coland Group Limited Bermuda, limited Investment holding 150,000,000 ordinary 40%
SEEEARAT liability company REER shares of HK$0.1 each
BRE  BRARF and 100,000,000
preference shares of
HK$0.1 each
150,000,000/%
BREE0 BT
P31 98
100,000,000%
BREE0IAET
2B
Coland Holdings Hong Kong, limited Sourcing of 5,000,000 shares 40%
Company Limited liability company fishmeal and of HK$1.00 each
SREERNDERAT BB GRAAF fish oil, investment 5,000,000%
holding, property BREET.008T
holding pd’ <)
B KBRS
REZER -
ESS ]
Coland Management Hong Kong, limited Inactive 10 shares of 40%
Limited liability company WE HK$1.00 each
aREERERAHE B% - BRAF 108 G AREE
1.00% T2 k1A
Coland Shipping Hong Kong, limited Provision of 10 shares of 40%
Limited liability company shipping agency HK$1.00 each
REMBEERATE B8 - BRAF services 10 B EE
REMTE IR RS 1.00/8 T2 Bk 5
Coland Wuhan Feed Mainland China, Production and US$1,800,000 40%

Co., Ltd. (i)*
R R
BRAT ()

limited liability
company

REAM - BRAF

distribution of
aquatic feeds

TREE R A B A B

1,800,000 7T

—-—
W F3{2008/09
[V,

I TERMEIERBRAF
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Place of incorporation

19. JOINTLY-CONTROLLED ENTITIES (continued) 19.

HEZHER &)

Particulars of issued
share capital/

Percentage of
equity interest
indirectly held by

Name and kind of legal entity Principal activities registered capital the Group
R 3L 4t BE BRTRAE FEBBEME
g EEERER TEXK EMERFE RAEERB DL
Coland Wuhan Mainland China, Purchase, processing, US$5,100,000 40%
Seafood Co., Ltd (i)* limited liability sales and import and 5,100,000 T
RESEKERD company export business of
BRAF ()* HER - BRAT seafood
RERRYWEE - T
THE A D27
Fujian Coland Mainland China, Processing fishmeal, RMB52,000,000 40%
Enterprises limited liability refining fish oil, AR¥52,000,00070
Co., Ltd. (i)* company trading of processed
BEaEEE B - BREATF fishmeal and refined
BRAR (i) fish oil, property
holding, investment
holding
BHINT - FERE
NI A RER
RRES  ME
A REEKR
Fujian Coland Mainland China, Manufacturing and US$5,000,000 40%
Bioengineering limited liability sale of fish ol 5,000,000% T
Co., Ltd. (ii)* company BRMRE R HE
BESELY HEIN - BRAR
TIRERRF (i)*
Fujian Coland Feed Mainland China, Production and RMB20,000,000 40%
Co., Ltd. (i)* limited liability distribution of AFE#20,000,0007T
BEeERR company feeds
BRAR (i) HER - BRATE SR E R 5 85
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19. JOINTLY-CONTROLLED ENTITIES (continued) 19.

HEZHER &)

Particulars of issued

Percentage of
equity interest

Place of incorporation share capital/  indirectly held by
Name and kind of legal entity Principal activities registered capital the Group
R 3L 3t BE BRITRA, FEBBEME
g EEERER TEXK EMERFE RAEERZRB DL
Fujian Coland Mainland China, Sale and supply of RMB42,000,000 40%
Logistics Co., Ltd. (i)* limited liability fishmeal, AR ¥42,000,0007C
BESEDR company property holding,
BRAF ()* HER - BRAE investment holding
AMHE RHLE -
MERAR - REER
Fujian Coland-Nosan Mainland China, Production and RMB20,000,000 40%
Feed Co., Ltd. ()* limited liability distribution of AFE#20,000,0007T
BEsRREM company feeds
BRAR (i) HEIN - BRAR SR E R 5 8
Fuzhou Economic Mainland China, Manufacturing and US$2,500,000 40%
Technical Development  limited liability sale of aquatic feeds 2,500,000% 7T
Zone Coland company IKEE R B M S
Feeds Co., Ltd (ii)* HER - BRAF
BNFERS
FRER AT (i)*
Joint Group Limited British Virgin Islands, Investment holding 10,300 shares of 24%
BRSEAER AR limited liability KB US$1.00 each
company 10,300 SR HEE
RBEAHE  BRAA 1.00£ T2 & 17
Ocean Resource Macao  Macau, limited Sourcing of MOP500,000 40%
Commercial Offshore liability company fishmeal and crude 500,00038F 7%

Limited*
BRRPIEE T P RS
BRATE*

R ARAR

fish oil, property
holding

AP RERR
RE - WERE

—-—
W F3{2008/09
N

I TERMEIERBRAF
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19. JOINTLY-CONTROLLED ENTITIES (continued) 19.

Place of incorporation

HE

EHER @)

Percentage of

Particulars of issued equity interest

share capital/  indirectly held by

Name and kind of legal entity Principal activities registered capital the Group
SE AR AL it B BRTRE, AEBEERE
£ EEBRER TEXK EMERFE REEZB DL
Rising Trend British Virgin Islands, Investment holding 6,290 shares of 40%
International Limited* limited liability REER US$1.00 each
company 6,290 B R EE
KBRS ARAA 1.00% 7T 2 & n
TK Chemical Corporation  Republic of Korea Manufacture and sale KRW40,000 million 33.74%
AR of polyester fiber, 40,000,000,000%%[E
spandex and
PET resin
e Bltask
PETRIPRENE R HE
Notes: Hier
(i) These companies are wholly foreign-owned enterprises. 0] ZERRIINEBEMRE -

(ii) These companies are Sino-foreign equity joint ventures.

* Not audited by Ernst & Young Hong Kong or other member firm of
the Ernst & Young global network.

FZERBIPIAEDRE -

WHERBEBLKEAMEBAAL
KEFEEBAERBHE 2 EMKE
NGIE:S 3
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20. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS

2. AHEESRMEE

Group
REE
2009 2008
—EENF —ZEENF
HK$'000 HK$°000
FET FEIT
At the beginning of the year FH] 3,481 —
Additions INE — 3,057
Acquisition of a jointly-controlled entity Lz $% [F] 1% I & 82 9,513 —
Changes in fair value from/(to) equity 2B/ (¥) BRA QLB 2 & &)

(note 28) (Hiat 28) 193 (193)
Disposals e (9,512) —
Provision for impairment WEBE (1,803) —
Exchange realignments PE H 58 & (515) 617
At the end of the year FR 1,357 3,481
Available-for-sale financial assets At ESHEERTENOT

include the following:

Listed securities — overseas EWESE— 8 1,356 3,481

Unlisted securities — overseas JEEMEHF — 8IN 1 =

1,357 3,481

There has been a significant decline in the market value of the listed
equity investments during the year. The directors consider that such
a decline indicates that the listed equity investments have been
impaired and an impairment loss of HK$1,803,000 (2008: Nil),
which included a transfer from the available-for-sale investment
revaluation reserves of HK$193,000 (2008: Nil), has been recognised
in the consolidated income statement for the year.

Available-for-sale financial assets are denominated in Japanese Yen
and Korean Won.

FALMRERE 2 MEAR &K - &
EREEMTHRERETRERER
BE TRAFELRERERERRE
E5181,803, 0008 L (ZEENF : &) -
PRERBATHRELERESHFEEZ
193,000/ 7L (Z T )\ 4 : ) o

AR ESREENB T REEE -

W
w #32008/09
(Vo)

bR BRI AR AT
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21. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS 2. HkERBHEE
Group
TEE
2009 2008
—EENF —ZEEINF
HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FEIT
Rental and other deposits HERHMIES 9,300 3,307
Prepayments on construction costs FENEEER 11,672 =
20,972 3,307
22. INVENTORIES 22. ®E
Group
rEH
2009 2008
—EENF —TENF
HK$000 HK$°000
FETT FEIT
Raw materials B 119,398 111,568
Finished goods LA o 143,578 201,620
Consumables SEFE SR 2,714 1,157
265,690 314,345
The net book amount of the Group’s inventories held under finance AEERBEREMAOABEZ2FERZ
leases as at 31st March 2009 is HK$15,822,000. EENF=ZA=T—RZEEFEAR

15,822,000/ 7t °

Certain inventories are pledged as security for the Group’s banking ETHFETUEBREARNEERITRE
facilities. Details are set out in note 38 to the financial statements. RIEIR - B E NI KM E38 -
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23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 23. BEZEWRIERHMEWKKIE
Group Company
rE® AT
2009 2008 2009 2008
“ETAE | ZETN\F | ZBBAE | ZTTNF
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$000 HK$°000
FET FAET FET FAET
Trade and bills receivables B 5 W IE &

i 184,485 174,888 — =

Less: Impairment of trade &l : Z 5 U k1B
receivables HE (15,306) (8,285) — —

Trade and bills receivables, & 5 fE W 18 &
net (note (a)) U EE

EFE (M et @) 169,179 166,603 — —
Prepayments B FRIE 10,022 10,259 — —
Deposits to suppliers MR ke 1,102 7,464 — —
Rental deposits Helks 1,896 840 — —
Interest receivables JE I F) B, 743 97 101 97

Finance lease receivables & T8 A FE R IE
(note (b)) (KzE b)) 2,535 4,676 — —
Other receivables H b FE YRR 25,997 6,099 — —
211,474 196,038 101 97

(@) Trade and bills receivables

The Group generally requires letter of credit or documents
against payment, with some cases granting a credit period of
30 to 90 days. At 31st March 2009, the aging analysis of
trade receivables is as follows:

(@ EBEZEURERERREE

AEB-—MEKEABHAARR
B-BRTENBEFERNTI0H
ZNHTEFEEH RZZTZTN
F=A=+—HB BZERKKE

ZHEBROWHT

Group

rEE
2009 2008
—EENF —EENF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FEIT
90 days or less 9 HKAT 131,391 118,083
91 to 180 days 91THZ=Z=180H 17,610 21,434
181 to 270 days 181H=270H 5,603 15,652
271 to 365 days 271H=365H 3,384 4,946
Over 365 days B 1A 365 H 11,191 6,488
169,179 166,603

—-—
H FI{2008/09
—

bR BRI AR AT
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23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

(a)

Trade and bills receivables (continued)

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on
letter of credit or documents against payment, except for
new customers, where payment in advance is normally
required. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its
outstanding receivables to minimise credit risk. Overdue
balances are reviewed regularly by senior management. The
Group's trade receivables relate to a large number of
diversified customers, there is no significant concentration of
credit risk.

Trade receivables less than six months past due are normally
not considered as impaired except for the balance of
approximately HK$30,000 (2008: HK$285,000). As at 31st
March 2009, trade receivables of approximately
HK$20,178,000 (2008: HK$27,086,000) were past due but
not impaired. These related to a number of independent
customers for whom there is no recent history of default. The
aging analysis of these trade receivables is as follows:

23 BESRUREBEREMEWRRE

(%)

(@

EZRUREARBRRE (&)

AEBREEFPZEFHEARETE
REMBANRRE - EHEF
—RAEFEENK - AEESK
S 2 OR YWOBR 2 B U R TR S B
ZHAREREEERR - S
EEEEERRTAHFKE - A
SEZESRUFBRIRAREDT
REF AUGtEEARESRZ
SRR -

FTRANBAZEZREBFESR
HEBET AR ALREAE B0
R BE 49300008 L (ZE TN
& : 285,000 % 7T ) Al & ] Hh o &
E-_ZTNANF=ZA=+—8"
#920,178,000 B T (=TT )\ F :
27,086,000 7T ) 2 & 5 FE W IR
E@aHETERE  HEESE
WSk I8 7 I B o5 37 3 3 48 5 /R A0
BMBUYRFE %S E 2 EKK

BZRESTHAT

Group

rEE
2009 2008
—EZThEF —TT)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Over 6 months and up to 9 months 618 A =918 A 5,603 15,652
Over 9 months @& A 14,575 11,434
20,178 27,086
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23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

(@) Trade and bills receivables (continued)

As at 31st March 2009, trade receivables of approximately
HK$15,306,000 (2008: HK$8,285,000) were impaired and
fully provided for. The individually impaired receivables mainly
relate to certain manufacturers, which are in unexpected
difficult economic situations. The aging of these receivables is
as follows:

23 BESRUREBEREMEWRRE

(%)

(@ ESEWTREARERERE (&)

R=ZZEAFE=A=+—8"
#915,306,000 8 T ( =T )\ F :
8,285,000/ 7T ) < & 5 FE W K IE H
WM EN 2 2B ELH B E - @R H
REBECERREBEZTESRAET
RABALCERSE 2 BEN - Z
SRWFIBEZRED>TAT

Group

rEE
2009 2008
—EERF —ET)N\F
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FHET
Less than 6 months 618 A KW 30 285
Over 6 months and up to 9 months 618 A =918 A 1,536 646
Over 9 months BidofE A 13,740 7,354
15,306 8,285

Movements on the impairment of trade receivables are as

BHRWHAREEFHWT

follows:
Group
rEH
2009 2008
—ETAE ZTT)N\F
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET
At the beginning of the year F4 8,285 6,867
Acquisition of a jointly-controlled WehE LR HIE 88
entity 448 —
Impairment of trade receivables 2 5 WS IB R E 6,759 1,984
Receivables written-off during the FAMB AT TUYEZ
year as uncollectible JE UK B — (1,262)
Exchange realignments E H % (186) 696
At the end of the year FR 15,306 8,285

The creation or release of provision for impaired receivables
has been included in selling and distribution expenses in the
income statement. Amounts charged to the allowance
account are generally written off when there is no expectation
of recovering additional cash.

B R 1E 8 W R IR 2 3 A 4R R S
EBEdAkmRHERDH
ERAN- 2RI WEREINE
T AR B ARG 2 308 — &
T LA S o

g
#32008/09
b #

I TERMEIERBRAF
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23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)
(%)
(a) Trade and bills receivables (continued) (a)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade receivables are
denominated in the following currencies:

23 BESRUREBEREMEWRRE

EZRUREARBRRE (&)
AEBEZEYGFEREEAT

P ERRELN

Group

KEE
2009 2008
—EZTAF —ZTEENF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FEIT
Hong Kong dollar BT 804 2,975
US dollar EpH 72,415 100,369
Japanese Yen HJt 9,316 27,874
Korean Won [ 36,188 —
Renminbi AR 41,981 32,796
Other currencies Hih gk 8,475 2,589
169,179 166,603

Certain bill receivables are pledged as security for the Group’s
banking facilities. Details are set out in note 38 to the

ETRERUREBEEERESREH
RITMEZER - FBEHINRY

financial statements. TR 2% Bt 5E38 ©
(b) Finance lease receivables (b) WMEAYEWRFE:
Group
rEH
2009 2008
—EENF —TENF
HK$'000 HK$°000
FHETT FET
Finance lease receivables are analysed Bt &L ER KB LA T ¢
as follows:
Finance leases — gross receivables BMEMRLN — B FIEARE 2,699 5,169
Unearned finance income R R ER B 75 UL A (164) (493)
2,535 4,676
Finance lease receivables: A T A fE W SR
— Within 1 year — 1FURA 2,535 4,619
— Between 1 and 2 years —1ERE2F — 57
2,535 4,676
(c) The maximum exposure to credit risk at the balance sheet © REEB ZaEERBRAES
date is the carrying amount of the trade and other FEU SR IE I B fth FE U SR IB 2 BR T
receivables. (ERE
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24. SUBSCRIPTION RECEIVABLES — GROUP AND 24.
COMPANY

Up to 31st March 2009, the Company issued a total of 13,373,254,851
non-redeemable preference shares, with a par value of HK$0.01
each, through placements, for an aggregate amount of approximately
HK$2,273,037,000. Details of each placement are set out below:

AEREBRE —EAEREREQT

BE_ZETZHhFE=F=+—8 ' &R
AERREERT I ERELRE &
13,373,254,851 JE f% 17 * AR E(E0.0175

JC ¢ FXIB HEH#9 2,273,037,0008 7T © &
mEEFBHINOT ¢

First Second
Tranche of Tranche of
The First The First Second
Placement Placement Placement
Bt Bt B
BERRE EL I BRE
Month of issue February and  September 2006 ~ December 2007
March 2006
BERAMHD —ETREF —ETREF —ETLF
—Ak=H A +=A
Number of non-redeemable BEETZAAEE
preference shares issued BEKRER 7,383,166,793 792,848,020  5,197,240,038
Subscription price BRABEE
per share (HK$) (Bx) 0.1566 0.1566 0.1910
Aggregate subscription HETREE
price (HK$) (L) 1,156,204,000 124,160,000 992,673,000
The subscription prices are payable in cash by the subscribers in four REEEARBAYDNHBERENIRS Y

equal instalments for the First Placement. For the First Tranche of
the First Placement, the first instalment was received by the
Company in February and March 2006 upon completion of the
subscriptions. For the Second Tranche of the First Placement, the
first instalment was received by the Company in September 2006.
The second and third instalments have been received by the
Company in October and December 2006 respectively in accordance
with the terms of the preference shares. The remaining instalment
has been received by the Company in February 2009.

NAETERES - HRF—HEWA
S ARAEERBERERR_TETRX
F_AR=ZAKRIEHFKEA - EREZ
HEBEE  AAREE_ZTTRFN
AWERIEHRE - Bk =D HHIE
MARFRRBEERGRDFIN_-FF
NETARTZAWE B TRESR
“ETNF - AKE -

—-—
B FIR2008/09
Ul
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NE=ZA=+—H

SUBSCRIPTION RECEIVABLES — GROUP AND
COMPANY (continued)

The subscription prices of the Second Placement are payable in cash
by the subscribers in three equal instalments. The first instalment
has been received by the Company in December 2007, upon the
completion of the subscription of the Second Placement. The
remaining two instalments would be receivable in February 2008
and February 2009 provided that payment of the second instalment
shall not be required unless at least 75% of the subscription prices
previously received for investments have been paid out for or
committed to investments for the Company. No drawdown of the
second instalment was made in February 2008 since less than 75%
of the subscription prices received has been utilised. The remaining
two instalments have been drawndown in February 2009 in
accordance with the terms of the preference shares.

In the event that the subscription prices previously paid to the
Company from time to time for the preference shares are
insufficient to make any potential investments approved by the
Board of Directors of the Company and/or pay fees or expenses
which are payable by the Company under the services agreement
signed between the Company and North Asia Strategic Advisors
(“NASA") on 26 September 2005 (as amended on 30th December
2005 and 2nd March 2009 supplemented on), the Company shall
be entitled to require the relevant amount of instalment to be paid
on a date specified by the Company but not earlier than 45 days
from the date serving the payment notice by the Company.

Any unpaid balance of the subscription prices remaining payable
immediately prior to 28th February 2009 or, if earlier, the business
day immediately preceding the date of conversion of the preference
shares into ordinary shares, shall in any event be receivable by the
Company on such date, as the case may be.

24,

HEBEWRE
(&)

RTH— FZEERALQF

THRECREEBEAREAS =
EBUBE T - RRRIEEE W
ERBEBTHE RZZETZLF+AK
Bl HAKIE - 8 TR ELE D BN
—ETAE—H&:??nE—H%

C HERRFEAAIE KRB RBREBER D
75%5%’%1#%%& &/\zvx AZEE
BRABESZNE ZBFRIE - BPR75%
Bz REE IE‘E%&WH D 4% &)
AR=ZZZNF-AZE_HFIE - #
TRHZECREELRERNR =S
NEZAFHA -

fid 28 X &) 55 B DB g8 S IRE B 2 R
BETRUMEEARRIZEZGEMEZ
THEJ‘}%E&;Q&/EEQHZK@ETEEEE
North Asia Strategic Advisors ([ NASA |) 7
—ETERFNAA-+NEE QTZHE?ZT/%
HFRZZETAF T+ A=+ HEES
&F_E;Tﬂizﬁ_a,%%ﬁﬁ),,ﬁ
NeBRKXRAL  AIRRAEEREER
BRARTBEEZAREIRFIEREAR
AIXENFBEMZ BRE458) XN E
O EEH -

EE_ZTTENF A=+ N NHZAEI X
(F@)%&ﬁ?ﬁﬂx?ﬂﬁﬁ AR 2 H
—EEAARNENREERE  EH
ZZDH%EEEIZKAEE’:‘EZE(?ﬁla/ﬂﬁﬁm)

L ER o



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Br 35 SR Ak Y

31st March 2009
—ETZAF=A=1+—H

24. SUBSCRIPTION RECEIVABLES — GROUP AND
COMPANY (continued)

The subscription receivables recognised in the balance sheet are
calculated as follows:

RBEWRRE —AEERAAT
(é%:’)

BEEBERTPHERAZRBERENRFIETE
N

2009 2008

—EEhF —ETNF

HK$000 HK$'000

FET FAET

Subscription receivables SRR e W F B 1,622,055 1,622,055
Less: Future interest NEE ﬂiX?’FIJ,m (137,305) (137,305)
Add: Amortised interest income o SR B U A 137,305 95,861
1,622,055 1,580,611
Less: Subscriptions received B DU R (1,609,055) (640,182)
Subscription receivables 008 i Uk 3R 13,000 940,429

The carrying amounts of subscription receivables approximate to
their fair values.

Amortised interest income recognised as income and included in
finance income amounted to approximately HK$41,444,000 (2008:
HK$22,168,000) (note 9).

Interest income on the subscription receivables is calculated using
the effective interest method by applying the effective interest rates
ranging from 6% to 6.5% (2008: 6% to 6.5%) per annum.

RBEKKREBZ FEERE QT ER

% °

TR AU AL A B 7 U A BB 85 5 8
W A% 541,444,000 70 (Z T E )\ 4F -
22,168,000/ 7T ) (FizE9) °

RBREKKREZFEWATIZERF
KE 6% E6.5% :gg}\ﬂf 6% E
65%) 2 EBRFNEFE

—-—
£ FIR2008/09
N
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25. NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE — GROUP 25, B EHENERBEE — & &

2009
—EENF
HK$°000
FET
Acquisition of a jointly-controlled entity Ui BE Rl 4 I E R 25,875
Provision for impairment VAR (17,233)
Exchange realignments PE H (2,378)
At the end of the year FR 6,264
Non-current assets held for sale represents plant and machinery of a BEHENERSEERLRIZG AT
jointly-controlled company, which are expected to qualify for B E RS  JEHR S E B st —
recognition as a completed sale within one year from the date of FAFEERERBE THIEE -
classification.
26. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND PLEDGED 26 BHERBEZEBERCEAR
BANK DEPOSITS TER
Group Company
rEE ¥ NN
2009 2008 2009 2008
—EZAF | ZTT)N\F | ZEEAF | Z2EEN\F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET FET FET
Cash at banks and on hand WRITRFERS 886,558 67,532 853,672 22,577
Short-term bank deposits MEIRITIER 177,025 558,571 176,758 558,389
Cash and cash equivalents REeRIREEEIEH 1,063,583 626,103 1,030,430 580,966
Pledged bank deposits 2EFIEITER 46,086 48,390 — —
1,109,669 674,493 1,030,430 580,966
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26. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND PLEDGED 26, BEEFBESEEEBERCEFR

BANK DEPOSITS (continued)

As at 31st March 2009, the effective interest rate on short-term
bank deposits was approximately 0.61% (2008: 1.09%) per annum,
these deposits have an average maturity of 67 days (2008: 7 days).

The pledged deposits were pledged as collateral for the Group’s
banking facilities and the effective interest rate on pledged bank
deposits was approximately 1.40% (2008: 3.47%) per annum,
these deposits have an average maturity of 300 days (2008: 258
days).

Cash and cash equivalents and pledged bank deposits were

TER#E)

R-ZBEZNF=ZA=+—H - @HRT
GRZEBFFNERLNHABIONN(ZEE
NF 1.09%) : WEFRZFHEEA
BETH(ZZZENEFE :78) °

EEABTERIRFESNEBIBITRE
G MEBEBETERZEERER
K BE140%(ZFENF  347%)
EFR2FHEEBAAR30H(ZF
T\ : 258H) °

RekREeEFEREB RBERRTER

g
#32008/09
© #

I TERMEIERBRAF

denominated in the following currencies: LATRBI ¥ R B

Group Company
wE ¥ NN

2009 2008 2009 2008
—EEAF | ZFT)N\F | ZBEEAF | ZZETN\F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FETT FAET FET FET
Hong Kong dollar BT 1,040,161 594,614 1,030,430 580,958
US dollar ETT 18,725 10,771 — 8
Renminbi AR 36,381 62,586 — —
Korean Won [ 13,514 — — —
Others currencies Hiph g 888 6,522 — —
1,109,669 674,493 1,030,430 580,966

The Group's cash and cash equivalents denominated in Renminbi
are deposited with banks in Mainland China. The conversion of
these Renminbi denominated balances into foreign currencies and
the remittance of funds out of Mainland China is subject to the
rules and regulations of foreign exchange control promulgated by
the Mainland China Government.

AEBUAARBRBEUZAERASE
BIEB T ERRHEAMRTT - LRt
ENARBEREMN 2 B RIMNERKE
T I AP B 3 28 S R B X 3 TR T R A
ZINEE B IR B R AR BIFT AR R o
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27. SHARE CAPITAL 27. BA&
Ordinary shares Preference shares
ZER BER
Ordinary Preference
Number of shares Number of share
shares capital shares capital Total
BROBE TEREX ROHE BERRE B
‘000 HK$'000 ‘000 HK$'000 HK$'000
F Az FET F FHET FET
Authorised: ETE
At 31st March 2008 RZZEZENER
and 2009 —ETNEF
=A=+—H 40,000,000 400,000 30,000,000 300,000 700,000
Analysed as — BTy SH—
Ordinary shares of FREE
HK$0.01 each 001/ BT
T EAR 40,000,000 400,000 — — 400,000
Preference shares of BREE
HK$0.01 each 001 BT
Bk — — 30,000,000 300,000 300,000
40,000,000 400,000 30,000,000 300,000 700,000
Issued: [
At 1st April 2007 R-ZTTLF
mA—H 95,795 958 8,176,014 81,760 82,718
Issue of preference shares #1718 5L % — — 5,197,240 51,973 51,973
At 31st March 2008 RZEBEENFER
and 2009 —ETNEF
=A=+—H 95,795 958 13,373,254 133,733 134,691

The preference shares are non-redeemable and are convertible into
ordinary shares in the Company at a conversion ratio of one
preference share into one ordinary share. The preference shares will
rank pari passu with the ordinary shares of the Company with

regard to dividends.

The preference shares will be automatically converted into ordinary
shares upon the listing of the converted ordinary shares on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, or on 28th

February 2010, whichever is earlier.

BEBRBTAIER - 3R —BRELRRL
—REBRZABUEA LB AREE
B BBRETEM S - BEKRGER

AR EBERZEBRFMA

BEBBNEEREBRNEE

ZIBRAR IR ETHINR -—T—FF
“TAZTNBUAREERE) BPH

BAREBK -

E R
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28. RESERVES 28. f#tE
Group
A5
Equity Retained
portion of Investment  Cumulative profits/
Shares Contributed convertible Capital revaluation translation (accumulated
premium surplus bonds reserve reserve adjustments losses) Total
TRRES REERE EHER REEN/
RGEE BHRS <#zd) EXRE " #E  (RiER) am
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FAT FET FET FET FAT
Balances at 1st April 2007 ~ HR=ZTTLE
MA—HAZ&# 1,083,637 8,984 6,388 2,700 — 1,850 45063 1,148,622
Loss attributable to equity AR AEHEFEA

holders of the Company EEER — — — — — — (72,590) (72,590)
Issue of preference shares EIBRER 914,968 - — — — — — 914,968
Share issue expenses — BROBTER—

preference shares BrR (5,970) — — — — — — (5,970)
Decrease in fair value of e SREE

available-for-sale financial AR ER L (Hi320)

assets (note 20) — — — — (193) — — (193)
Translation adjustments — net [E ¥ 3% — %48 — — — — = 11,128 = 11,128
Balances at 31st March 2008 RN=ZE)\&F

and 1st April 2008 =A=+t-Ak

“ZE\fMA—H
L% 1,992,635 8,984 6,388 2,700 (193) 12,978 (27,527) 1,995,965
Loss attributable to equity AR FEREE A

holders of the Company {58 - - - - - - (136,093)  (136,093)
Impairment of available-for- ~ F & 7 SBAE

sale financial assets RfE (HE20)

(note 20) — — — — 193 — — 193
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBEAR - - - (2,700) — (1,055) 2,700 (1,055)
Actuarial gain from pension Rk & 2 EE U - — - — — — 5,692 5,692
Translation adjustments — net [E 5 % — %48 - - - - - (72,316) - (72,316)
Balances at 31st March 2009 R=Z TN F

ZA=Zt-BzEH%| 1,992,635 8,984 6,388 - - (60,393) (155,228) 1,792,386

—-—
U1 §3R2008/09
—
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28. RESERVES (continued)

28. f@#E (&)

Company
¥ YN
Equity Retained
portion of profits/
Share Contribution convertible (accumulated
premium surplus bonds losses) Total
TRRES REEAMS
B 1p = 1E BARS ZEzEXH? (RFESR) M
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FETT FET FETT FET FETT
Balances at 1st April 2007 R ZZEZ+F
MA—R &% 1,083,637 8,984 6,388 35,054 1,134,063
Profit attributable to KRBERFSE
equity shareholders AREAE % H
of the Company — — — 9,350 9,350
Issue of preference shares 3178 %t i 914,968 — — — 914,968
Share issue expenses — BRHEITER—
preference shares B LR (5,970) — — — (5,970)
Balances at 31st March 2008 72 —Z & )\ F
and 1st April 2008 “A=+—-BXk
ZZTENF
MA—HZ &% 1,992,635 8,984 6,388 44,404 2,052,411
Loss attributable to ARRIBREZHERA
equity shareholders &R
of the Company — — — (257,509) (257,509)
Balances at 31st March 2009 A —ZZ 14
=R=+—8H
LB 1,992,635 8,984 6,388 (213,105) 1,794,902
29. BORROWINGS — GROUP 29. BE—XEK
Borrowings are analysed as follows: EESWIT :
2009 2008
—EENF —ZETENE
HK$'000 HK$°000
FET FAHIT
Bank borrowings (note (a)) WITEE (M5 @E) 430,409 176,795
Finance lease obligations (note (b)) BhE A EYE (KaEb)) 6,887 16,379
Total borrowings BEMBE 437,296 193,174
Less: Non-current portion o IEmEE (75,939) (10,338)
Current portion mE =8 361,357 182,836
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29. BORROWINGS — GROUP (continued)

2. BE—AXREHE)

(a) Bank borrowings (a) $BITEE
2009 2008
—EENF —EENF
HK$'000 HK$°000
FHT FEL
Non-current FETRED
Bank loans — secured RITER — BHE A 73,436 =
Mortgage loans — secured ZI\BER — BER 2,457 3,440
75,893 3,440
Current R ED
Discounted bills with recourse ARIRMERERE — A EA
— secured 58,040 30,833
Trust receipt loans — secured ERlkiEER — /KM 88,401 99,955
Bank loans — secured RITER — BHEM 171,860 -
Bank loans — unsecured RITE R — EIE 35,237 41,636
Mortgage loans — secured RI|BER — BER 978 931
354,516 173,355
Total bank borrowings RITEERE 430,409 176,795

The carrying amounts of the bank borrowings are

RITBEZEREAEDATINEE

denominated in the following currencies: REAL
2009 2008
ZEENF —ZTIENF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Hong Kong dollar BT 5,438 15,223
US dollar E7T 128,612 96,656
Renminbi AR 26,855 18,031
Japanese Yen HJt 24,467 42,508
Korean Won 8 239,293 —
Other currencies Hip g 5,744 4,377
430,409 176,795

22008/09

-
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29. BORROWINGS — GROUP (continued)

(a)

2. BE—AREH#E)

Bank borrowings (continued) (a) $RITEEE)
The effective interest rates (per annum) at the balance sheet REER ZERF X (RF5) W
date were as follows: T
As at 31st March 2009 As at 31st March 2008
R-BEEhE=A=1+-H RZZZ\E=A=1+—H
Hong Hong
Kong Japanese  Korean Kong Japanese
dollar US dollar Renminbi Yen Won dollar  USdollar ~ Renminbi Yen
BT ET AR® b #ZE BT =T AR S
Discounted bills with ~ BYIRH 8 R 48 — 4.5% 4.9% —  83%- — 53% 6.3% —
recourse £ 8.6%
Trust receipt loans ERYEER —  48% 7.9% 3.2% - 5.7% 5.0% 7.9% 5.7%
Bank loans RITER 4.6% 6.4% 6.4% —  8.0%- 4.5% 5.7% 6.7% —
8.6%
Mortgage loans BHER 2.8% — — — — 5.0% = — —

The carrying amounts of all bank borrowings approximate to
their fair values, as the impact of discounting is not
significant.

Bank borrowings denominated in Hong Kong dollar, US
dollar, Japanese Yen and Korean Won are being charged
interest at floating rates at HIBOR or LIBOR plus 0.7% to
3.0% per annum or at prime rates less 2.5% or prime rates
per annum offered by various banks.

Bank loans denominated in Renminbi are being charged
interest at floating rates between LIBOR plus 0.8% and LIBOR
plus 2.0% per annum and fixed rates between 5.0% and
9.0% per annum.

HRBRZFEL AEKR - A
EROTBEZEREEREALE
HE o

UNET -EmT  BLhERAE
MZRITEERZHFFERBE
EBBRTRERE R GBHIERTR
24K 2 N10.7% E3.0% 3k % R iR 1T
REZEEBFFRR25% K&
BEFFEE -

AR ABEMNZETERIRT
BEFNNENTHBBTRERE
H10.8% & 1;»; HRITREFE M
20% K% & E F F & N F5.0% =
9.0%:F & °

The bank borrowings are repayable as follows: RITIEEARNATHEESR
2009 2008
—EBhEF ZTTN\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Within 1 year 1FE AR 354,516 173,355
Between 1 and 2 years 18224 74,454 973
Between 2 and 5 years 2E5F 842 1,696
Over 5 years HBiB5F 597 771
430,409 176,795
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29. BORROWINGS — GROUP (continued) 2. BE—X&EH#)
(b) Finance lease obligations (b) WERDEE
At 31st March 2009, the Group had obligations under finance RZEZANF=ZA=+—H" ' &K
leases repayable as follows: SEREMEMNABEZAME
LU
2009 2008
—EENEF —EENF
HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FHET
Finance lease liabilites — minimum ~ @EMAHBEE — HEEL
lease payments:
— Within 1 year —1FUR 7,070 10,215
— Between 1 and 2 years —1E2%F 23 7,070
— Between 2 and 5 years —2ZE 54 29 52
7,122 17,337
Future finance charges on BEMROZRKBHEER
finance leases (235) (958)
Present value of finance AR RERME
lease obligations 6,887 16,379
The present value of finance lease MEMRLYEREZREDT ¢
obligations is as follows:
— Within 1 year —1FE A 6,841 9,492
— Between 1 and 2 years —1E2%F 19 6,841
— Between 2 and 5 years —2E 54 27 46
6,887 16,379

—-—
U1 F3R2008/09
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30. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 30. EZENREREMENSTIE
Group Company
rEE b N

2009 2008 2009 2008
—EENFE | Z2T)N\EF | ZBZEhE | ZTZENF
HK$’000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FET F&T FET F&T

Trade and bills payables Z 5 M FRIB R IET
=g 261,466 239,078 — —

Accrual for operating FEETH A & X
expenses 48,227 6,348 1,616 1,155
Receipts in advance AW IR 18,067 36,516 — —
Other payables H A FE T 5RIB 23,943 18,834 — —
351,703 300,776 1,616 1,155
The aging analysis of trade and bills payables is as follows: B SENRBRENER ZERER ST
T
Group
rEH

2009 2008
—sEAE | —TINF
HK$000 HK$°000
FET FEL
90 days or less 90 H sk AR 249,528 198,723
91 to 180 days 9MHZE180H 3,521 30,823
181 to 270 days 181H=270H 853 3,587
271 to 365 days 271 H £365H 2,221 1,640
Over 365 days HiE365H 5,343 4,305
261,466 239,078
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30. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued) 30. EFRENREARAEMENREE)
The carrying amounts of the trade and bills payables are denominated ESRNREMENEZERE ZEREMENLT
in the following currencies: HEBRBL -

Group

rEE
2009 2008
—EENF —EENF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Hong Kong dollar BT 3,064 1,350
US dollar ETT 199,237 122,200
Renminbi AR 13,263 4,281
Japanese Yen Bt 18,267 107,443
Korean Won 4] 24,955 —
Others currencies H g 2,680 3,804
Total R 261,466 239,078

31. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS — GROUP M. fTEEMIA—FKE

2009 2008
—EBNF —ZETENE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Forward foreign exchange contracts, RHINES LD - BAREITR
carried at fair value (note (a)) (Hiat@)) — 310
Call option liability (note (b)) REIEBE (W Ewb) 9,069 —
9,069 310
Less: Non-current portion o IEMEBE S 9,069 —
Current portion BN — 310
Notes: T
(@) At 31st March 2008, the total notional principal amount of the (a) R-_ZEZENE=ZA=+—8" ' KETT
outstanding forward foreign exchange contracts was approximately ZEBINEENZBERCRENR
HK$14,968,000. At 31st March 2008, fixed exchange rates from US 14,968,000/ C - RZZEZENF=A=
dollar to Renminbi ranged from 6.56 to 7.05. +—H ETHRARBENETEEXRN

T6.5627.05 °

—-—
U1 F3R2008/09
N
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31.

32.

NE=ZA=+—H

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS — GROUP

(continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b) On 26th June 2008, the Group entered into a shareholders’
agreement (the “Shareholders’ Agreement”) as part of the condition
precedent to the completion on the acquisition of 33.74% of the
total issued share capital of TKC. Pursuant to the Shareholders’
Agreement, the Group has granted a call option (the “SMG Call
Option”) to SMG SMT Chemical Co., Ltd. (“SMT") and TK Chemical
Holdings Co. Ltd. (“TKCH") (collectively “SMG"). Pursuant to the
SMG Call Option, SMG shall have the right but not the obligation to
purchase up to 50% of the TKC shares held by the Group. Details of
the SMG Call Option are disclosed in the circular dated 21st July
2008.

The fair value of the SMG Call Option was estimated at the issuance
date using the Black Scholes Pricing Model and the change in fair
value in this financial instrument is recognised in the consolidated
income statement.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS — GROUP AND COMPANY

In August 2005, the Company issued convertible bonds at face
value of approximately HK$20,000,000, which are denominated in
Hong Kong dollars.

The bonds will be mature in August 2010 or can be converted into
a total of approximately 127,713,920 shares in the Company, with
a par value of HK$0.01 each, at the holders' option, at HK$0.1566
per share. In addition, the holders have the right to request the
Company to redeem in whole or in part the outstanding bonds on
7th December 2007.

The fair values of the liability component and the equity conversion
component were determined upon issuance of the bonds. The
liability component is subsequently stated at amortised cost. The
fair value of the liability component was calculated using a market
interest rate for a term loan offered to the Group of 8.0% per
annum. The remaining amount, representing the value of the equity
conversion component, is included in shareholders’ equity as other
reserves.

3.

32.

TTEEMTI A — KB (#)

ffat : (%)

by RZZEZNFXNA=-+<8B ££H
IR ((RERE] (EATA
W BETKC 33.74% B 31T AN 2 %
Rz — c BBERRHE - A&E
CRERESRE((SMGRESZE]) ¥
SMG SMT Chemical Co., Ltd.([SMT]) &
TK Chemical Holdings Co. Ltd. ([ TKCH |)
(B BISMG]) ° BRIESMGHR IE B ## -
SMGEREEBEEEAREAEEIZAZ
TKC A% 1D 5 % 50% ° SMG 7R B8 HA i ¥ 1
REBA_ZEZENF+LA-+—HZ
BRI ©

SMGRE B Z A ERETRHE
RIAHm—iFME | HEEERA
oMb EBTAEZAREBEREPIRE
BUER P HER

REZ —FAKEREQTF

R-ZZEZTHRENA  ARRFETEEYD
/520,000,000 %8 JT 2 A #{% 5 % -
AR EHIAE T A B ©

> parad
75

BEHBER=_Z—ZF N\ AR FF A
AR ER0IS6BITEESE LR A
& $£49127,713,920 f% = P T (& A0.01 78
TLZARRNRRG o o HBEABRE
KARRARZEZELFE+-_AtHEE
BEE B MR R 2 EFH o

BENSRERABIES 2 ARETIR
BITEFHEE - BER D H R LH#H
AN - AEBOZANETRAE
B TR 2 E B T 5 F FI K 8.0%
AE -BRBE(AERLBEY 2EE)
TRt AR RBEIE R E MR -
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32. CONVERTIBLE BONDS — GROUP AND COMPANY 2. THKRES —FAKEEREQF

(continued) (#)
The convertible bonds recognised on the balance sheet are REEBBERERZIUBRBRESHIET
calculated as follows: G| REE
2009 2008
—EZThE ZZTNF
HK$'000 HK$°000
FET FEIL
Face value of convertible bonds RZZEZERFENANBMRETZ
issued on 8th August 2005 AR ES 2 HE 20,000 20,000
Equity component M E D (6,388) (6,388)
Liability component on initial RZZEZRFENANBLER
recognition on 8th August 2005 ZEBEHS 13,612 13,612
Accrued interest expenses FERTH B B 4,655 3,378
Liability component at 31st March R=ZA=+T—BZaEB&HH 18,267 16,990
Interest expenses on the bonds are calculated using the effective BEZABTHNRERAR AR ARG
interest method by applying the effective interest rate of 8.0% per B NEBRFANE80%ATE -
annum to the liability component.
Accrued interest expenses recognised as expenses and included in MRASTHIAAPBER ZEAFE
finance costs amounted to approximately HK$ 1,277,000 (2008: S A A1,277,0008 T (ZEFENF
HK$1,278,000) (note 9). 1,278,000 7T ) (FifFE9) o
The carrying amounts of liability component of convertible bonds AMRkES 8BS 2 RHERELR

approximate to their fair values. TEEE -

Q EE
(V] #32008/09
(V-]
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33. DEFERRED TAX — GROUP

Deferred tax is calculated in full on tempora

33.

ry differences under the

liability method using the applicable tax rates which are expected to
apply at the time of reversal of the temporary difference.

The movements in net deferred tax assets/(liabilities) are as follows:

BEERIE —AEE

BRERBDRABERAEASNE
AERNBERZERTRERERER

miH -

iy =
Ea

EEMRBEEE/(BE)FR2EHM

T :
2009 2008
—EENF —ET)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FE T
At the beginning of the year F ¥ 12,433 (2,333)
Recognised on acquisition of FAUR BB (7] 42 1| B8 A FE 7R
a jointly-controlled entity (36,718) —
Recognised in the income MU xR (M 10)
statement (note 10) 21,190 14,766
Exchange realignments [ 57, 5 & 8,113 —
At the end of the year FR 5,018 12,433
Representing: 1
Deferred tax assets BREBIBEE 18,810 12,444
Deferred tax liabilities REFRIBEE (13,792) (11)
Total Pk 5,018 12,433

The movements in deferred tax assets and (liabilities) (to be
recovered/settled after 12 months) during the year without taking
into consideration of the offsetting of balances within the same tax

jurisdiction, are as follows:

FA - ELEFARKBEARBEDEE
BRAGH DN BELHBAEER(BE)

(#1218 A & m

T

Accelerated tax

BE) ZEFHN

depreciation Tax losses Total

IEEBIBETE HEER B

HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FET FET

At the beginning of the year F1) (1,790) 14,223 12,433
Recognised on acquisition of 7 Uk B+t @) 3% 4

a jointly-controlled entity BEREER (37,489) 771 (36,718)

Recognised in the income R %S R R

statement 14,476 6,714 21,190

Exchange realignments [ i =& 8,195 (82) 8,113

At the end of the year FR (16,608) 21,626 5,018
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33. DEFERRED TAX — GROUP (continued)

As at 31st March 2009, the Group has unrecognised deferred tax
assets of approximately HK$13,892,000 (2008: HK$34,103,000),
primarily representing the tax effect of cumulative tax losses (subject
to agreement by relevant tax authorities) which can be carried
forward indefinitely. The Group also has tax losses arising in
Mainland China of HK$1,491,000 (2008: Nil) that will expire in one
to five years for offsetting against future taxable profit. Deferred tax
assets have not been recognised in respect of these losses as they
have arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-making for some
time and it is not considered probable that taxable profits will be
available against which the tax losses can be utilised.

At 31st March 2009, there was no significant unrecognised deferred
tax liability (2008: Nil) for taxes that would be payable on the
unremitted earnings of the Group’s subsidiaries, associates or
jointly-controlled entities as the Group has no liability to additional
tax should such amounts be remitted.

33. EEHE —XEE(E)

RZZZTAF=ZA=1+—80 £A£EZ
*%WLLmﬁéﬁmbmm%m
(ZZZT )N\ F : 34,103,000/ 7T) *
X@%ﬁmﬁﬁﬁcﬁ ﬁ@m%%%

BICHBTE  ZSEUUERS
MLO$%@Wm¢lmm§$mﬁ%
B1,491,0008 L (ZFSNF : &) ' &

A—ZERFEREIE - AR KRR
wH e BRZEEERADE —BREFE
BEBZHBERAR B RAMEEER
Fiom A R AK B IR 1B - W\
LEEBRRECHBEE -

RZZFTZAF=A=1+—08 BHRAEA%
] 4 78 B BB S SR B ) 2 I AR PR RE AN 1E
BE WAKBEZWHBAR - BEAA
HHEREHEE Y RELBRFEMS 2
B UWEABRENELHEBEE (=
ZZNF | o

—-—
o F3{2008/09
—
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34. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS — GROUP 4. BRARBEFEE— XK
2009
—EENE
HK$’000
FET
Pension benefits RKE & A
— Balance sheet obligations —BEBEREL 48,926
— Income statement charged (note 8) —W R (K iE8) 6,957
2009
—ETNE
HK$’000
FET
Acquisition of a jointly-controlled entity W B L[R2 I B2 11,579
Actuarial losses recognised in the SORIE B R SORIEFE R 2 f5 B E548 (BiAn)
in the period (before tax) 5,692
Exchange realignments PE H 7% (3,960)
Cumulative actuarial losses recognised FASORIEMER 2 Rt &E B 18 (FiAn)
in the SORIE (before tax) 13,311

The pension plans is the final salary defined plan. The Group’s plan
is valued by Watson Wyatt Korea, qualified actuaries, using the
project unit credit method.

(@) Pension benefits

The Group operates defined benefit pension plans in the
Republic of Korea based on employees’ pensionable
remuneration and length of service.

The amounts recognised in the balance sheet are determined

BARESTEBERGTSRTENE - A%
2 Bl MR A & K15 E A watson
Wyatt i FFE st BB (U B Re R 1T 41 -

(@) BAZ=EF

AEBENEHZRES AT WER
REZHFHERBFRETRE
BARAKEEE -

REERBRBEAZZHREEN

as follows: T 3
2009
—EZhEF
HK$’000
FERT
Present value of unfunded obligations RREESEF2HRE 48,926
Unrecognised past service cost AN R IR 7% A AR —
Liability in the balance sheet REEBRERZBE 48,926
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34. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS — GROUP

(continued)

The movements in the defined benefit obligation over the year are

as follows:

4. RAEINEE—FKEH#)

FRAZRERNEETEZHOT ¢

2009
—EEAF
HK$’000
FER
At the beginning of the year F4 —
Liabilities acquired during acquisition WEHREES EERKRE 28 E
of a jointly-controlled entity 68,424
Current service cost IR A AR R A 4,229
Interest cost NN PN 2,728
Actuarial gains BB W= (5,692)
Benefits paid 215 1@ A (4,416)
Exchange realignments M 5, 38 B (16,347)
At the end of the year FR 48,926
The amounts recognised in the income statement are as follows: RRERERZESBENT ¢
2009
—EEAFE
HK$'000
FET

Current service cost I8 A AR 7 Ak 2N 4,229
Interest cost BB AR 2,728
Total, included in staff costs (note 8) %8 sFAB TR (HfaE 8) 6,957

The Group expects to contribute HK$9,589,000 to its defined

benefit plan in 2009.

AEBEHPN ST AEFRR TR
2/ {#t $19,589,00078 JT. °

o EH
()] #32008/09
W #

bR BRI AR AT
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34. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS — GROUP 3. ENREFNEE —FEEH (&)
(continued)

The principal actuarial assumptions used were as follows:

ETEREBROT :

2009
—EEhF
Discount rate Bh 35 =K 7.75%
Future salary increase R Fr & 1L 1E 5%
Mortality rate: FETE :
Pensioners at 25 255 FEEUR IR E A &
Male B4 0.116%
Female peg 0.042%
Pensioners at 30 30pREEUR IR E A&
Male B 0.098%
Female 7% 0.050%
Pensioners at 35 SR EIRKRE AL
Male B 0.118%
Female peg s 0.061%
Pensioners at 40 40BRRBEURRE A I
Male B 0.194%
Female pegis 0.084%
Pensioners at 45 455 RBEURRE A
Male B4 0.333%
Female pegid 0.131%
Pensioners at 50 S0pR BEURIKE AT
Male B4 0.544%
Female peg 0.201%
Pensioners at 55 S5 BEURIKRE AL
Male B 0.878%
Female pegllis 0.290%
Termination rate: RER
At 25 255 4.788%
At 30 305% 2.973%
At 35 M355% 2.740%
At 40 i) 2.748%
At 45 A5 2.819%
At 50 505 3.090%
At 55 P555% 4,643%
Retirement age RINFER 56
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34. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS — GROUP 4. RRBEFNEE—XEBH(H)
(continued)
The sensitivity of the overall pension liability to changes in the BERASABHNEITERSRES 2
weighted principal assumptions is: BREREWT
Impact on retirement
Change in assumption benefit on obligations
BRE2H HEAEINEEZEE
Discount rate B3R & Increase by 0.5% Decrease by 5.11%
FAH0.5% TH5.11%
Decrease by 0.5% Increase by 5.50%
T#£0.5% £F5.50%
Salary growth rate FEERR Increase by 0.5% Increase by 5.00%
FH0.5% FFH5.00%
Decrease by 0.5% Decrease by 4.68%
T#0.5% T#4.68%
Rate of mortality G R Increase by 1% Increase by 2.35%
1% FFH2.35%
35. OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES — GROUP /. HttERBHEE —FKE

As at 31st March 2009, included in the balance are provisions for
employee benefits, reinstatement costs and leasehold deposit
received of approximately HK$739,000 (2008: HK$402,000),
HK$1,110,000 (2008: HK$120,000) and HK$37,000 (2008: Nil),
respectively.

R-ZEZAF=ZF=1+—H  &%BHE
REEBRT  ERBAMEVREERZRS
Fr{EZ B4 - o Bl #9A739,0007%8 T (=
Z T )\ £F : 402,000 7T ) * 1,110,000 7
L (ZZZT \4F : 120,000/ 7t ) 537,000
BIL(ZEENE - &) -

—-—
O F3{2008/09
(¥,
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36. CASH FLOW STATEMENT 36. HERERX
(a) Cash generated from operations (a) BEMELZRS
2009 2008
—EZThEF —ET)N\F
HK$'000 HK$°000
FET FHETT
(Restated)
(&=E5)
Operating loss K EE (164,101) (98,235)
Depreciation of property, M BEREZETE
plant and equipment 39,482 6,716
Depreciation of investment properties & ) ¥ 47 & 76 81
Amortisation of intangible assets B EE 22,553 14,782
Amortisation of leasehold land and T & 4 i Ko+ b {58 PR A2 4 5
land use rights 459 374
Amortisation of interest expenses A B 3 H g 4,815 =
Loss on disposal of property, HEME - BERKEZERE
plant and equipment 1,105 613
Fair value gains on derivative MTESBIEARBERS
financial instruments (4,924) —
Impairment of available-for-sale AR EemEERE
financial assets 1,803 —
Impairment of non-current FEHEFERDEERE
assets held for sale 17,233 =
Impairment of non-current assets EMB)E ERE 971 —
Severance and retirement benefits, net & B & KR IKE A - H4E 6,957 —
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries L E B A F e (1,130) =
Impairment of intangible assets EREERE 43 -
Loss on disposal of available-for-sale HEMHEEsMEEZEE
financial assets 12 —
Impairment of trade receivables Z 5 W HRIBRE 6,759 1,984
Write-down of inventories to net FEMRETZEFE
realisable value 11,503 28,776
Operating loss before EBERBE 2 KL BB
working capital changes (56,384) (44,909)
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FERD, (M) 123,395 (79,511)
Decrease/(increase) in trade Z 5 e FRIA K E Atb fE W SRR
and other receivables WA () 108,116 (33,570)
(Decrease)/increase in trade B 5 eI RIB R E A FES 5B
and other payables Cm4) /i (224,533) 70,426
Decrease in other non-current assets HAi3EmE & ER A (3,213) —
Increase in other non-current liabilities — E b IR BN & (FE 18 1N 1,315 =
Decrease in severance EBEE RORRE R A
and retirement benefits (4,416) —
Net cash used in operations LEMPBA LR FRE (55,720) (87,564)
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36. CASH FLOW STATEMENT (continued) 6. RERER (&)
(b) Disposal of subsidiaries (b) HEHEAF
2009
ZEZhEF
HK$'000
TFET
Net assets disposal of: HETIFEE :
Cash and bank balances B& NIBITER 103
Prepayment and other receivables AN FRIE Ko E At 8 WK IR 21
Accruals and other payables FEFHIE B K H th FE 518 (154)
Exchange reserve FE 5 (% & (1,055)
(1,085)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries (note 6) HEM B AR et (MiE6) 1,130
Satisfied by: A3 AR -
Cash e 45
An analysis of the net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in HEMBAREMRE AR SEERNF
respect of the disposal of subsidiaries is as follows: MEATET
HK$'000
FEL
Cash consideration ReRE 45
Cash and bank balances disposed of HERE RRITHEH (103)
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents HEMBAREHAERREEFHEEEN
in respect of the disposal of subsidiaries FmE AT (58)
37. FINANCIAL GUARANTEES 37. MHER
As at 31st March 2009, the Company had provided guarantees of RZZFTNF=A=+—0 " A2AE
approximately HK$356,460,000 (2008: HK$265,363,000) with TLHT B A A K R ) E RS E IR A 2 iR
respect to banking facilities made available to its subsidiaries and a 77 B B 32 4 & 1R #9356,460,000 78 7T ( =
jointly-controlled entity. As at 31st March 2009, bank borrowings of T T )\ : 2653630008 7L) c R=ZF
approximately HK$81,357,000 were outstanding (2008: TRF=ZA=1+—8 ' WEREEZRTT
HK$74,419,000). The Company’s directors and the Group’s EE 4 481,357,000 T (—TT/)\F ¢
management anticipate that no material liabilities will arise from 74,419,000 7T) - ARBIZEERAKE
such guarantees which arose in the ordinary course of business. ZEREEATERZERCRER

BEBBAR)MELBEAAR -

—-—
O F3{2008/09
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38. BANKING FACILITIES

As at 31st March 2009, the Group had banking facilities of
approximately HK$924,365,000 (2008: HK$593,024,000) from
several banks for loans and trade financing. As at 31st March 2009,
approximately HK$421,716,000 were utilised by the Group (2008:
HK$193,346,000). These facilities were secured by:

0)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

pledge of property, plant and equipment of the jointly-
controlled entities of approximately HK$388,326,000 (2008:
HK$3,910,000);

pledge of leasehold land and land use rights of the jointly-
controlled entities of approximately HK$7,233,000 (2008:
HK$4,549,000);

pledge of entire balance of freehold land of a jointly-
controlled entity;

pledge of entire balance of investment properties of a jointly-
controlled entity;

pledge of inventories of the jointly-controlled entities of
approximately HK$53,375,000 (2008: HK$16,969,000) and
certain of the Group's inventories held under trust receipt
bank loan arrangements;

pledge of the bank deposits of the jointly-controlled entities
of approximately HK$46,086,000 (2008: HK$48,390,000);

discounted bills receivables with recourse of the Group and
the jointly-controlled entities of approximately
HK$58,040,000 (2008: HK$30,833,000); and

corporate guarantee of approximately HK$356,460,000
(2008: HK$265,363,000) provided by the Company.

38.

i

TRE

=

RZETNF=ZA=+—H ' A5H
REAETROZERREBEIMEZR
TR B 49 42924,365,0008 T (—EEN
F 593,024,000 L) c RZZEZENF
=A=+—8" Eiérmﬁﬁa KEHE
¥) A #9421,716,0008 L ( Z T T N\ F -
193,346,000/ 7T ) ° Z Z R & A T %1 75
HEEA

>

() HXEZEHEBZYE BEERK
1% #9388,326,000 B L ( = T & N
F : 3,910,000/ 70) Z K

(ii) %W%IJE%;%Z%EEim&im
1 FARE4)7,233,000/8 70 (ZEZ N
& : 4,549,000/ 7T ) Z WA

(i) HEFEEFHEEZEZIEHKAE
WL i 2 AR

vy ZFEEZEHERBz2E2IHEHRIEEY
i

(v) ZEREZEHE L 2175 453,375,000
B (ZZFZF JUF 1 16,969,000 /8

7o) RAKEE TREEFRIER
TERREREZFEZHER

v ZRZHEBREITIFERY
46,086,000 % L ( = T T )\ F :
48,390,000/ 7T ) < R

vip, REASEERHAREZFHEBEZ
MEMBREZERKZKIELD
58,040,000 & L ( Z & T )\ F :
30,833,000/ 7T) : &

(viii) ZK/AEH%L\ZQEHH%Z’J
356,460,000 7 T ( = T & )\ F :
265,363,000/ 7T ) °
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39. COMMITMENTS — GROUP

(a)

(b)

39. EEg—FKH

Capital commitments (a) EREIE
As at 31st March 2009, capital commitments relating to the R-ZEZANF=Z=A=+—H"' A
Company and its subsidiaries at the balance sheet date but BARE REWNBARREEH
not yet incurred is as follows: ZMAREEEREAENOT
2009 2008
—EENF ZTT)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHETT
Property, plant and equipment: M - BB RERE
Contracted but not provided for BRI A EREE 2,562 —
Operating lease commitments (b) REFERIE

The Group leases certain of its office properties, warehouses
and shops under operating lease arrangements. The leases
for these properties are negotiated for terms ranging from
one to three years.

At 31st March 2009, the Group had total future minimum
lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases falling

AEBREBEZHELEHERHER
EEETHARAENE BEBENRE

o

Ei ]
R -

R-ZETAE=ZA=+—80 &
£ EIBEZIE R B KL HE

ZEMENHRORP —E=

due as follows: E RRREAEZZEHEEL
BEOMMT :

2009 2008

ZEENF —ET)N\F

HK$'000 HK$°000

FET FHET

Not later than one year 1FE A 18,034 10,972
Later than one year and not later BBEI1FESFRN

than five years 15,585 9,580

More than five years HBiB5F — 2,575

33,619 23,127

> =4
()] #32008/09
(o)
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39.

40.

hE=R=+-—H

COMMITMENTS — GROUP (continued)

(c) Other commitments
The Group entered into an agreement with an independent
third party to develop a certain number of Burger King
restaurants in Hong Kong and Macau within a period of 10
years ending on 31st March 2017. As at 31st March 2009,
four Burger King restaurants were opened and operating.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS — GROUP AND

COMPANY

As at 31st March 2009, the Company was owned by North Asia
Strategic Acquisition Corp. (“NASAC"), a company incorporated in
the Cayman Islands, and Mr. Moses Tsang Kwok Tai (“Mr. Tsang”)
and his related parties as to approximately 46.1% and 21.1%
respectively. NASAC and Mr. Tsang acquired their interests in the
Company effective from 9th August 2005. Ajia Partners Inc. is the
controlling company of NASA which in turn controls 100% voting
capital of NASAC.

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability,
directly or indirectly, to control the other party or exercise significant
influence over the other party in making financial and operating
decisions. Parties are also considered to be related if they are subject
to common control or common significant influence.

39.

40.

AE—AKE(#)

(c) HtEiE

ANEBEBTE=FRIZER
BEARBRMBREE TE8EMNE
£ T (Burger King)Z& B+ A Hi10
F RZZ—+tF=A=+—H”
Bl - RZTETZNF=ZA=+—
B+ Y [HEZ £ F (Burger King) & 2
ERERLE -

HREALTZRE —AKERE

A

RZZEZAF=ZA=1+—8 ' AQF
A North Asia Strategic Acquisition Corp.
([NASAC] - "AEHSEMMKR L2
A8 BEFEAE(TGEE]D) RE
FE AT DRI E £946.1% K 21.1%H)
Bam o NASACR B AR _ZTREF
NANBRBRBEBERANAR ZEHE -
Ajia Partners Inc. ZNASAZ £ i% A &) »
NASA 142 ] NASAC 2 100% 1% Z % AN »

B — T B SRR B 5 — T Al
BR—TEFLVBREEZRREE
BERFEE  ARE/BEAL -
ENHRZHAREHXZAREATE
AR REEAL -
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40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

4. HBEEALTZXRE

— GROUP AND COMPANY (continued) —FXEKERERT (#)
(a) The following is a summary of the significant @ UTHEBEEALTETZEKX
transactions carried out with related parties: REBE:
2009 2008
—EEhEF —EENF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAIT
Name of related party/nature of BEATEE RHHE
transaction
Ajia Partners (HK) Limited Ajia Partners (HK) Limited
(" APHK") (i) (T APHK 1) ()
— Rental expense charged — RAEEKERZ
to the Group HeEH 2,284 938
— Administrative services fee — RAEEKRZ
charged to the Group THARTS B 996 996
NASA (ii) NASA (ii)
— Service fees charged to the Group —RAEEWER R E 38,591 25,322
— Placing fees charged to the Group ~ — [AIZR £ @ YR R 2 Bl & & — 4,814
Notes: Hiat -

(i) APHK is a fellow subsidiary of NASAC and associated with Mr.

Tsang.

The Group entered into two administrative services agreements
with APHK for provision of general administrative services by
APHK during the periods from 1st July 2007 to 30th June 2008
and from 1st July 2008 to 30th June 2009, at a monthly
service fee of approximately HK$83,000. In addition, the
Group entered into a sub-tenancy agreement with, inter alia,
APHK for sub-leasing of office space from 1st April 2008 to
31st March 2011 at a monthly rental of approximately

HK$190,000.

(0]

APHK A& NASACZ R & i @
A - WL —HATE o

R £ B 8 APHKET 32 W 17 17 B
BR 7% 17 3% LA B APHKIR it — #& 17
BERE HRlE-TTLF+t
AF—BEE_ZFZTNFA=
+BEERAE-_ZEENFELA—
BRERZE-_TTAhEA~A=1H
IE B AR®KE L A 83,000%
Lo Wi AEEBR(EF R
HE)APHKET ML A M #Ha& - A D
HBRAEEH BT N\F
mMA—BAREE-_T——4F=A1
=t+—BAlLt BAALHA
190,000 T °

—-—
N F3R2008/09
—

bR BRI AR AT



Annual Report 2008/09

L
-—
~N
N

North Asia Strategic Holdings Limited

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31st March 2009
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40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

4. EBEEALTZXRE

— GROUP AND COMPANY (continued) —AKERAERT (&)
(@) (continued) (@ (&)
Notes: (continued) Bist - (4)
(i) NASA is the holding company of NASAC which is a substantial (i)  NASAA NASACZ#ERR A &)+
shareholder of the Company. NASACBAR AR Z EEMRRE ©
The Group entered into services agreement with NASA, under N6 B 1 NASART 7 AR 75 15 7% -
which the Group has agreed to pay NASA (i) an annual service Bk A& ERE [ NASAK
fee of 2% of aggregate subscription price less aggregate HORBFEE BAETRAEE
amount of salaries and other remuneration paid to certain B NASATL IR EE - B - 0
employees of the Group for the provision of services in capital BRREE RERE REH
raising, research, investor sourcing, investment sourcing, BB AETLRSENRSG
investment analysis or due diligence and financial advisory MEAANEBRSE TN ZH
service by NASA; and (i) a placing fee of 0.5% of the gross S REMFMMZFIEAEZ2% ;
proceeds of placement of preference shares or any other REEE RESEBERN
equity or equity-linked securities of the Group arranged by NASAZR 7 & B &2 HE 2 (el E A
NASA. R 7 35 AR 7 B 60 7B 55 BT 45 K IE
HBEZ 05% °
(b) Balances with subsidiaries (b) EEMIEAT Z&ER
The balances with subsidiaries are unsecured, non-interest- BB AR 2RISR B EIER
bearing and without pre-determined repayment terms, except R B BRTETEHE
for amounts due from subsidiaries of approximately FE U5 Bt B A B 2 FXIE #952,766,000
HK$52,766,000 and HK$37,200,000 (2008: HK$17,766,000) 7 7T 37,200,000 T (ZZEZ N\
that bear interest at HIBOR plus 1% and HIBOR plus 2%, & 117,766,000 7T ) » Bl AR &
respectively (2008: HIBOR plus 1%) per annum. 75 4B 77 [A % 3% & (HIBOR) 4 I =
o 1ERHBORFMEmM2E (=&
Z\F HBORM 1E) ZHFIE o
(c) Balance with a jointly-controlled entity (c) BEHAFEEZEHIEE AL
The balance with a jointly-controlled entity is unsecured, non- HEFEZH B2 RBEAES AR
interest-bearing and no fixed terms of repayment. W Pt B BARTBETEZE o
(d) Key management compensation (d TEEBEAEMS
2009 2008
—EENF —EENE
HK$'000 HK$°000
FET FHET
Salaries and allowances e MoERL 8,777 8,375
Retirement benefits — defined RINTEA — R REHE
contribution scheme 52 216
8,829 8,591
41. COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS M. LBREHE

Certain comparative amounts have been adjusted to conform with

the current year's presentation.
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